

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk Ph.D. THESIS

- -

A STUDY OF PHENOLIC-CARBOHYDRATE LINKAGES IN THE GRAMINEAE.

BY

GRAHAM WALLACE, B.Sc. (Heriot Watt)

University of Glasgow

.

Department of Agricultural Chemistry,

University of Glasgow,

Glasgow.

© Graham Wallace 1989.

ProQuest Number: 11003349

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 11003349

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

DECLARATION.

I hereby declare that this thesis has been composed by myself and has not been presented or accepted in any previous application for a degree and is a record of work carried out by myself unless stated otherwise. All quotations have been distinguished by quotation marks and all sources of information acknowledged.

E BRANK MARK

ć

en der state in der der der der der sollte sollt

G.Wallace.

(October, 1989)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS.

Principally I would like to thank my supervisors Dr M.C.Jarvis (Department of agricultural chemistry, University of Glasgow), Dr A.Chesson and Dr J.A.Lomax (Rowett Research Institute, Aberdeen) for all their advice, help and encouragement.

I also feel a sense of gratitude to all those who helped me in my research. Firstly, my deepest thanks go to those who helped me at the Rowett, especially Mr A.H.Gordon and Mr A.J.Hay for passing on so much of their vast experience and knowledge and Mrs L.Scobbie for so often picking me up when I was down.

I would also very much like to thank Professor J.J.Boon (FOM Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands) for directing so much of his groups time towards my project and welcoming me to his laboratory.

Special thanks must also go to Dr C.Lapierre (INRA, Grignon, France) for performing the thioacidolysis analysis, her encouragement and advice.

I would also very much like to thank Dr J.D.Russell and Mr A.R.Fraser (Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Aberdeen) for IR analysis of the LCC's. I must also thank Mr D.MacPhail and Dr B.Goodman (also of the Macaulay Institute) for ESR analysis and advice in NMR analysis and also Mr D.Rycroft (Department of chemistry, University of Glasgow) for performing the NMR analysis.

I must also thank Professor Amado of the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich, Switzerland for supplying me with an authentic sample of diferulic acid.

Penultimate thanks must go to all my family and friends who have

helped keep me going, both financially and mentally.

the state of the second s

Ultimately, my deepest and most sincere thanks must go to Zandra, without whose love, support and encouragement, I doubt you would be reading this.

ABSTRACT.

The complex phenolic polymer lignin is generally accepted as having a strong influence over the biodegradability of plant cell walls. The precise mechanisms of this phenomenon, however, are not well understood and a number of factors may be of particular importance *i.e* the size and structure of the lignin molecules, their distribution within the cell wall and their interactions with other cell wall components as lignin-carbohydrate complexes. To date, relatively little is known about these factors. The purpose of this work was to study the interactions between phenolics and carbohydrate in graminaceous cell walls.

Barley straw (Hordeum vulgare c.v Golden Promise) and a 'non-mesophyll' preparation of perennial ryegrass (Lolium perenne c.v. Perma) cell walls were subjected to the fractionation scheme demonstrated in Figure 1. The carbohydrate and phenolic components of the resulting fractions were analysed by a number of 'classical' wet chemical techniques and several physical methods (Pyrolysis-MS (and GC-MS); NMR and Infrared spectroscopy).

It was found that oxalic acid hydrolysis solubilised much of the arabinose and ferulic acid content of both. A high proportion of the phenolic content (phenolic acids and lignin) was solubilised from ryegrass, whereas much less was solubilised from barley straw. Fragments, consisting of ferulic acid ester linked through the O-5 of arabinose and p-coumaric acid ester linked to arabinose were isolated and characterised.

Extraction of the hydrolysed materials with dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) was found to solubilise a high molecular weight lignin-

carbohydrate complex, the carbohydrate component consisting, predominantly, of a β 1-4 xylan with small amounts of mixed linked β Dglucan. The LCC's differed considerably in their response to alkali hydrolysis, suggesting differences in content of ester and ether linked phenolics.

Enzymic hydrolysis of the residues with a commercial cellulase preparation, 'Driselase' was then found to solubilise much of the remaining sugar to leave a lignin 'core'. Solid state NMR also suggested differences in ester/ether linked phenolics between barley and ryegrass.

Analytical pyrolysis techniques were then used for further structural analysis. Time resolved platinum filament pyrolysis-mass spectrometry (electron impact) suggested differences in the structure of the lignin moieties in the DMSO soluble and residue fractions. These differences were characterised by thioacidolysis analysis, which showed that the DMSO soluble lignin (type 1 lignin) consists of either small and/or highly branched molecules with a high condensed lignin content (90%), and is associated with a pentosan fraction whereas the residual lignin (type 2 lignin), in ryegrass at least, is either large and/or straight chained lignin, have a much lower condensed lignin content (59%) and is associated with a pentosan/hexosan fraction. It is also suggested that two different xylan components are present in the starting materials.

It was suggested that the two different lignin moieties may have originated from different areas within the cell wall, type 1 lignin originating from the secondary cell wall and type 2 lignin from primary layers of secondary thickened cell walls. The distribution of the major phenolic and carbohydrate components of the cell walls through the fractionation scheme is simplified in table 1. TABLE 1.

FRACTION	BARLEY STRAW	RYEGRASS
UNTREATED	2% Ara, 20% Xyl 0.29% <i>p</i> -CA, 0.22% FA 9.5% lignin	4.7% Ara, 22% Xyl 0.4% <i>p</i> -CA, 0.68% FA 4.7% lignin
OXALATE HYDROLYSED	Most of original Xyl, FA, <i>p</i> -CA and lignin. Little Ara	Most Xyl, some Ara little FA & <i>p</i> -CA
OXALATE MeOH	Most of original Ara and solubilised phenolics	Similar to Barley straw but higher phenolic acid content (esp FA 2.6%)
OXALATE H ₂ O	Essentially the same as MeOH but more Glu, less xylose and phenolics. Xyl mostly oligomeric.	Very similar to barley straw but a slightly higher Ara content.
DMSO SOLUBLE	Mostly β 1-4 xylan little phenolic acid (mostly <i>p</i> -CA) high lignin (28.6%). Lignin highly condensed, poorly branched (or high $M_{w,t}$) S/G 0.79.	Mostly β 1-4 xylan higher phenolic acid (1% FA, 0.6% <i>p</i> -CA) low lignin. Lignin highly condensed and highly branched (or low $M_{w,t}$) S/G 0.71
DMSO RESIDUE	Very similar to oxalate hydrolysed.	Very similar to oxalate hydrolysed.
DRISELASE SOLUBLE	36% of DMSO residue some Xyl and Glu little phenolics.	76% of DMSO residue some Xyl and Glu little phenolics.

DRISELASE RESIDUE

40% of original. Mostly Xyl and Glu most of original phenolics 12.4% of original
Mostly Xyl and Glu
very little of original
phenolics. Lignin poorly
branched (or high Mwt)
poorly condensed.
S/G 0.5.



Figure 1 Fractionation scheme.

-VIII.-

CONTENTS.

	PAGE No.
TITLE.	I.
DECLARATION.	II.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS.	III.
ABSTRACT.	V.
CONTENTS.	VIII.
ABBREVIATIONS.	XIII.
LIST OF FIGURES.	XVI.
LIST OF TABLES.	XXII.

1.0 INTRODUCTION.

1.1	GENERAL INTRODUCTION.	1.
1 .2	CELL WALL ULTRASTRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENT.	4.
1.3	CELL WALL METHODOLOGY.	6.
	1.3.1 Cell Wall Preparation.	6.
	1.3.2 Cell Wall Fractionation.	7.
	1.3.3 Chemical Structural Analysis.	8.
	1.3.3.1 polysaccharides.	8.
	1.3.3.2 lignin.	9.
	1.3.4 Physical Techniques In Structural Analysis.	10.
	1.3.4.1 microscopy.	10.

	-IX	
	1.3.4.2 infrared spectroscopy.	12.
	1.3.4.3 nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy.	13.
	1.3.4.4 pyrolysis.	15.
1.4	CELL WALL STRUCTURE.	17.
	1.4.1 Cellulose.	17.
	1.4.2 Hemicellulose.	19.
	1.4.2.1 xylans.	19.
	1.4.2.2 β D-glucans.	21.
	1.4.2.3 xyloglucans.	23.
	1.4.3 Pectic Polysaccharides.	24.
	1.4.4 Cell Wall Proteins.	28.
	1.4.5 Phenolic Acids.	29.
	1.4.6 Lignin.	33.
1.5	LIGNIN-CARBOHYDRATE LINKAGES.	38.
1.6	CELL WALL DIGESTION.	43.
2.	O EXPERIMENTAL.	46.
2. 1	SAMPLE PREPARATION.	46.
	2.1.1 Starting Materials.	46.
	2.1.2 Mild Acid Hydrolysis.	46.

47.

2.1.3 Purification of FA-ARA.

	2.1.4 DMSO Extraction.	47.
	2.1.5 Driselase Hydrolysis.	48.
2.2	GENERAL ANALYSIS.	49.
	2.2.1 Total carbohydrates.	49.
	2.2.2 Total phenolics.	49.
	2.2.3 Uronic acids.	49.
	2.2.4 Monosaccharides.	49.
	2.2.5 Phenolic acids.	50.
2.3	CHROMATOGRAPHY.	54.
	2.3.1 HPLC.	54.
	2.3.2 GC-MS.	54.
	2.3.3 Molecular sieve chromatography.	55.
	2.3.4 TLC & PC.	55.
2.4	PYROLYSIS.	5 6.
	2.4.1 Py-GC.	56.
	2.4.2 Curie Point Py-MS.	56.
	2.4.3 Platinum Filament Py-MS.	57.
2.5	METHYLATION ANALYSIS.	59.

-X.-

2.6 ACETALATION METHYLATION ANALYSIS. 61.

2.7 THIOACIDOLYSIS. 2.8 SPECTROSCOPY. 63. 2.8.1 I.R. 63. 2.8.2 U.V. 63. 2.8.3 NMR. 63.

2.8.3 ESR. 64.

3.0	RESULTS/DISCUSSION.	65.

3.1	MILD ACID HYDROLYSIS.	65.
	3.1.1 Introduction.	65.
	3.1.2 Oxalate hydrolysis.	66.
	3.1.3 Isolation and characterisation of FA-ARA.	77.
3.2	DMSO EXTRACTION.	88.
	3.2.1 Introduction.	88.
	3.2.2 DMSO Extraction.	88.
	3.2.3 Purification and charaterisation of LCC's.	94.
3.3	ENZYMIC HYDROLYSIS.	112.

3.3.1 Introduction.	
3.3.2 Driselase extraction.	112.

61.

3.4	PYROLYSIS ANALYSIS.	123.
	3.4.1 Introduction.	123.
	3.4.2 Py-GC, Py-MS (Curie Point and DCI).	124.
	3.4.2.1 starting materials.	124.
	3.4.2.2 oxalate hydrolysis.	126.
	3.4.2.3 DMSO extraction.	127.
	3.4.2.4 driselase hydrolysis.	128.
	3.4.3 Time resolved platinum filament EI.	129.
	3.4.3.1 starting materials.	129.
	3.4.3.2 oxalate hydrolysis.	130.
	3.4.3.3 DMSO extraction.	132.
	3.4.3.4 driselase extraction.	133.
	3.4.4 Discussion.	180.
3.5	THIOACIDOLYSIS.	184.
	3.5.1 Introduction.	184.
	3.5.2 Results.	184.
	3.5.3 Discussion.	190.
4.0	GENERAL DISCUSSION.	193.

-XII.-

REFERENCES.

200.

ABBREVIATIONS.

Ar	- Aryl
Ara	- Arabinose.
BS	- Barley straw.
BSTFA	- bis-(trimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide.
<i>p</i> -CA	- p-Coumaric acid
CI	- Chemical ionisation.
COSY	- Comparative spectroscopy.
CP/MAS	- Cross polarization and magic angle spinning.
d	- Daltons.
2,4-D	- 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid.
DFA	- Diferulic acid.
DMSO	- Dimethyl sulphoxide.
DP	- Degree of polymerisation.
EI	- Electron impact ionisation.
ESR	- Electron spin resonance.
FA	- Ferulic acid.
f	- Furanose.
Gal	- Galactose.
GalCOOH	- Galacturonic acid.
Glu	- Glucose.
GluCOOH	- Glucuronic acid.
G	- Guaiacyl.
G.C	- Gas chromatography.
Н	- <i>p</i> -Hydroxyphenyl.

.

	-XIV
HPLC	- High performance liquid chromatography.
i.d	- Internal diameter.
I.R	- Infrared.
L.C	- Liquid chromatography.
LCC	- Lignin-carbohydrate complex.
Man	- Mannose.
Ме	- Methyl.
MeOH	- Methanol.
MIR	- Mid infrared.
M.S	- Mass spectrometry.
MWL	- Milled wood lignin.
NIR	- Near infrared.
NMR	- Nuclear magnetic resonance.
OD	- Optical density
Pa	- Pascals.
PC	- Paper chromatography.
р	- Pyranose.
Ру	- Pyrolysis.
Rha	- Rhamnose.
rf	- Response factor.
RG	- Ryegrass.
RG I & II	- Rhamnogalacturonan I & II.
RRT	- Relative retention time
RT	- Retention time.
S	- Syringyl.
SIM	- selected ion monitoring.

Т	- Tesla.
ТА	- Truxillic acid.
TEM	- Transmission electron microscopy.
TMS	- Trimethyl silyl.
TLC	- Thin layer chromatography.
ТМАН	- Tetra methyl ammonium hydroxide.
UNME	- Unmethylated.
U.V	– Ultra violet.
Vo	- Void volume.
VI	- Inclusion volume.
Xyl	– Xylose.

-XVI.-

LIST OF FIGURES.

FIGURE. PAGE. 1 Fractionation scheme. VII. 1.2.1 General scheme of the secondary plant cell wall. 4. 1.4.5.1 Structures of ferulic and p-coumaric acids. 29. 1.4.5.2 Structures of diferulic and truxillic acids. 31. 1.4.6.1 Structures of lignin monomers. 34. 1.4.6.2 Structure of lignin. 35. 1.4.6.3 Structure of some common lignin bonds. 36. 1.6.1 Scheme of cell wall digestion. 45. 2.2.1 Separation of standard and sample phenolic acids 53. by HPLC. 2.4 Diagram of Curie point FOM 3-LX pyrolysis units. 58. 3.1.2.1 Infrared spectra of A) Barley straw, B) Ryegrass. 72. 3.1.2.2 Infrared spectra of A) oxalate hydrolysed barley 73. straw, B) oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass. Infrared spectra of A) Barley MeOH, 3.1.2.3 B) Ryegrass MeOH. 75. 3.1.2.4 Infrared spectra of A) Barley H2O, 76. B) Ryegrass H₂O. 79. 3.1.3.1 Separation of FA-ARA by reverse phase HPLC. 3.1.3.2 Infrared spectrum of FA-ARA. 81. Infrared spectrum of *p*-CA-ARA. 82. 3.1.3.3

3.1.3.4 1H NMR spectrum of FA-ARA. 83.

-XVII.-

3.1.3.5	Numbering system for designation of protons.	84.
3.1.3.6	2D-COSY NMR Spectrum of FA-ARA.	86.
3.1.3.7	Proposed structure of FA-ARA.	87.
3.2.2.1	Infra red spectra of A) Barley DMSO residue,	
	B) Ryegrass DMSO residue.	93.
3.2.3.1	Ryegrass LCC on A) G-25, B) G-100 and C) G-200.	96.
3.2.3.2	A) Ryegrass LCC on CL-6B and B) Alkali hydrolysed	
	ryegrass LCC on CL-6B.	97.
3.2.3.3	A) Barley LCC on CL-6B and B) Alkali hydrolysed	
	barley LCC on CL-6B.	98.
3.2.3.4	U.V spectra of A) Barley LCC and B) Ryegrass LCC.	101.
3.2.3.5	Infrared spectra of A) Barley LCC and B) Ryegrass	
	LCC.	104.
3.2.3.6	Driselase hydrolysed Barley LCC on Sephadex G-10.	106.
3.2.3.7	¹³ C NMR of Barley LCC.	107.
3.2.3.8	ESR Spectra of A) Barley LCC free radical and B)	
	Ryegrass LCC free radical.	110.
3.2.3.9	ESR spectrum of Barley LCC.	111.
3.3.2.1	Infrared spectra of A) Barley driselase residue,	
	B) Ryegrass driselase residue.	116.
3.3.2.2	¹³ C CP/MAS NMR of Barley driselase residue.	118.
3.3.2.3	¹³ C CP/MAS NMR of Ryegrass driselase residue.	120.
3.4.1	Py-GC traces of A) Barley straw, B) Oxalate	
	hydrolysed barley, C) Barley DMSO residue & D)	
	Barley DMSO soluble.	136.

-XVIII.-

3.4.2	Py-GC traces of A) Barley driselase soluble, B)	
	Barley driselase residue, C) Barley MeOH & D)	
	Barley H2O.	137.
3.4.3	Py-GC traces of A) Ryegrass, B) Oxalate hydrolysed	
	ryegrass, C) Ryegrass DMSO residue & D) Ryegrass	
	DMSO soluble.	138.
3.4.4	Py-GC traces of A) Ryegrass driselase soluble, B)	
	Ryegrass driselase residue, C) Ryegrass MeOH & D)	
	Ryegrass H2O.	139.
3.4.5	Curie point Py-MS (EI) of A) Barley straw,B)	
	Oxalate hydrolysed barley, C) Barley DMSO residue	
	& D) Barley driselase residue.	141.
3.4.6	Curie point Py-MS (EI) of A) Barley DMSO soluble,	
	B) Barley driselase soluble, C) Barley MeOH & D)	
	Barley H2O.	142.
3.4.7	Curie pointPy-MS (EI) of A) Ryegrass, B) Oxalate	
	hydrolysed ryegrass, C) Ryegrass DMSO residue & D)	
	Ryegrass driselase residue.	143.
3.4.8	Curie point Py-MS (EI) of A) Ryegrass DMSO soluble,	
	B) Ryegrass driselase soluble, C) Ryegrass MeOH &	
	D) Ryegrass H ₂ O.	144.
3.4.9	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of barley	
	straw.	146.
3.4.10	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of oxalate	
	hydrolysed barley straw.	147.

3.4.11	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of DMSO	
	soluble barley.	148.
3.4.12	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of barley	
	DMSO residue.	149.
3.4.13	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of barley	
	driselase residue.	150.
3.4.14	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of driselase	
	solubilised barley.	151.
3.4.15	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of barley	
	MeOH fraction.	152.
3.4.16	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of barley H2O	
	fraction.	153.
3.4.17	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass.	154.
3.4.18	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of oxalate	
	hydrolysed ryegrass.	155.
3.4.19	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of DMSO	
	solubilised ryegrass.	156.
3.4.20	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	DMSO residue.	157.
3.4.21	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	driselase residue.	158.
3.4.22	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of driselase	
	solubilised ryegrass.	159.
3.4.23	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	MeOH fraction.	160.

-XX	

3.4.24	Platinum filament CI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	H2O.	161.
3.4.25	Platinum filament EI Py-MS Time course barley	
	fractions.	162.
3.4.26	Platinum filament EI Py-MS Time course ryegrass	
	fractions.	163.
3.4.27	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of barley	
	straw.	164.
3.4.28	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of oxalate	
	hydrolysed Barley.	165.
3.4.29	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of DMSO	
	solubilised barley.	166.
3.4.30	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of barley DMSO	
	residue.	167.
3.4.31	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of driselase	
	solubilised Barley.	168.
3.4.32	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of barley	
	driselase residue.	169.
3.4.33	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of barley H2O	
	fraction.	170.
3.4.34	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of barley MeOH	
	fraction.	171.
3.4.35	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass.	172.
3.4.36	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of oxalate	
	hydrolysed ryegrass.	173.

-XXI

3.4.37	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of DMSO	
	solubilised ryegrass.	174.
3.4.38	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	DMSO residue.	175.
3.4.39	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of driselase	
	solubilised ryegrass.	176.
3.4.40	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	driselase residue.	177.
3.4.41	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	H ₂ O fraction.	178.
3.4.42	Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of ryegrass	
	MeOH fraction.	179.
3.5.1	Principles of thioacidolysis analysis.	186.
3.5.2	GC Trace of thioacidolysis sample.	187.

-XXII.-

LIST OF TABLES.

Table.

Page.

2.2.1	Identities and response factors of peaks from	
	HPLC analysis of phenolic acids.	52.
3.1.2.1	Chemical compositions of Barley straw and	
	non-mesophyll ryegrass and their residues after	
	oxalate hydrolysis.	67.
3.1.2.2	Methylation analysis of Barley straw and	
	non-mesophyll ryegrass.	69.
3.1.2.3	Acetalation/Methylation analysis of starting	
	materials and oxalate hydrolysed barley straw.	70.
3.1.2.4	Chemical compositions of Hydrolysate fractions.	74.
3.1.3.1	Assignement of ¹ H NMR signals for FA-ARA.	85.
3.1.3.2	Assignements of ¹ H NMR signals for standard	
	a-L-Arabinose and trans-ferulic acid.	85.
3.2.2.1	Chemical composition of DMSO residues.	89.
3.2.2.2	Methylation analysis of DMSO residues.	90.
3.2.2.3	Acetalation/Methylation analysis of DMSO residues.	92.
3.2.3.1	Chemical composition of LCC's.	95.
3.2.3.2	Methylation analysis of LCC'S.	102.
3.2.3.3	Elemental composition of LCC's.	103.
3.2.3.4	Assignments of signals from ¹³ C NMR of Barley	
	LCC.	108.

-XXIII.-

3.3.1.1	Chemical composition of driselase residues.	113.
3.3.1.2	Methylation analysis of driselase residues.	114.
3.3.1.3	Acetalation/Methylation analysis of driselase	
	residues.	115.
3.3.1.4	Assignments of signals from ¹³ C CP/MAS NMR of	
	Barley driselase residue.	119.
3.3.1.5	Assignments of signals from ¹³ C CP/MAS NMR of	
	Ryegrass driselase residue.	121.
3.4.1	Assignments of peaks from Py-GC-MS.	135.
3.4.2	Assignments of ions from electron impact (EI)	
	Py-MS.	140.
3.4.3	Assignments of ions from direct chemical	
	ionisation (CI) Py-MS.	145.
3.4.4	Relative intensities of phenolic markers from	
	Py-MS (EI) for barley fractions.	183.
3.5.1	Thioacidolysis results.	188.
3.5.2	Selective ion monitoring analysis of	
	thioacidolysis samples.	189.
3.5.3	Approximate dry matter content of S + G.	191.
4.1	Thioacidolysis analysis of untreated and rumen	
	incubated barley straw.	197.

1.0 INTRODUCTION.

1.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION.

The plant cell wall is a complex amorphous matrix of neutral and acidic polysaccharides surrounding a "skeleton" of cellulose microfibrils (Fry, 1986). It acts as a barrier to infection (Bell, 1981) and degradation and also helps the cell, and plant, maintain its shape. It controls the rate of growth of the plant (McNeil *et al.*, 1984) and is a basic source of energy and fibre in the food chain (Evans *et al.*, 1984). For these reasons, a thorough knowledge of the structure and chemistry of the plant cell wall is essential (Darvill *et al.*, 1980).

At present, our knowledge of the chemistry of cell walls is restricted to the structure and physical properties of individual components e.g the hemicelluloses, lignin, cellulose and pectins and relatively little is known about how these components are interconnected within the cell wall (Fry, 1986). Many of the problems associated with answering such questions, however, may now be overcome with the advent of improvements in analytical methodology and the application of high powered analytical and chromatographic techniques (Himmelsbach, 1989; Boon, 1989; Chesson & Murison, 1989).

Alkali has been used to increase the digestibility of plant feed stuffs <u>since</u> the beginning of this century (Kellner & Kohler, 1900, for original reference see Tenrud, 1987). The precise

-1.-

mechanisms of this phenomenon have been a controversial subject for many years and have only, relatively, recently come to light.

Alkaline treatment has been shown to cause a wide range of effects on the cell wall e.g solubilisation of silica, hemicellulose and phenolics and decreasing the crystallinity of cellulose (Jackson, 1977; Evans, 1979). Only the solubilisation of phenolics has been shown to have a high correlation with increasing cell wall digestibility (Chesson, 1981).

The importance of phenolics (phenolic acids and lignin) in limiting cell wall digestibility is now generally accepted as beyond doubt (Brice & Morrison, 1982; Chesson, 1988). The most important questions to be answered now, are those pertaining to the precise nature, and extent of these linkages within cell walls.

The purpose of this research was to study the nature, degree and distribution of phenolic-carbohydrate linkages in Graminaceous cell walls.

The following sections will briefly describe many of the techniques used in cell wall studies, and our present knowledge of cell wall structure.

Botanical taxonomy divides the angiosperms (flowering plants) into two subclasses, the monocotyledons (monocots) and dicotyledons (dicots). As this project was concerned with the Gramineae (grasses and cereals), a subgroup of the monocots, the following description of the structure of cell walls will concentrate primarily on those of the monocots. However, as much of our present knowledge and

-2.-

understanding of cell walls has stemmed from research on dicots, the structure and functions, where known, of the cell wall components of both will be presented.

As this project was primarily concerned with phenolic-carbohydrate linkages and their possible role in the limitation of cell wall digestibility, these subjects will receive special consideration. 1.2 CELL WALL ULTRASTRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENT.

Histological examination of plant material clearly reveals a variation in cell wall types. This variation can be simply classified into primary and secondary cell walls.

As the name implies, primary walls are those formed first and are found on actively growing undifferentiated cells. The primary wall consists of hemicellulose and randomly arranged cellulose fibrils which are connected to each other, in dicots, via an intercellular, pectin rich region called the middle lamella (Nordkvist, 1987). As the cell differentiates the cell wall undergoes secondary thickening to produce a secondary cell wall and it is at this point that lignification begins (Selvendran, 1983). The newly formed wall material is deposited on the inside of the primary wall and has a more complex structure (Esau, 1977). (Figure 1.2.1).



Figure 1.2.1 General scheme of the structure of the plant cell wall.

-4.-

As can be seen from figure 1.2.1, the secondary wall is a multilayered structure with each layer having a different orientation of its cellulose fibrils (Higuchi, 1981). The S3 layer is often considered distinct enough from the S1 and S2 to be called the tertiary layer (Esau, 1977). On the inside of the S3 layer there is another much thinner layer which can often be easily overlooked. This is the so-called 'warty layer' and is thought to be composed of remnants of the protoplast (Engels & Brice, 1985). This has been found to be particularly resistant to celluloytic attack and could be of considerable importance in cell wall degradation.

-5.-

1.3 CELL WALL METHODOLOGY.

In order to understand the techniques used and difficulties encountered in cell wall research it was felt necessary to discuss some of the old techniques and some of the newer methods now available for cell wall studies.

1.3.1 Cell Wall Preparation.

The growing plant is a complex mixture of different cell types and consequently cell wall types. The different cell wall types each contain their own relative concentrations and, possibly, types of individual components. In order to fully understand the significance of these components in relation to the plant itself and degradation in particular, we must have means whereby we can specify the cell wall types that a component has been isolated from. Care must also be taken in knowing the cultivar, the stage of growth, the state of the plant, the growing conditions and the history between harvesting and analysis (Wilkie, 1979). Cell culture techniques have been widely used for a number of species and have yielded valuable results (Bauer et al., 1973: Fry, 1982, 1983, 1987: McNeil et al., 1980: Kieliszewski & Lamport, 1987). One significant problem in cell culture techniques however is the difficulty in obtaining a pure cell line with identical secondary cell walls, therefore this method has only been of real value for primary cell wall structure. Another, more widely used approach, is to actually isolate the cell walls of

-6.-

interest from whole plant material. A number of approaches can be taken in this respect e.g microdissection of plant material (Hinton, 1947). This technique is severely restricted by the quantities of material needed for an extensive study. A mixture of sieving and differential centrifugation is a more common approach and has been widely used to good effect (Gordon & Bacon, 1981: Gordon *et al.*, 1985: Lomax *et al.*, 1983: Chesson *et al.*, 1985: Wilson *et al.*, 1988: Clements, 1979: Stevens, 1973: Mares & Stone, 1973: Bacic & Stone, 1981).

1.3.2 Cell Wall Fractionation.

Much of our classification of cell wall components comes from their fractionation procedures i.e different components extracted by the same technique tend to be classified together. A number of different solvents have been used for cell wall fractionations the most common being water, alkali and chelating agents such as EDTA. More recently however, as more questions on how the cell wall polymers are put together are being asked, a wide variety of extraction solvents are now being used. This strategy involves using specific reagents to extract material bound by specific bond types e.g specific enzymes, 8M urea or guanidine hydrochloride to break hydrogen bonds or hydrophobic interactions and mild acid treatment to cleave weak glycosidic linkages. This whole subject has been extensively discussed by Fry, (1986) who emphasises the questions a researcher must ask himself prior to fractionation.

-7.-

Once isolated, the cell wall components can be separated and purified, in preparation for structural analysis, by a wide variety of chromatographic techniques. Gel filtration is one of the most common methods applied here and can rapidly yield relatively large amounts of 'purified' material. Adsorption of some cell wall components onto the gel, especially those containing phenolics (Sarkanen *et al.*, 1981), is a common experience and care should be taken before applying the sample. Other methods commonly employed are selective precipitation (Redgewell & Selvendran, 1986: Yamaoka & Chiba, 1983: Meier, 1965: Gaillard, 1961), ion exchange chromatography (Darvill *et al.*, 1980) and membrane ultra filtration (Conchie *et al.*, 1988).

1.3.3 Chemical Structural Analysis.

1.3.3.1 Polysaccharides.

The monomer composition of an isolated and 'purified' polysaccharide can simply be determined by GC, usually as their alditol acetates (Blakeney *et al.*, 1983). For GC analysis uronic acids must be reduced prior to GC analysis (York *et al.*, 1985). However due to the notorious difficulties involved with this, it is often much simpler to determine total uronides colorimetrically (Blumenkrantz & Asboe-Hansen, 1973).

The next step in polysaccharide analysis is to determine the linkages present by methylation analysis, usually by the Hakomori technique (Hakomori, 1964). The free hydroxyl groups on the

-8.-

polysaccharide are ionised then methylated by methyl iodide, the polysaccharide is then hydrolysed into the monomers, acetylated and analysed by GC. The positions of the methyl groups on the monomers tell us the linkage positions in the polysaccharide. For more detailed analysis of the arrangement of the monomers in the polysaccharide a mixture of techniques e.g mild acid hydrolysis, enzymic hydrolysis and periodate oxidation, with characterisation of the products are needed (Fincher & Stone, 1986).

Specific substituents can be analysed by a number of techniques e.g acetyl groups (Bethge & Lindstrom, 1973), phenolic acids (Hartley & Buchan, 1979: Salmonsson *et al.*, 1978) and methyl esters (Wood & Siddiqui, 1971). The positions of alkali labile substitutions on the polysaccharides can also be determined by acetalation/methylation analysis (Lomax *et al.*, 1983).

1.3.3.2 Lignin.

Due to the enormous complexity of bonding patterns in lignin, it is extremely difficult to structurally analyse lignins, by wet chemical means, to the same extent that we can for polysaccharides. For quantitative analysis of total lignin a number of techniques are available such as permanganate oxidation (Erickson *et al.*, 1973), acetyl bromide determination (Morrison, 1972), Klason lignin (Effland, 1977) and Christian lignin (Christian, 1971). It should be noted that each method has its own limitations and difficulties and care should be taken in choosing any particular method. Structural studies are much more

-9.-
limited and few methods are available. One of the most common is nitrobenzene oxidation (Chang & Allen, 1971) which cleaves ether bonds to yield a variety of aldehydes which can then be used to give us a syringyl, guaiacyl and p-coumaryl content. Nitrobenzene oxidation abounds with problems and difficulties, such as low yields of products, phenolic acids are included as their parent aldehydes and the propyl side chain is cleaved (Lapierre et al., 1989). A relatively new technique, thioacidolysis (Lapierre et al., 1985) which specifically cleaves alkyl aryl ether bonds overcomes many of these problems and promises to be important technique. However it must be remembered an that thioacidolysis and nitrobenzene oxidation measure only the uncondensed component of lignin.

1.3.4 Physical Techniques In Structural Analysis.

1.3.4.1 Microscopy.

The microscope has been an invaluable and widely used tool for many years in cell wall studies. It has been used in the study of the breakdown of cell walls in the rumen (Akin, 1986) the associations between the microorganisms and the cell wall (Grenet, 1989), and in morphological studies (Esau, 1977).

The microscope can also be used for the localisation of specific components. A variety of histological stains have been available for many years (Akin, 1989). The use of stains in localising polysaccharides, however, is rather more difficult. Problems associated with conventional staining techniques can be overcome with two relatively new techniques, both using a similar approach. Perhaps the more common of these methods is the use of gold labelled enzymes. An enzyme specific to the cell wall component of interest is purified and labelled with gold, then applied to a cell wall preparation and studied by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). This has been successfully applied to a variety of polysaccharides and cell types (Ruel & Joseleau, 1984).

The second method is to raise specific antibodies against the material of interest and label the antibodies with gold. This has recently been applied to rhamnogalacturonan I and xyloglucan in maize (Moore & Staehelin, 1988). It should be noted that great care has to be taken in defining the specificity of the antibodies.

1.3.4.2 Infrared Spectroscopy.

When electromagnetic radiation in the infrared (IR) region is passed through a sample, some of the radiation is absorbed, causing the molecules to vibrate. These absorption bands are characteristic for different functional groups. Therefore an IR spectrum can give us a considerable amount of information about the molecular structure of a given sample. To date, two regions of the IR spectrum have been used in cell wall studies, mid (MIR) and near IR (NIR).

MIR is probably the better known technique and has been used as a routine tool in organic chemistry for many years. In general, it covers the region 2.5-50 µm and, in experienced hands, can yield valuable structural imformation. A variation of classical MIR, multiple reflectance MIR, has recently been applied to rumen digested cereal straws to study changes in surface structure (Russell *et al.*, 1988).

NIR is a comparatively lesser known technique and covers the region 1100-2500 nm (Murray, 1987). The spectra from NIR tend to be somewhat smooth and featurless, and precise assignment of absorption bands is somewhat tentative (Himmelsbach, 1989), therefore it is obviously of limited use in structural studies. However it has found a practical use in evaluating feedstuffs and in following trends, by the mathematical manipulation of a large number of samples (Russell *et al.*, 1989).

-12.-

1.3.4.3 NMR Spectroscopy.

The nucleus of a hydrogen atom acts as a spinning magnet. When an external magnetic field is applied, the nucleus can take up one of two positions with respect to the applied field, aligned either with (low energy), or against (high energy) the applied field. Under the influence of the external magnetic field the nucleus will 'precess' around the axis of the applied field. If a precessing nucleus is exposed to radio frequency energy of the correct frequency, a low energy nucleus can absorb this energy and jump to the higher energy state. The frequency required to make the jump depends on the immediate environment of the nucleus. Therefore when samples are scanned with a range of frequencies a characteristic range of absorbtions can be detected. In practice it is easier to hold at a steady frequency and alter the magnetic field until each nucleus reaches the applied frequency and therefore comes to resonance (Kemp, 1987).

Due to the laws of quantum mechanics only nuclei with a spin quantum number greater than 1 can be used for NMR, the most commonly used being ¹H and ¹³C. NMR has been used to good effect by organic chemists for some time for the elucidation of molecular structures and is now an indispensable tool to the organic chemist.

The technique was quickly taken up by lignin and carbohydrate chemists and has given considerable insight into some of the finer structure of isolated cell wall polysaccharides (Chanzy *et al*, 1987) and helped unravel some of the mysteries of lignin structure (Nimz, 1974). Classical NMR however has at least two major disadvantages, 1)

-13.-

High complexity of spectra from complex polymers and 2) it could only be used on soluble cell wall fragments.

With the advent of more and more powerful machines and their increased commercial availability and a more routine use of two dimensional techniques (Himmelsbach, 1989), many of the problems of structural complexity can be overcome.

Solid state NMR (Stejskal & Schaefer, 1975) is a relatively new technique which overcomes the problem of only being able to study isolated materials and study them *in situ*. To date, the technique has not been extensively used on cell walls as resolution is poor due to dipolar broadening (Sanders & Hunter, 1987) and precise assignment is a problem, however with future use and developments, many of these problems may be overcome. 1.3.4.4 Pyrolysis.

Pyrolysis (Py) is a technique whereby complex materials such as cell walls, are thermally dissociated into small, volatile, easily analysed fragments, which can then be studied by either gas chromatography (GC) or mass spectrometry (MS).

The key to good pyrolysis is the ability to dissociate the samples in a controlled and reproducible manner (Irwin, 1982). This can be done in a number of ways but two of the most common are Curie point Py and platinum filament Py.

In Curie point Py, a ferromagnetic wire is induced to its Curie point by a high frequency coil. The rapid heating rates and reproducibility of this method make it highly advantageous over most other methods (Boon, 1989). In Py-MS, the high frequency coil can disturb the electromagnetic fields in the ion source, so pyrolysis has to be performed further away thus causing problems with the transfer of higher molecular weight fragments. This can be overcome by using platinum filament Py whereby a platinum filament is resistively heated directly inside the ion source (Genuit & Boon, 1987).

Once the sample has been pyrolysed, the fragments can then be either fed directly into an MS or a GC (with characterisation of the peaks by MS).

For MS analysis, the fragments can be ionised in a variety of ways e.g electron impact (EI), chemical ionisation (CI), photoionisation and field ionisation depending on the materials and components of interest. For cell wall studies more than one method may be used for optimum analysis, as some types of ions may be fragmented too much by one method and another, softer, method may be more suitable to obtain a molecular ion (Boon, 1989).

Pyrolysis has been applied to a number of cell wall studies, (Hartley & Haverkamp, 1984: Pouwels *et al*, 1987: Saiz-Jimenez *et al.*, 1987: Genuit & Boon, 1987: Faix *et al.*, 1987: Ohinishi & Kato, 1977: Windig *et al.*, 1983).

Identification of many of the ions (especially higher molecular weight ones) by comparison with standards still tends to be somewhat tentative and tandem MS is needed for positive identification. In tandem MS a second spectrometer is attached to the first in such a way that any ion may be passed through to the second spectrometer in order to obtain a fragmentation pattern for that ion.

The advantages of pyrolysis as a routine analytical tool are the rapid and simple sample preparation, small sample size, the ease with which most systems can be automated and the rapid analysis time. Serious disadvantages however do exist, in the high cost of very specialised, complex and delicate equipment and the need for highly trained staff (Meuzelaar *et al.*, 1984). 1.4 CELL WALL STRUCTURE.

1.4.1 Cellulose.

Cellulose is the most abundant cell wall polymer and makes up the microfibrillar component of the cell wall. Cellulose fibrils are composed of long chains of β 1-4 linked glucosyl residues arranged with a twofold screw axis *i.e* two glucosyl residues per turn of helix. It would appear that primary and secondary cell walls have different types of cellulose fibril. Primary fibrils are thought to be made up of 60-70 glucan chains and have a diameter of 4.5-8.5 nm (Preston, 1974). Secondary cell wall fibrils, however, are much thicker (Muhlethaler, 1967) and may result from the aggregation of primary fibrils (Darvill etdegree of polymerisation (DP) is also different in al., 1980). The secondary and primary fibrils. Primary cellulose seems to have a non-uniform DP of either under 500 or between 2,500 and 4,500 (Blaschek et al., 1982). Secondary fibrils, on the other hand, have a high DP of approximately 14,000 (Marx-Figini; 1966 and Marx-Figini and Schulz 1966). X-ray diffraction analysis of fibrils show that secondary fibrils have a high degree of crystallinity and the glucan chains are arranged in a parallel manner (i.e the reducing ends pointing the same direction). Primary fibrils, however, have a much lower degree of crystallinity and it has not been firmly established whether these too have a parallel arrangement although it is generally presumed that they have. ¹³C NMR studies of cellulose from a variety of sources

(Atalla & Vanderhart, 1984; Vanderhart & Atalla, 1984) have indicated that native cellulose may be a composite of two distinct forms termed cellulose I_a and cellulose I_β .

Purified cellulose preparations from cell walls are always found to contain sugars other than glucose in minor amounts. These may be contaminants or may, possibly, be integral components of the cellulose chain. It is thought that primary cellulose fibres in dicots are completely covered by hydrogen-bonded hemicellulose especially xyloglucans (Valent & Albersheim, 1974), other sugars in cellulose preparations therefore not being integral components of the cellulose. The presence of D-galactose in cellulose preparations, however, could be explained by the work of Hughes & Street (1974). They found that the concentration of galactose, in cellulose preparations, could be increased by the addition of D-galactose to in vitro cultured roots. They speculate that D-galactose may cause premature cellulose chain termination thus accounting for the observed phytotoxicity of Dgalactose.

1.4.2 Hemicelluloses.

The term hemicellulose was first coined by Schulze in 1891 (see Wilkie. 1979 for original reference) to describe polysaccharides extracted from plant tissues with dilute alkali. This definition was generally adhered to for many years as meaning any 'cell wall or intercellular polysaccharide that can be extracted, by alkali, from higher plant tissues' (Wilkie, 1979). This broad definition was challenged, however, by Bauer et al., (1973) who has redefined the term to include cell wall polysaccharides which are found non-covalently bound to cellulose. This definition has attempted to reclassify the hemicelluloses into a group of polysaccharides with similar chemical properties and possible biological function.

The nature of the hemicelluloses seems to differ considerably between the dicots and the monocots and slightly between species.

1.4.2.1 Xylans.

The xylans are, quantitatively, the dominant hemicellulose in graminaceous cell walls. For this reason they are also the most studied. However the xylans of primary cell walls have not been studied as much as those of secondary walls. The basic structure of the xylans is a β 1-4 linked xylopyranosyl backbone with a wide variety of side chains. The side chains vary from species to species and from tissue to tissue, however these variations probably reflect variations in proportions rather than the nature of the features (Wilkie, 1979). The most common side chain is a single arabinofuranosyl residue attached to

C-3 of the xylose, they have also been found attached to the C-2 in xylans extracted from barley aleurone layers (McNeil *et al.*, 1975) and husks of sorghum grain (Woolard *et al.*, 1976, 1977).

The second most common side chains are single D-glucuronosyl or 4-O-methyl-D-glucuronosyl residues attached to the C-2 of the xylose. Other more complex side chains have been found in monocot xylans e.g Gal-(β 1-4)-Xyl-(β 1-2)-Araf, Gal-(β 1-5)-Araf, GluA-(β 1-4)-Xyl-(β 1-4)-Gal and Xyl-(β 1-2)-Araf. A non-branched homoxylan containing no side chains has also been isolated from esparto grass (Ehrenthal *et al.*, 1954) and tobacco (Eda *et al.*, 1976). An acidic GluA-(β 1-4)-Xyl-(β 1-4)-Gal side chain has been isolated from the cell walls of several members of the Gramineae e.g ryegrass (Morrison, 1974 A), oat plants (Reid & Wilkie, 1969) and barley leaf (Buchala, 1973). Monocot xylans may also possess O-acetyl esters at the O-5 or O-2 of the arabinose, or both, and the O-2 or O-3, or both, of the xylose (Morrison, 1974 C).

The degree of acetyl substitution probably affects the xylans ability to aggregate with other molecules (Northcote, 1972, Preston, 1979) and the degree of side chain substitution would appear to affect the solubility of the xylan and its ability to bind to cellulose. The higher the degree of substitution the greater its solubility and the less its ability to bind to cellulose (McNeil *et al.*, 1975). An unsubstituted β 1-4 xylan chain has a threefold left handed conformation (Marchessault & Setterini, 1964). This structure has a relatively flexible form due to limited intra molecular hydrogen bonding (Setterini & Marchessault, 1965) whereas arabinosyl substituents appear to produce a more extended conformation (Dea *et al.*, 1973) and thus 'stiffen' the xylan. Other substituents may also affect the xylan in a similar manner (Fincher & Stone, 1986).

Molecular weight determinations of monocot xylans differ greatly depending on the technique used. Sedimentation by ultracentrifugation and osmometry tend to give values between 20 Kd-70 Kd. However gel filtration methods give much higher values of upto 5000 Kd, this is presumably a gross overestimation due to the notorious difficulties in Mwt determination of polysaccharides by this method (Fincher & Stone, 1986), such as aggregation in aqueous solutions (Blake & Richards, 1971).

1.4.2.2 ß D-Glucans.

Non endospermic mixed linked β D-Glucans have, up to date, only been found in cell wall preparations from the Gramineae and would appear to be quite specific to this group of plants. These polysaccharides are composed of chains of mixed β 1-3 and β 1-4 linked glucans with the ratio of 3-linked to 4-linked being from 1 to 2.5(Fincher & Stone, 1986). The ratio of linkages seems to vary with the age of the tissue, the proportion of 4 linked increasing with age. There is no evidence for strictly repeating sequences of linkages. However they would appear not to be totally random in nature as a water soluble β D-glucan from barley and oats contains sequences of two or three consecutive 1-4 linkages separated by 1-3 linkages (Parrish et al, 1960). It has since been conclusively shown that runs of more than

three consecutive 1-4 linkages are present in a water soluble β -glucan from barley with blocks of up to fourteen units (Woodward *et al.*, 1983). Blocks of continuous 1-3 linkages have also been widely reported, with blocks of up to four consecutive linkages in oat endosperm (Goldstein *et al.*, 1965), and longer blocks have been reported from rice endosperm (Shibuya & Misaki, 1978).

The DP of the glucan chains in wheat decreased with age from 75 to 28 (Buchala & Wilkie, 1973). The method of DP determination used, however, depends on the retention of a reducing end. Results from other methods indicate that the glucans may aggregate, through chemical bonding, to protein to produce a molecule of M_{wt} 10⁴ Kd. Ultracentrifugation and sedimentation studies of oat coleoptile glucans indicated a DP of 1,500 (Wada & Ray, 1978). Again gel filtration methods give much higher results even up to 40,000,000 d (Forrest & Wainright, 1977). The precise role of β D-glucan would appear to be as a storage polysaccharide as the β D-glucans of oat coleoptiles are catabolised and disappear when grown in the dark without an energy source (Nevins *et al.*, 1977). However their general abundance and the difficulty involved in removing them from cell wall preparations are more consistent with structural polymers.

-22.-

1.4.2.3 Xyloglucans.

The basic structure of xyloglucans consist of a backbone of repeating β 1-4-D-glucosyl units with D-xylose a- linked to the O-6 of some of the glucose residues. These xylose side chains may in turn be extended by β linked D-Gal or a-Fuc-2 a-D-Gal β linked to the O-2 of the xylose. They have been found in several monocots, e.g. rice, bamboo, oats and barley. However they are present in much smaller amounts (approx 2%) than in the dicots (approx 20%). The monocot xyloglucans would appear to be less frequently substituted than dicot xyloglucans and the presence of fucosyl side chains has not been firmly established. Xyloglucans would appear to be structural polymers and it is thought that most, if not all are hydrogen bonded to the as evidenced by the need for strong alkali treatment to cellulose extract xyloglucan from cellulose in vitro and its ability to bind rapidly and strongly with cellulose in vivo (McNeil et al., 1984). This has further been evidenced by immunogold localisation in red clover where the anti-xyloglucan antibodies were found exclusively associated with the cellulose fibril containing regions (Moore & Staehelin, 1988).

However a role as growth regulators has also, recently, been proposed in dicots (Albersheim *et al.*, 1983). Small amounts of xyloglucan have been found to be released from the cell wall during auxin induced growth. Auxin is also known to induce the secretion of an *endo* β -1-4-glucanase which will cleave pea xyloglucan. It has also been demonstrated that a xyloglucan fragment will inhibit 2,4-D stimulated wall elongation in nanomolar quantities (York *et al.*, 1984). Since this initial discovery several biologically active cell wall fragments have been reported (Sharp *et al.*, 1984: Tran Thanh Van *et al.*, 1985: Tong *et al.*, 1986: Bishop & Ryan, 1987: McDougall & Fry, 1988).

1.4.3 Pectic Polysaccharides.

Pectins are a complex mixture of polysaccharides found in the middle lamella of the cell wall, which can be extracted with hot water or aqueous solutions of chelating agents e.g. ethylene-diamine-tetraacetate (EDTA) (Selvendran, 1985). These extracts can then be divided into neutral (arabinogalactans) and acidic (rhamnogalacturonans and homogalacturonan) fractions.

The rhamnogalacturonans can again be divided into RG I and RG II. Rhamnogalacturonan I (RG I) was first isolated, by extraction with an endo-polygalacturonase, from suspension cultured sycamore cells (McNeil et al., 1980). RG I consists of a backbone of alternating 2-linked Lrhamnose and 4-linked D-galacturonic acid residues. Approximately half of the rhamnose units are branched at O-4 with either L-arabinose or D-galactose (McNeil et al., 1982). RG I may also contain small amounts of L-fucose (McNeil et al., 1980). The of RG I is thought to be around 2000 daltons (McNeil et al., 1984) and makes up 23% of the total pectin content (7% dry matter) of suspension cultured sycamore cell walls (McNeil et al., 1980). The galactosyl residues in the backbone may also carry methyl esters, acetyl esters and ferulate esters (Fry, 1982: Rombouts & Thibault, 1986). Enzymic degradation has shown that the side chains tend to be located in specific regions of the backbone causing 'hairy' and 'smooth' regions (DeVries *et al.*, 1982).

Rhamnogalacturonan II is a complex polysaccharide composed of approximately 30 glycosyl residues, containing at least twelve different sugars e.g 2-O-methylfucose, 2-O-methylxylose, apiose, 3-C-carboxy-5deoxy-L-xylose (aceric acid), 3-deoxy-D-Manno-2-octulosonic acid and 3deoxy-*lyxo*-2-heptulosaric acid (Stevenson *et al.*, 1988). Through the study of fragments generated by mild acid hydrolysis, approximately twenty different glycosidic linkages have been found, although the precise structure of the polysaccharide is still uncertain. RG II was originally found in cell walls of suspension cultured sycamore, however it has since been found to be present in all angiosperms tested, one gymnosperm (Thomas *et al.*, 1987) and also in the monocots rice (Thomas *et al.*, 1989) and oats (Darvill *et al.*, 1978).

Homogalacturonans are large molecules consisting solely of a 1-4 linked galacturonic acid residues, which may carry methyl ester groups. The esterified residues appear to occur in blocks. It seems likely that they exist in primary cell walls, although they may be covalently linked to other cell wall polymers (McNeil *et al.*, 1984). It is thought that these chains are bound by aggregating with divalent calcium in an 'egg box' manner (Grant *et al.*, 1973).

-25.-

Arabinogalactans are, as the name implies, polymers of arabinofuranose and galactose. There would appear to be two types found in cell walls. The most common consisting of a linear β 1-4 linked galactose with occasional side chains of 1-5 linked arabinose residues at the O-3 of galactose (type I) while the other (type II) consists of a mixed β 1-3, β 1-4 linked chain of galactose and 5- linked arabinose (Clarke *et al.*, 1979). Arabinogalactans have been demonstrated in a number of monocot secondary cell walls.

Arabinans are highly branched polymers of L-arabinofuranose residues linked in the a configuration. The linkage patterns in the arabinan is highly complex and detailed structures are difficult to determine (Darvill *et al.*, 1980). To date, arabinans have never been found in primary or monocot cell walls.

The precise manner in which these polymers are bound together, in situ, is a much debated topic and a number of schemes have been proposed (DeVries *et al.*, 1982; Jarvis, 1984; Selvendran, 1985).

Most structural work has come from dicot pectins and there has some doubt expressed as to whether monocots contain pectin at been all. Certainly the amounts of uronic acids present in monocots is much lower and are approximately one fifth of the value for dicots (Chesson, communication). However pectins similar to personal rhamnogalacturonans have been discovered in onions (Ishii, 1982) and rice (Shibuya & Iwasaki, 1978). Similarly, methylation analysis of purified primary cell walls from Lolium multiflorum and Lolium perenne demonstrated the presence of 2- linked rhamnose and a high proportion of 3-O-methyl rhamnose which would suggest a large proportion of the

-26.-

rhamnose carry side chains consistent with the general model of a rhamnogalacturonan (Chesson *et al.*, 1985). It has since been found that this pectin makes up 5-6% of the mesophyll cell wall of ryegrass (Chesson, personal communication).

It may be appropriate at this point to stress the difference between monocot and graminaceous cell walls. In a study of pectin contents in a variety

of taxonomic groupings, Jarvis *et al* (1988), discovered that monocots, as a whole, have a high to medium pectin content and that it was members of the *Glumiflorae* (which includes the gramineae) which have relatively little. 1.4.4 Cell Wall Proteins.

As in most cases, most of what is known about cell wall proteins comes from work with dicots. Original research has shown that dicot cell walls contain appreciable amounts of protein (5-10%). The composition of this protein, however, is somewhat unusual in that it has a very high concentration of hydroxyproline (approx 20%). Difficulties in original attempts to extract this protein suggested that much of it is a structural protein and was called extensin as it was thought to be involved in controlling cell wall extensibility (Lamport, 1965).

When fragments of these proteins are extracted they invariably contain arabinosyl and/or galactosyl residues. Hydrolysis of the peptide linkages walls with 0.2M BaOH in cell releases a mixture of hydroxyproline rich arabinosides. These could be separated into mono-, di-, tri- and tetra- arabinosides, with the tetra predominating in dicots. As previously mentioned the cell wall proteins of monocots have not been as extensively studied. Suspension cultured monocot cell walls have been reported to contain 0.13-0.16% hydroxyproline, compared to dicots which may contain up to 2% (Burke et al., 1974). Hydroxyprolinearabinosides have been isolated from four different monocot species (Lamport & Miller, 1971) but only once from a member of the Gramineae (Kieliszewski & Lamport, 1987), although the majority of the protein was hydroxyproline arabinosides unglycosylated. the isolated the Of tri-arabinoside predominates with small amounts of the di-arabinoside. It would thus appear that the cell wall proteins of dicots and monocots differ considerably in structure and possibly in function.

-28.-

1.4.5 Phenolic Acids.

Phenolic acids have long been known to be found in plant cell walls as ester linked components of lignin (Shimada *et al.*, 1971), however they have also been found in alkali hydrolysates of cell walls of the Gramineae suggesting they are linked to hemicellulose by alkali-labile bonds (Hartley, 1972). The predominant acids found in the Gramineae, are ferulic (4-hydroxy, 3-methoxy cinnamic acid) (Figure 1.4.5.1 A) and p-coumaric (4-hydroxy cinnamic acid) acids (Figure 1.4.5.1 B), mainly in their *trans* form, but small amounts of sinapic (3,5,-dimethoxy-4hydroxycinnamic acid), vanillic (4-hydroxy, 3-methoxy benzoic acid) and p-hybrid benzoic acids have also been found (Gordon *et al*, 1985).

Figure 1.4.5.1 Structures of A) Ferulic acid and B) p-Coumaric acid.





-29.-

Since their discovery in hydrolysates of alkali-treated feedstuffs, several groups have isolated fragments of polysaccharide containing ester linked ferulic and *p*-coumaric acids. In the monocotyledons these have been linked through the O-5 of arabinose (Mueller-Harvey *et al.*, 1986; Smith & Hartley, 1983; Kato & Nevins, 1985; Kato *et al.*, 1987) and to the O-6 of the galactose and the O-3 of the arabinose in the pectic fraction of dicotyledons (Fry, 1982).

The precise role of phenolic acids in the cell wall is uncertain although a number of theories have been proposed. It has been suggested that they play a role in inhibiting enzymic degradation of the hemicellulose (Hartley, 1972), that they provide a reservoir of phenylpropanoid units for lignin synthesis (Gordon, 1975), that they act as U.V receptors and control phototropism (Towers and Abeysekera, 1984) and that they are responsible for limiting cell wall extensibility by cross linking (Fry, 1983).

The role in controlling cell wall extensibility arose from the discovery of dehydrodiferulic acid, a C5-C5 linked dimer of ferulic acid (Figure 1.4.5.2 A) in water insoluble pentosans from *Triticum aestivum* (Markwalder and Neukom, 1976) and alkali hydrolysates from *Lolium multiflorum* (Hartley and Jones, 1976). Fry (1979) proposed that ferulic acid esterified to hemicellulose chains, in the presence of H_2O_2 and the enzyme peroxidase, will cross link the hemicellulose chains thus reducing cell wall extensibility. This proposal is backed up by the discovery that gibberellins, commonly regarded as growth promoters, inhibit peroxidase secretion (Fry, 1983).

This theory, of phenolic acids playing a major role in controlling cell wall extensibility, has recently been expanded by the discovery of 4,4'-dihydrotruxillic acid (Hartley *et al.*, 1988) (Figure 1.4.5.2 B) in alkali extracts of *Lolium multiflorum*. Truxillic acid is a cyclodimer of --coumaric acid through the unsaturated propyl side chains. It was later discovered that a variety of these dimers exist (Ford & Hartley, 1988) between *p*-coumaric acid and ferulic acid i.e *p*-CA-*p*-CA, *p*-CA-FA and FA-FA. These cyclodimers may also exist in a number of isomeric forms i.e head to head (Truxillic acid) or head to tail (Truxinic acid) (Ford & Hartley, 1989). It has been suggested that they are products of photodimerisation in the cell wall.

Figure 1.4.5.2 Structures of A) Diferulic acid and B) Truxillic acid.



The proposal of Towers and Abeysekera (Towers & Abeysekera, 1984) states that the U.V mediated isomerisation of hemicellulose bound phenolic acids also effects cell wall extensibility and could be responsible for phototropic responses. However their model system

-31.-

depends on the presence of another photoreceptor which will absorb in the blue region (400-450 nm) and transfer its excitation energy (Towers and Abeysekera, 1984). To date, however, no such receptor has been demonstrated.

The light mediated synthesis of truxillic acid offers an intriguing alternative to Towers & Abeysekera's, light controlled, model for the role of phenolic acids in controlling cell wall extensibility.

1.4.6 Lignin.

Lignin is a complex polymer, formed by the dehydrogenative polymerisation of p-hydroxycinnamyl alcohols, which impregnates the cell wall thereby imparting rigidity and helping resist attack by microorganisms. After cellulose it is the second most abundant natural organic product (Nimz, 1974). It is unhydrolysable with acid, readily oxidised, partially soluble in alkali and readily condenses with alcoholic and phenolic compounds (Pearl, 1967). There are three major groups, each based on their monomer units. 1) Gymnosperm (softwood) lignin or guaiacyl lignin, a dehydrogenation polymer of coniferyl alcohol (Figure 1.4.6.1 A), 2) Angiosperm (hardwood) lignin or guaiacyl-syringyl lignin, a mixed polymer of coniferyl and sinapyl alcohols (Figure 1.4.6.1 B) and 3) Grass lignin or guaiacyl-syringyl-p-hydroxyphenyl type lignin, a mixed polymer of coniferyl-sinapyl and p-hydroxyphenyl alcohols (Figure 1.4.6.1 C) (Higuchi, 1980). In addition, grass lignins are thought to have p-coumaric acid esterified to the terminal hydroxyl groups of the lignin side chains (Higuchi, 1981) and p-coumaric and ferulic acids attached by ether linkages (Scalbert et al, 1985). These definitions are very generalised, as some grasses are thought to be similar to hardwood lignins (Harkin, 1973). Unfortunately much of the structural studies carried out on lignin has been performed on softwood lignin due to its importance in the pulp and paper industries.

Figure 1.4.6.1 Structures of lignin monomers.



As mentioned earlier, due to the complex nature of lignin, its structural elucidation has proved to be a long and difficult process. The aromatic nature of lignin was established early on. The arylpropane skeleton was first conceived by Freudenberg in the 1930's (Adler, 1977), principally based on the elemental composition of spruce lignin preparations.

Degradation studies using a wide variety of oxidative techniques e.g permanganate oxidation, nitrobenzene oxidation, ethanolysis and acidolysis strongly suggested certain bond types. The structures proposed were further backed up by the study of dehydrogenation polymers (DHP's) using ferric chloride or oxidative enzymes to polymerise simple phenolic monomers.

With the aid of these chemical data and the use of physical techniques such as IR and NMR a number of different lignin models have been proposed (Nimz, 1974: Adler, 1977: Freudenberg & Neish,

1968) (Figure 1.4.6.2). These schemes, however, generally agree as to the number and types of linkages involved and differ only the occurrence and frequent of monomer units and linkages.

Figure 1.4.6.2 Structure of lignin.



The most common linkage is a aryl glycerol- β -aryl ether structure (Figure 1.4.6.3 A) which accounts for 48% of the linkages in spruce lignin (Adler, 1977) and is generally regarded as a sign of true lignin. Other linkages include noncyclic benzyl aryl ether (Figure 1.4.6.3 B), phenylcoumarin structures (Figure 1.4.6.3 C) and biphenyl structures (Figure 1.4.6.3 D), in all there are thought to be over twenty different types of linkage involved in the lignin structure.





As stated earlier, the synthesis of lignin is mediated by the dehydrogenative polymerisation of p-hydroxy cinnamyl alcohols. This is thought to be achieved by the action of the enzyme peroxidase. It has been proposed that the alcohols are dehydrogenated by cell wall bound peroxidase via a superoxide radical which is suggested to be formed by the reduction of O₂ by NAD (Elstner & Heupel, 1976). The coniferyl alcohol radicals so produced then spontaneously couple to form dimers, trimers and higher oligomers. Further dehydrogenation of these dimers etc results in the formation of lignin (Higuchi, 1980). These proposals have been supported up by the discovery that the enzyme lignin peroxidase produced by the white rot fungus *Phanerochaete*

chryosporium (Tien & Kirk, 1983; Glenn et al., 1983) will degrade lignin by radical formation via H2O2 (Schoemaker et al., 1985 A & B) these radicals will then also polymerise via radical formation (Haemmerli et al., 1986).

1.5 LIGNIN-CARBOHYDRATE LINKAGES.

Lignin-carbohydrate linkages have been a much debated topic ever since the discovery of lignin as a cell wall component (Pearl, 1967). Original doubts were over the existence of such a linkage, however, although there is still no direct evidence for such a linkage, the wealth of circumstantial evidence makes it a difficult proposal to reject (Conchie *et al.*, 1988), and modern debates are over their nature, distribution and significance.

The existence of lignin-carbohydrate linkages was first postulated by the early wood chemists. Again, therefore much of our knowledge of this subject derives from wood. Although a linkage was suspected, its precise nature was unknown and a variety of types e.g ester, ether, glycosidic, acetal, hemiacetal, ketal and hydrogen bonds have at some time been proposed (Brownell, 1971).

One of the original methods of studying lignin-carbohydrate linkages was through the study of milled wood lignins (MWL), usually isolated by the Björkman procedure (Björkman, 1956). Early work by Brownell (1971) on MWL of black spruce (*Picea mariana*) suggested that the lignin-carbohydrate bond was inconsistent with an acetal, hemiacetal, ketal, ester or glycosidic bond but may be an ether. Subsequent research on chemical extracts from eucalypt wood (Stewart, 1973) indicated that uronic acids are either ether linked to lignin and ester linked to the xylose in the glucuronoxylan or ester linked to the lignin and glycosidically linked to the carbohydrate, the possibility of

-38.-

glycosidic linkages to the lignin is not ruled out. He also suggests that in eucalypt, and possibly other hardwoods, virtually all lignin is linked through the uronic acid residues.

Eriksson & Lindgren (1977), working on Björkman MWL of Norway spruce (Picea abies) postulated that the lignin was attached to the galactoglucomannan through galactose residues onto the mannose backbone and to the xylan through arabinose side chains. Further research by the same group (Eriksson et al., 1980) on MWL of black spruce indicated that the lignin is ether linked to the arabinose either through the O-2 or O-3 positions, linkages through the O-4 could not be excluded. Linkages directly to the xylose were also proposed. They further go on to suggest that lignin is linked to the O-3 position of the galactose in the galactoglucomannan, and possibly, at other positions, and that lignin is ester linked to 4-O-methylglucuronic acid. Although they had no direct evidence they suggested a linkage between cellulose and lignin, as cellulosic material could not be removed through several purification steps. To summarise, they suggested that lignin is attached to all types of sugar units in the hemicellulose and possibly cellulose. thus supporting Freudenberg's view that "lignin-carbohydrate linkages are formed by the non-enzymic addition of hydroxyl and carboxyl groups in the carbohydrates to quinone methide intermediates in lignin biosynthesis" (Freudenberg & Neish, 1968).

The work discussed so far has concentrated purely on wood. Studies of the linkages in the monocots, in general, and the Gramineae in particular are less extensive. Over the past few years, however, more and more work is being published, in this field.

Morrison (1973) was one of the first researchers to address the question in graminaceous cell walls when he isolated a lignincarbohydrate complex (LCC) from Lolium multiflorum and Lolium perenne (Morrison, 1974 B) with dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO). In all, Morrison (1974, C), proposed the presence of at least three types of linkage between the lignin and carbohydrate, one cleaved on borohydride reduction, another cleaved by alkali and one resistant to alkali. He goes on to suggest that phenolic acids act as cross linking agents between lignin and carbohydrate. The carbohydrate component consisted of β 1-4 linked xylose and a significant amount of β 1-4 Dglucose which may have originated from a cellulose like polymer (probably xyloglucan). He further postulates that the LCC is a unit of the cell wall structure.

An interesting approach was used by Gaillard & Richards (1975) when they recovered solubilised LCC's from bovine rumen liquor. Their results agreed with the presence of ester linkages between the lignin and the carbohydrate, although only some of the linkages were broken by alkali. This original idea was followed up by Neilson & Richards (1978) who postulated a structure for the complex and the existence of glycosidic bonds between D-glucose, D-xylose and L-rhamnose to the lignin. This approach has since been used to study the solubilised LCC'S from ryegrass in the ovine rumen (Conchie *et al., 1*988). The complexes isolated tended to have either a high (>100 Kd) or low (<4 Kd) molecular weight, the high Mwt containing the higher carbohydrate concentration. Reducing sugars (principally arabinose and xylose) were found in the low M_{wt} fraction thus suggesting ether linkages to the phenolics. The presence of rhamnose in the LCC'S suggest it could play an important role in cross linking. All LCC'S contained protein which could not be removed by any of the purification steps. Amino acid analysis indicated very little hydroxyproline which has been implicated in lignin-protein binding (Dill *et al.*, 1984).

Protein was also found in the LCC'S prepared by enzymic degradation of pangola grass (Ford, 1986) which was low in hydroxyproline content. The structural relationship between the components of these LCC'S was very complex and involved monomeric and oligomeric pentose units.

¹³C NMR studies of wheat straw lignin preparations (Scalbert *et al.*, 1986) suggested the participation of ferulic acid in the alkali labile cross links between lignin and carbohydrate and further suggested that all lignin is attached to the hemicellulose. Further work by the same group (Scalbert & Monties, 1986) indicates that graminaceous cell walls may have a higher concentration of alkali labile bonds between the lignin and carbohydrate, or within the lignin network than either softwood or hardwood.

In order to study the nature and distribution of alkali labile i.e ester bonds in cell walls of ryegrass, cereal straws and clover, Chesson *et al.*, (1983) and Lomax *et al.*, (1983), adapted the acetalation-methylation technique of DeBelder & Norman (1968), for the localisation of alkali labile bonds, for use on whole cell walls. In general they found a considerable degree of substitution to xylose (through O-2, O-3 or both) and arabinose (through O-5 or O-5 and O-2). Analysis of acetyl and phenolic acid ester content could only explain approximately two thirds of the alkali labile bonds (in clover over half remained unexplained) and it was postulated that most, if not all, of the unaccounted for bonds were to the lignin component.

1.6 CELL WALL DIGESTION.

When a plant feed stuff e.g cereal straw enters the rumen it is attacked by a variety of protozoa, anaerobic fungi and bacteria. These microorganisms attack the cell walls by releasing a wide battery of hydrolytic enzymes at the surface of the cell wall (Chesson & Forsberg, 1988).

Microscopic examination of plant material undergoing digestion in the rumen clearly demonstrates that some cell walls are much more susceptible than others (Gordon *et al.*, 1985). Mesophyll and phloem are most susceptible followed by epidermis with vascular tissue being most resistant. The obvious difference would appear to be that primary cell walls are more easily degraded than secondary cell walls.

Original thoughts revolved around the idea that some cell wall component, possibly lignin, inhibited enzymic and microbial or degradation, therefore more heavily lignified materials are more resistant than non-lignified materials. While this observation is generally true chemical analysis does not agree. In the case of cereal straws approximately half of the straw is solubilised in the rumen. The residue is highly resistant to further degradation, If one component of the cell wall is inhibitory to degradation one would therefore expect an increase in concentration after rumen incubation. On analysis it is found that carbohydrate content remains essentially the same, the only difference being that total phenolics tend to slightly accumulate, although lignin is still solubilised at much the same rate as other cell wall components. As mentioned previously, the effects of alkali on

-43.

digestibility and lignin content strongly suggest that lignin plays a major role in limiting digestibility.

The proposed model of cell wall digestibility is demonstrated in cell wall is Figure 1.6.1. The built up of carbohydrate and carbohydrate-lignin blocks. The carbohydrate-lignin blocks are resistant to degradation degradation proceeds so as and the carbohydrate blocks are broken down, a 'wall' of lignin-carbohydrate blocks cover the surface, thus preventing further degradation. This would account for the observed lack of change in carbohydrate content and the small increase in lignin content. Chesson et al., (1983) demonstrated the accumulation of alkali labile bonds to the O-5 of the arabinose, also fitting in with this model.

A study of the surfaces of rumen incubated straw (Russell *et al.*, 1988) by multiple reflectance infrared spectroscopy, clearly demonstrated that the inner layers of the straw were degraded and the outer layer were virtually untouched. The inner surface also showed the build up of lignin, and acetyl esters.

It was also suggested that alkali treatment only affects the outer layers and dissolves silica, acetyl esters and lignin. It would also appear to open up cracks and pores in the surface thus opening it up for enzymic attack.

-44.-


2.0 EXPERIMENTAL.

2.1 SAMPLE PREPARATION.

2.1.1 Starting materials.

Perennial ryegrass (Lolium perenne c.v Perma) was harvested in June 1986, from an established field and stored at -40° C until used. The frozen grass was repeatedly blended in a Waring blender with iced distilled water and sieved on a 300 µm nylon mesh until all green material had been washed out. The 'non-mesophyll' ryegrass was then freeze dried and stored at room temperature.

Barley straw (Hordeum vulgare c.v Golden Promise) was harvested in August 1984 at the Rowett Research Institute. The straw was dried and milled to pass a 1mm sieve then stored at room temperature.

2.1.2 Mild acid hydrolysis.

Five gram samples were refluxed with 500 ml of 30 mM oxalic acid for three hours. The insoluble residue was then filtered off, on a grade 1 glass sintered filter, and thoroughly washed with distilled water. The oxalic acid was then neutralised with an equimolar amount of calcium acetate. The calcium oxalate precipitate was then filtered off on a grade 4 sintered glass filter. The acetic acid was then evaporated from the hydrolysate under vacuum at 40°C, and the hydrolysate and residue were freeze dried. The freeze dried hydrolysate was then extracted with 5 x 10 ml of methanol. The methanol soluble and methanol insoluble fractions were retained and freeze dried.

2.1.3 Purification of FA-ARA.

100 mg Samples of ryegrass methanol soluble fraction was dissolved in water and passed through a C18 Bond Elut cartridge (Analytichem International). The retained material was then eluted with 1 ml of methanol, filtered and FA-ARA was separated by reverse phase HPLC. Solvent A was water and solvent B was 50% methanol in acetonitrile (v/v). The flow rate was 1 ml/min and the gradient ran from, 0% B to 7% B in 5 mins then up to 22% B in another 120 mins then up to 100% B in a further 10 mins. The appropriate fractions were collected and freeze dried. The collected material was then passed through a 1m x 1.7 cm column of Sephadex G-10 (Pharmacia), the major U.V absorbing peak being collected and freeze dried. Purity was established by TLC (solvent 1).

2.1.4 Dimethyl sulphoxide extraction.

A four gram sample of oxalate hydrolysed material was freezer milled under liquid nitrogen for three minutes in a SPEX 6700 freezer mill (Spex Industries). The samples were then extracted with 250 ml of dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) in an ultrasonic bath for three hours, ensuring the temperature did not exceed 40°C. The DMSO soluble material was then dialysed against distilled water, in the dark, for four days at room temperature with constant agitation and freeze dried. The DMSO soluble fractions were then purified on a 1m x 1.7cm column of Sephadex G-100 (Pharmacia).

2.1.5 Driselase hydrolysis.

Driselase (a commercial cellulase preparation, Sigma) was partially purified according to the method of Fry, (1982). The final enzyme preparation was dissolved in 50 ml of 100 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 5.0, dispensed into 1 ml aliquots and stored at -20° C.

Samples of oxalate hydrolysed, DMSO extracted cell walls (100 mgs) were added to 10 ml acetate buffer plus 1 ml of enzyme and incubated at 45°C for ninety six hours under toluene. The hydrolysed material was then filtered off and washed with distilled water, the soluble and insoluble fractions were collected and freeze dried.

At all stages of sample preparation and handling, great care was taken to exclude light in order to minimise *cis-trans* isomerisation of phenolics (Hartley & Jones, 1975) and possible dimerisation (Cohen *et al.*, 1963).

-48.-

2.2 GENERAL ANALYSIS.

2.2.1 Total carbohydrates.

Total carbohydrate was determined by the phenol sulphuric method of Dubois *et al.*, (1956) using glucose as a standard. 2.2.2 Total phenolics.

Total phenolics were determined by the acetyl bromide method of Morrison, (1972) using ferulic acid as a standard.

2.2.3 Uronic acids.

Uronic acids were determined by the method of Blumenkrantz & Asboe-Hanson, (1973) using glucuronic acid as a standard.

2.2.4 Monosaccharides.

Monosaccharides were determined as their alditol acetates according to the method of Blakeney *et al.*, (1983). Approximately 10 mg samples were accurately weighed into soviral tubes and 0.25 ml of 72% ($^{v}/_{v}$) H2SO4 was added, along with a short glass rod with rounded ends. These were vortexed intermittently for one hour, when 2.75 ml of water was added, the tubes were flushed with nitrogen, sealed and heated at 100°C for three hours. The cooled tubes were then neutralised with 0.64 ml of concentrated NH4OH solution and 0.1 ml of a 20 mg/ml aqueous solution of inositol (internal standard) was added. A sample of hydrolysate (200 µl) was then transferred to a glass B14 tube and 1 ml of a 2% solution ($^{w}/_{v}$) of sodium borohydride in DMSO was added and heated at 40°C for ninety minutes. These were then cooled, 0.1 ml of glacial acetic acid added and mixed well. Acetic anhydride (2 ml) and 1methyl imadazole (200 µl) were then added and left to stand at room

-49.-

temperature for 15 mins. The excess acetic anhydride was then neutralised with 5 ml of water, the tubes mixed and cooled in ice. Dichloromethane (2 ml) was then added, mixed and the aqueous layer removed. This was repeated three times and the dichloromethane was dried with anhydrous Na₂SO₄. The dry dichloromethane was then transferred to a 2 ml vial, dried and redissolved in 1 ml of dichloromethane.

The alditol acetates were then analysed on a Carlo-Erba HRGC 5300 MEGA GC with a 3 m x 3 mm column of 3% SP 2340 on SUPELCOPORT 100/200, isothermally at 225°C. The injector being set at 230°C and the detector at 240°C, with nitrogen as the carrier gas at 160 KPa.

2.2.5 Phenolic acids.

Phenolic acids were determined by reverse phase HPLC. The solvents were:

Solvent A; 1% acetic acid (v/v) in 0.01M tetra methyl ammonium hydroxide (Sigma) in water.

Solvent B; 1% acetic acid (v/v) in 0.01M tetra methyl ammonium hydroxide in methanol.

The flow rate was 1.5 ml/min and a gradient was run from 17% B to 26% B in 10 mins then up to 80% B in a further 10 mins.

Samples were prepared by accurately weighing out approximately 20-30 mgs of dried sample into soviral tubes and adding 1 ml of 1M NaOH, purged with nitrogen and left at room temperature overnight in the dark. Anisic acid $(0.1 \text{ ml of a 1 mg/ml solution in methanol, internal standard)$ was then added and the samples acidified to < pH 1 with 6M HCl and filtered on a sintered glass filter (grade 1). The hydrolysates were then extracted 3 x 5 ml of ethyl acetate and the extracts were dried down under vacuum in a 50 ml round bottomed (RB) flask. A small amount of ethyl acetate was then used to transfer the extracts back to the soviral tube and dried down again. The samples were then redissolved in 1 ml of solvent B, and filtered on a 2 µm membrane filter prior to injection.

Standard ferulic and p-coumaric acids were purchased from Fluka and anisic acid from Sigma. Diferulic acid was synthesised according to the methods of Richtenzain, (1949) and Baumgartner & Neukom, (1972). The structure of the final product was confirmed by mass spectrometry (major ions (M/Z (Molecular ion; relative intensity)) 298 (M+ -88; 100) 324 (M+ -62; 65) 342 (M+ -44; 57)). Purity was established by GC-MS of TMS derivatives. One major peak, retention time (RT) 44.65 mins was found. Its major ions were 73 (M+ -574; 100), 558 (M+ -89; 52), 381 (M+ -266; 37), 559 (M+ -88; 21), 207 (M+ -440; 19), 281 (M+ -366; 14), 75 (M+ -576; 12), 560 (M+ -87; 11), 382 (M+ -265; 11) and 366 (M+ -281; 10). This structure is suggestive of the *cis-cis* form of diferulic acid (Hartley & Jones, 1976).

Truxillic acid was synthesised by the method of Cohen *et al.*, (1963). The purity and structure of the final product was determined by GC-MS of TMS derivatives. The RT for truxillic acid was found to be 60.57min and the major ions found were, 73 (M+ -543; 100), 308 (M+ -308; 56), 293 (M+ -323; 38), 219 (M+ -397; 29), 45 (M+ -571: 16), 75 (M+ -541; 14) 249 (M+ -367; 10) and 179 (M+ -437; 9) thus agreeing closely with published data (Hartley *et al.*, 1988). As this is essentially the same spectra observed for TMS *p*-coumaric acid, the RT of TMS *p*-coumaric acid was checked and found to be 32.7 min.

Response factors were calculated by carrying standard solutions through the procedure described. Figure 2.2.1 (A) shows the separation obtained with standard compounds and (B) shows the separation achieved with an actual sample. The identities of the peaks can be seen in Table 2.2.1 along with their respective, calculated response factors (rf), retention times (RT) and relative retention times (RRT).

TABLE 2.2.1. Identities and response factors of peaks from HPLC

analysis of phenolic acids (A) standards, B) cell wall hydrolysate).

P	EAK IDENTITY		RT		RRT	
		Α	B	A	<u> </u>	
1	TRUXILLIC ACID	7.50	6.90	0.49	0.46	4.893
2	cis-COUMARIC ACID	8.27	8.00	0.55	0.53 _	0.311
3	trans-COUMARIC ACI	D 9.27	9.25	0.61	0.61	0.311
4	cis-FERULIC ACID	10.72	10.42	0.71	0.69	0.546
5	trans-FERULIC ACID	11.32	11.22	0.75	0.74	0.546
6	ANISIC ACID (I.S)	15.13	15.10	1.0	1.0	1.0
7	DIFERULIC ACID	17.62	17.47	1.16	1.16	0.823
8	DIFERULIC ACID *		17.83		1.18	0.823

* isomeric form not present in synthesised sample.

-52.-



2.3 CHROMATOGRAPHY.

2.3.1 HPLC.

HPLC was performed on a 10 cm x 4.6 mm (i.d) column of 5 μ m Spherisorb ODS2 with an LKB BROMMA system comprising a 2150 pump, a 2152 LC controller, a high pressure mixing valve and a 2151 UV/VIS variable wavelength monitor. Injection was performed via a Rheodyne valve with a 20 μ l loop. All reagents were of HPLC grade (May & Baker) and water was distilled and deionised before use. All solvents were filtered on a 2 μ m acetate filter and thoroughly degassed before use. All samples were also filtered on 2 μ m filters. Phenolics were detected by U.V absorption at 280 nm.

2.3.2 Gas chromatography-Mass spectrometry.

G.C was performed on a Carlo-Erba (HRGC 5160 MEGA) gas chromatograph with on column injection onto a fused silica bondedphase column (50m x 0.33mm (i.d)), 0.5 μ m film of BP-1 (S.G.E) with helium as a carrier gas (130 KPa). The gradient used was 200°C for 5 mins then up to 300°C at 4°C/min.

M.S was performed on a Hewlett Packard 5970 mass spectrometer. Trimethyl silyl derivatives were produced by the method of Smith & Hartley, (1983). 2.3.3 Molecular sieve chromatography.

All molecular sieve chromatography was performed on 1 m x 1.7 cm columns, and eluted with water at room temperature. Five mg samples were applied. Void volumes were determined by the use of blue dextran (Pharmacia) and inclusion volumes by Na2SO4 (detected by BaOH).

2.3.4 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) & Paper chromatography (PC).

TLC was performed on silica gel plates (Merck 5748). Phenolics were detected by fluorescence under UV light and diazotised sulphonilamide reagent (Stahl, 1969). Carbohydrates were detected by a-napthol reagent (Jarvis *et al.*, 1977) on TLC and by aniline pthalate reagent on PC (Wilson, 1959).

Solvent system 1; Chloroform: Methanol: Acetic acid: Water (50:50:15:5). Solvent system 2; Toluene: Acetone: Acetic acid (9:1:1).

Paper chromatography was performed on Whatman no 1 paper with a solvent system of Butanol: Acetic acid: Water (60:20:20).

-55.-

2.4 PYROLYSIS.

I would like to thank Professor J.J.Boon of the FOM Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands, and his group for welcoming me to his laboratory and performing the pyrolysis analysis.

2.4.1 Py-GC.

The pyrolysis unit used (Figure 2.4 A) has been described previously (Boon *et al.*, 1987). The sample was applied via a particulate suspension or solution in water onto a ferromagnetic wire which was flushed with argon, then placed in a glass liner. The liner was placed in the pyrolysis unit resting on a Kalrez interface directly above the G.C column. The liner was surrounded by a ceramic tube maintained at 160° C which is in turn surrounded by a high frequency coil. The unit was flushed with helium for 20 secs followed by hydrogen (carrier gas) during which time the coil was heated to its Curie point within 0.1s $(510^{\circ}$ C). The pyrolysed sample was then flushed onto the beginning of the column. G.C was performed on a Carlo Erba (4200) G.C with a Quadrex 007 series bonded OV-1701 column (100 m x 0.32 mm 1 µm film).

2.4.2 Curie point Py-MS.

The pyrolysis unit used (FOM-3LX) (Figure 2.4 B) has been described previously (Boon *et al.*, 1984). The pyrolysis is performed by the inductive heating of the sample on a ferromagnetic wire. The

volatile fragments enter the ion source of the mass spectrometer (Balzers QMA 150/QMG 511) through a heated expansion chamber and ionised by electron impact (17eV). The mass range 20-220 a.m.u were scanned at 10 scans/second (average 200).

2.4.3 Platinum filament pyrolysis.

Mass spectrometry was performed on a Jeol DX-303 double focussing mass spectrometer with a Jeol DCI unit and a Jeol DA-5000 data system.

Samples were dried, from particulate suspension or solution, onto the platinum sample loop of the MS probe. The wire was heated, resistively at a rate of 790°C/min upto 830°C. The evaporised sample was then ionised by either electron impact (17 eV) or chemical ionisation with ammonia at 20 Pa. The accelerating voltage was 3 KV, the scan speed one second and the dynamic resolution was 1200.



2.5 METHYLATION ANALYSIS.

The method used was essentially that of Hakomori, (1964) and Lomax et al., (1983; 1985). Samples were freezer milled as described previously and dried overnight, under vacuum, over P₂O₅. Approximately 10 mg samples were then accurately weighed out into soviral tubes and sonicated with 1ml of dry DMSO containing 0.151 mg methyl allose.

Methyl sulphinyl sodium was then prepared by adding 600 mg of petroleum ether washed sodium hydride to 12 ml of dry DMSO and sonicated under N₂ at 60°C for 1.5 hours. One ml of the methyl sulphinyl sodium was then added to the samples under N₂, sonicated for 30 mins and left at room temperature overnight.

Methyl iodide (1 ml) was then added to frozen samples in aliquots of 0.1ml x 3, 0.2 ml x 1 and 0.5 ml x 1 allowing 15 mins between each addition. The samples were then left for 2 hours after which methylation should have been complete.

The samples were then added to 20 ml of 5.5 M NaCl, the tubes being washed out with a further 5 ml. The pH was then adjusted to < 1.5 using 2N HCl. The solution was then extracted x 3 with chloroform, the chloroform extracts were then extracted x 1 with 0.05 M HCl and x 4 with water.

The chloroform extracts were then dried in 50 ml RB flasks and transferred back to soviral tubes containing 0.5 mg of quebrachitol. The chloroform was then evaporated off and 1 ml of 90% formic acid was added, under N2, sonicated and heated at 100°C for 5 hours. The

-59.-

formic acid was then evaporated off and 1 ml of 0.25 M H₂SO₄ was added under N₂, sonicated and left overnight at 100°C.

The acid was then removed by adding an excess of Amberlite IRA 400 (14-52 mesh) in the bicarbonate form and left for 30 mins, filtered into 50 ml RB flasks and evaporated. The samples were then redissolved in 1 ml of water and reduced by adding a small amount of sodium borodeuteride and left for 3 hrs. Excess borodeuteride was destroyed by adding 50 % aqueous acetic acid and evaporated to dryness x 4 with acid methanol and x 1 with methanol.

Acetic anhydride (1 ml) was added, sonicated and heated at 100°C overnight. Excess acetic anhydride was co-distilled off with toluene and the samples were then transferred to soviral tubes with chloroform and water. The aqueous layer was then removed and the chloroform layer washed a further three times with water then dried. The samples were then redissolved in 0.5 mls acetone for injection.

The permethylated sugars were then analysed by the method of Lomax *et al.*, (1985). Samples were run on 50 m x 0.33 mm (i.d) wall coated fused silica columns of SP-1000, CP-SIL 88 (both, 0.22 μ m film, Chrompak) and a fused silica bonded phase column of BP-1 (0.5 μ m film, S.G.E). Analysis was performed on Carlo-Erba 4160 and 5160 GC's with on column injection and flame ionisation detection. GC-MS was used for identification of peaks on BP-1. The gradients used were, 45°C up to 210°C at 39.9°C/min for CP-SIL 88 at 130 Pa, 50°C up to 220°C at 99.9°C/min for SP-1000 at 140 Pa and 50°C up to 190°C at 99.9°C/min for BP-1 at 130 Pa. The results were integrated from retention coefficients calculated from the internal standards (allose and

-60.-

quebrachitol) by a Spectra Physics SP4270 integrator linked to a Prime 550 computer via an RS232 interface (Lomax & Conchie, 1982).

2.6 ACETALATION/METHYLATION ANALYSIS.

The method used was essentially that of DeBelder & Norman (1968) and Lomax *et al.*, (1983). Samples were treated and weighed as for methylation analysis. Two ml of dry DMSO was added with 20 mg of p-toluene sulphonic acid. Approximately 2 ml of methyl vinyl ether was then condensed into the tubes. The tubes were sealed, mixed and kept at 15°C for 3.5 hours. The tubes were then centrifuged and the supernatant removed and the residues were washed x 3 with dry acetone, then dried overnight over P2O5.

The samples were then treated as for methylation analysis.

2.7 THIOACIDOLYSIS.

I would like to thank Dr C Lapierre (INRA, Grignon, France) for performing the thioacidolysis analysis.

The method used was that of Lapierre *et al.*, (1983; 1985) and pre-methylation of the samples was performed as described by Lapierre & Rolando, (1988).

Approximately 1 mg samples were pre-methylated with diazomethane

-61.-

which was prepared by reacting 2 g of N-methyl-nitroso-ptoluenesulphonamide, in 20 mls of 2-methoxyethanol/diethylether mixture (1/1, v/v) with 10 ml of 60 % (v/w) KOH (aq). One ml of this was then added to the samples and was allowed to stand for 24 hours at room temperature, this was repeated three times. The solvent was then evaporated off and the methylated samples were freeze dried. The freeze dried samples were then dissolved 10 in mls of dioxane/ethanethiol mixture (9/1, v/v) in 0.2M BF3 etherate. This was allowed to stand for four hours at 100°C. The cooled reaction mixture was then adjusted to pH 3.4 with 0.4M NaHCO3 (aq) and extracted with dichloromethane. Hexacosane (0.107 mg) in dichloromethane was added (internal standard) and the extracts were dried over Na₂SO₄, evaporated and redissolved in 1 ml of dichloromethane. The samples were then silylated by adding 10 µl of sample to 50 µl of BSTFA and 5 µl pyridine and left at room temperature for 24 hours.

GC and GC-MS were performed on a Girdel model 30 GC fitted with a moving needle type injector, a fused silica capillary column (50 m x 0.32 mm (i.d) 1 μ m film thickness, CPSIL 5CB, Chrompak) and combined with either a flame ionisation detector or with a Nermag R 10-10B quadropole spectrometer operating in electron impact mode (70eV). The carrier gas was helium (1.5 bar inlet pressure) and the temperature was programmed from 180°C-280°C (+5°C/min) with the injector at 260°C and the detector at 280°C. Each analysis was performed on 5 μ l of silylated sample. Integration was performed by a Shimadzu integrator.

-62.-

2.8 SPECTROSCOPY.

2.8.1 InfraRed spectroscopy (IR).

I would like to thank Dr J.D.Russel and Mr A.R.Fraser of the Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Aberdeen for performing the IR analysis of the LCC's.

All infrared spectra, except those of ryegrass and barley straw LCC's were recorded from 2.5 mg 13 mm KBr disc on a Pye Unicam SP3-200 IR spectrophotometer.

The spectra for DMSO soluble fractions were recorded from 0.8 mg 13mm KBr disc on a Perkin Elmer 580B spectrophotometer.

2.8.2 Ultra Violet Spectroscopy (U.V).

LCC's were dissolved in 50% aqueous DMSO $(^{v}/v)$ and their U.V spectra recorded on a Perkin Elmer 124 double beam spectrophotometer.

2.8.3 Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR).

I would like to thank Mr D.Rycroft (Dept of Chemistry, University of Glasgow, Glasgow) for performing the solution state NMR and the SERC solid state NMR service (Durham University, Durham) for the solid state NMR analysis.

¹³C NMR spectroscopy of the lignin carbohydrate complexes were recorded in D6-DMSO solution on a Bruker 200 MHz FT spectrometer operating at 50 MHz. Chemical shifts are expressed with respect to tetramethylsilane and set from the central resonance of DMSO at 39.5 ppm. The ¹H NMR spectra of FA-ARA was recorded at 200 MHz in CD30D solution. Two dimensional spectra were obtained by the COSY procedure. Solid state CP/MAS NMR spectra were obtained at the SERC solid-state NMR service, Durham, on a Varian VXR-300 spectrophotometer operating at 75.4 MHz at room temperature for 1^{3} C. Contact time was normally 1 ms, aquisition time 9.6 or 19.2 ms and relaxation delay 2 s, but contact times were varied up to 10 ms to check whether heterogeneous relaxation times distorted the relative signal intensities

2.8.4 Electron spin resonance spectroscopy (ESR).

I would like to thank Mr.D.MacPhail and Dr B.Goodman of the Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Aberdeen, for performing the ESR analysis.

ESR spectra were recorded on a Varian E104 spectrometer operating at approximately 9.5 GHz (x-band) frequency.

The spectra were recorded from solid samples at room temperature with a microwave power of 1 mW, a modulation amplitude of 2.5 G and a receiver gain of 6.3 x 10^{11} for ryegrass LCC and 2 x 10^4 for the barley LCC.

-64.-

3.0. RESULTS/DISCUSSION.

3.1 MILD ACID HYDROLYSIS.

3.1.1 Introduction.

Barley straw (Hordeum vulgare c.v Golden Promise) and perennial ryegrass (Lolium perenne c.v Perma) were chosen as the starting materials for this research as it was thought that the poorly lignified ryegrass and, relatively, highly lignified barley straw may provide an interesting contrast in the nature and distribution of their phenolic components and in their linkage patterns to the carbohydrates. Straw is a natural source of relatively pure secondary cell walls whereas ryegrass contains a mixture of primary and secondary cell walls. In order to facilitate direct comparison of the two and to increase the phenolic content of the starting material, a non mesophyll-fraction of ryegrass was used.

As mentioned in the introduction, arabinose has been implicated as being of particular importance in phenolic-carbohydrate linking (Chesson *et al.*, 1983) and bridging the hemicellulose to the lignin (Chesson, 1988). It was therefore thought that a useful starting point for this investigation would be the selective removal of arabinose.

Glycosidic linkages vary greatly in their response to acid hydrolysis (Lindberg *et al.*, 1975). Some, such as the Glc β 1-4 Glc linkages found in cellulose, are very stable and need extensive and harsh treatment for complete hydrolysis. Others, such as those between the xylose units

-65.-

in a β 1-4 xylan, are less stable and need less extensive, or harsh, treatment. Amongst the weakest linkages known in cell walls are those involving arabinofuranose, especially those between arabinofuranosyl residues and arabinofuranose-xylopyranose residues. It should therefore be possible to selectively cleave these units by using very mildly acidic conditions (Fry, 1982).

3.1.2 Oxalate hydrolysis.

Hydrolysis with oxalic acid brought about a 26.3% weight loss in barley straw and a 36.4% weight loss in ryegrass. Table 3.1.2.1 shows the chemical compositions of barley straw and ryegrass, before and after oxalate hydrolysis. Mild acid treatment solubilised a considerable proportion of the arabinose with, 68.41% and 83.06%, of the original, being solubilised in barley and ryegrass respectively. The two starting materials showed a considerable difference in response with regards to phenolics. In barley straw, relatively little of the phenolic material was solubilised, (47.82% of the phenolic acids and 19.01% of the lignin), whereas in ryegrass 70.91% of the phenolic acids and 60.31% of the lignin was released. This could suggest a higher phenolic substitution of the arabinose in the ryegrass compared to barley straw or may reflect the higher solubilisation of arabinose in the ryegrass. It can also be seen that ferulic acid and the dimeric acids were more readily solubilised than *p*-coumaric acid, which seems to have been preferentially retained in both the ryegrass and barley straw.

-66.-

TABLE 3.1.2.1. Chemical composition of barley straw (BS) and the non-mesophyll fraction of ryegrass (RG) and their residues (BS & RG HYD) after oxalate hydrolysis.

Results expressed as % dry matter (% of original).

BS	BS H	YD (73.70)	RG	RG HY	7D(63.60)
0.20	0.05	(18.43)	0.14	0.15	(68.14)
0.11	0.05	(33.50)	0.27	0.28	(65.95)
2.24	0.96	(31.59)	4.73	1.26	(16.94)
20.49	22.73	(81.75)	21.98	23.98	(69.39)
0.37	0.24	(47.81)	1.27	0.23	(11.52)
0.78	0.17	(16.06)	5.78	0.28	(3.08)
28.39	27.22	(70.66)	27.38	38.27	(88.89)
16.06	15.99	(73.38)	14.47	10.26	(45.09)
47.63	51 .9 2		61.55	64. 45	
0.20	0.11	(40.54)	0.11	0.04	(23.13)
0.03	0.04	(98.27)	0.05	0.03	(38.16)
0.26	0.30	(85.04)	0.23	0.15	(41.48)
0.02	0.02	(73.70)	0.17	0.06	(22.45)
0.20	0.14	(51.59)	0.51	0.16	(19.95)
0.06	0.04	(49.13)	0.08	0.02	(15.90)
0.78	0.64	(52.18)	1.14	0.45	(29.09)
9.50	10.44	(80.99)	4.71	2.94	(39.69)
10.28	11.08		5.85	3.39	
57.13	63.00		66.99	77.39	
	BS 0.20 0.11 2.24 20.49 0.37 0.78 28.39 16.06 47.63 0.20 0.03 0.26 0.02 0.20 0.02 0.20 0.06 0.78 9.50 10.28 57.13	BS BS H 0.20 0.05 0.11 0.05 2.24 0.96 20.49 22.73 0.37 0.24 0.78 0.17 28.39 27.22 16.06 15.99 47.63 51.92 0.20 0.11 0.03 0.04 0.26 0.30 0.02 0.02 0.20 0.14 0.78 0.64 9.50 10.44 10.28 11.08 57.13 63.00	BS BS HYD (73.70) 0.20 0.05 (18.43) 0.11 0.05 (33.50) 2.24 0.96 (31.59) 20.49 22.73 (81.75) 0.37 0.24 (47.81) 0.78 0.17 (16.06) 28.39 27.22 (70.66) 16.06 15.99 (73.38) 47.63 51.92 0.20 0.11 (40.54) 0.03 0.04 (98.27) 0.26 0.30 (85.04) 0.02 0.02 (73.70) 0.20 0.14 (51.59) 0.78 0.64 (52.18) 9.50 10.44 (80.99) 10.28 11.08 57.13 63.00	BSBS HYD (73.70)RG 0.20 0.05 (18.43) 0.14 0.11 0.05 (33.50) 0.27 2.24 0.96 (31.59) 4.73 20.49 22.73 (81.75) 21.98 0.37 0.24 (47.81) 1.27 0.78 0.17 (16.06) 5.78 28.39 27.22 (70.66) 27.38 16.06 15.99 (73.38) 14.47 47.63 51.92 61.55 0.20 0.11 (40.54) 0.11 0.03 0.04 (98.27) 0.05 0.26 0.30 (85.04) 0.23 0.02 0.02 (73.70) 0.17 0.20 0.14 (51.59) 0.51 0.06 0.04 (49.13) 0.08 0.78 0.64 (52.18) 1.14 9.50 10.44 (80.99) 4.71 10.28 11.08 5.85 57.13 63.00 66.99	BSBS HYD (73.70)RGRG HYD 0.20 0.05 (18.43) 0.14 0.15 0.11 0.05 (33.50) 0.27 0.28 2.24 0.96 (31.59) 4.73 1.26 20.49 22.73 (81.75) 21.98 23.98 0.37 0.24 (47.81) 1.27 0.23 0.78 0.17 (16.06) 5.78 0.28 28.39 27.22 (70.66) 27.38 38.27 16.06 15.99 (73.38) 14.47 10.26 47.63 51.92 61.55 64.45 0.20 0.11 (40.54) 0.11 0.04 0.03 0.04 (98.27) 0.05 0.03 0.26 0.30 (85.04) 0.23 0.15 0.02 0.02 (73.70) 0.17 0.06 0.20 0.14 (51.59) 0.51 0.16 0.06 0.04 (49.13) 0.08 0.02 0.78 0.64 (52.18) 1.14 0.45 9.50 10.44 (80.99) 4.71 2.94 10.28 11.08 5.85 3.39 57.13 63.00 66.99 77.39

(Lignin = acetyl bromide phenolics - total phenolic acids).

Methylation analysis of the starting materials (Table 3.1.2.2) shows a general consistency with previously published data (Lomax *et al.*, 1983; Gordon *et al.*, 1985), although both barley straw and ryegrass showed a lower recovery of 2,3,6-*O-Me* glucose. Comparison of the methylated sugar analysis with alditol acetate analysis shows several discrepancies. This demonstrates one of the major problems associated with alditol acetate analysis due to the wide range of labilities of glycosidic linkages in polysaccharides compared to those between permethylated sugars (Lomax *et al.*, 1983).

Acetalation/methylation analysis of the starting materials and oxalate hydrolysed barley straw residue (Table 3.1.2.3) clearly showed that, in barley straw, at least, the di-substituted sugars would seem to be most resistant to oxalate hydrolysis with 59.34% of the original 2,5-arabinose and 148.17% of the 2,3-xylose retained after extraction. The high retention of phenolic material would then suggest that they are mainly di-substituted especially to xylose, and that di-substitutions stabilise these, usually weak, glycosidic bonds. This is unlikely to be due to electron delocalisation (Jarvis, personal communication), but could possibly be due to steric hindrance. Table 3.1.2.2. Methylation analysis of barley straw and non-mesophyll

ryegrass.

Results expressed as % dry matter.

	Barley	Ryegrass
2,3,4- <i>0-Me-</i> ARA	0.053	0.126
2,3,5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	1.747	3.556
2,3- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	0.299	0.519
2,5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	0.391	0.559
3,5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	0.265	0.570
ÚNME-ARA	0.091	-
TOTAL-ARA	2.846	5.330
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	0.320	0.721
2,3- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	14.366	10.776
2,4- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	0.177	0.495
2-O-Me-XYL	2.179	3.821
3-O-Me-XYL	1.337	1.507
<i>UNME</i> -XYL	0.784	1.984
TOTAL-XYL	19.163	19.304
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	0.127	0.126
3- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	0.135	0.103
4- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	0.076	
TOTAL-RHA	0.338	0.229
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -FUC	+	-
2,4- <i>0-Me</i> -FUC	0.216	-
2- <i>0-Me</i> -FUC	0.316	-
TOTAL-FUC	0.532	-
2,3,4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.939	0.219
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.129	1.149
2,3,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	26.908	21.883
2,4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.913	2.371
2,3- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	1.277	0.727
2,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	1.094	1.949
3 ,6-<i>0-Me</i>- GLC	0.605	0.365
2- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.209	0.226
6- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	0.185	-
UNME-GLC	0.318	0.355
TOTAL-GLC	32.577	29.244
2,3,4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GAL	0.551	0.872
2,3,4- <i>O-Me</i> -GAL	0.138	0.272
2,3,6- <i>O-Me</i> -GAL	0.126	0.222
2,4,6- <i>O-Me</i> -GAL	0.519	+

4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GAL	0.116	0.114
TOTAL-GAL	1.450	1.480
2,3,6- <i>0-Me</i> -MAN	0.349	0.077
3,4,6- <i>O-Me</i> -MAN	+	-
2,6- <i>O-Me</i> -MAN	+	+
TOTAL-MAN	0.349	0.077
TOTAL CARBOHYDRATE	57.255	55.664

+ = less than 0.05%.

TABLE 3.1.2.3. Acetalation/Methylation analysis of starting materials and oxalate hydrolysed barley straw.

-70.-

Results expressed as % dry matter (% of original).

ALKALI LABILE SUBSTITUTIONS	Barley	Barley oxalate :	residue Ryegrass
2,5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	0.154	0.124 (59.34)	0.129
5-0-Me-ARA	0.369	0.054 (10.79)	0.598
2,3- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	1.047	2.105 (148.17)	0.880
2-0-Me-XYL	1.932	0.847 (32.31)	2.0 40
3- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	1.611	0.816 (37.33)	1.154

Infrared (IR) spectroscopy of the starting materials (Figures 3.1.2.1 A & 3.1.2.1 B) supports the chemical data i.e lignin (1420, 1450 (not in ryegrass) and 1500), strong pyranose β linked C1 (896) and high acetyl (1730 and 1250). It is interesting to note that the C=O stretch (1730) is more intense in ryegrass than barley straw, whereas the acetyl band at 1210 is similar in both. Interestingly, compared with the results of Russell et al., (1988), no trace of silica (800) could be seen in the barley straw. Comparison of the spectra for the original materials and oxalate hydrolysed materials (Figures 3.1.2.2 A and 3.1.2.2 B) show no apparent change in gross composition.

The solubilised fractions from oxalate hydrolysis were found, by thin layer chromatography (TLC, solvent system 1), to be highly complex mixtures of monomeric and oligomeric carbohydrate and unresolved phenolic material. The oxalate soluble fractions were freeze dried and extracted with methanol to produce methanol soluble and methanol insoluble fractions (water soluble). This fractionation brought about the solubilisation, in methanol, of 65.9% for barley straw and 54.13% for ryegrass, representing 17.33% and 19.70% of the starting materials respectively.

As can be seen from their chemical compositions (Table 3.1.2.4), the bulk of the arabinose and phenolic material would seem to be soluble in methanol with approximately 50% of the barley straw phenolic acids and over 60% of the ryegrass phenolic acids going into the methanol fraction. Further analysis showed that methanol soluble phenolics were predominantly ferulic acid.

-71.-

autoritus Figure 3.1.2.1 Infrared spectra of A) Barley straw; and B)er of also oblight of the Ryegrass. And the second straw and the second of the second second straw and the second second

Al (A.S.I.S. book of the second sound to make a second to be and the second sound of the second sound so



WAVENUMBER (Cm-I)

-72.-

,

Figure 3.1.2.2 Infrared spectra of A) Oxalate hydrolysed barley straw and B) Oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass.

2

.



TABLE 3.1.2.4. Chemical composition of hydrolysate fractions (Barley straw (BS) and ryegrass (RG) water (H2O) and methanol (MeOH) soluble.

Results expressed as % dry matter (% of original in starting materials).

	BS H2O(8.97)	BS MeOH(17.33)	RG H2O(16.7)	RG MEOH(19.7)
RHAMNOSE	-	0.17 (14.73)	1.03 (122.86)	-
FUCOSE	0.50 (40.77)	0.25 (39.39)	0.45 (27.83)	-
ARABINOSE	1.61 (6.45)	14.38 (111.25)	4.49 (15.85)	23.09 (96.17)
XYLOSE	36.76 (16.09)	38.86 (41.98)	20.61 (15.66)	34.80(31.19)
MANNOSE	0.66 (16.00)	0.96 (69.32)	1.92 (25.25)	0.32 (51.49)
GALACTOSE	2.97 (34.16)	4.12 (91.54)	2.47 (7.14)	4.61 (15.71)
GLUCOSE	13.26 (1.32)	5.22 (3.19)	34.32 (20.93)	2.14 (1.54)
URONIC ACIDS	6.02 (3.36)	9.87 (10.65)	11.00 (12.69)	10.97 (14.93)
TOTAL CARBOHYDRATE	55.76	63.96	65.29	67.9
TRUXILLIC ACID	0.00 -	0.34 (29.46)	-	0.14 (25.07)
cis-COUMARIC ACID	0.01 (0.12)	0.07 (40.44)	-	0.08 (31.52)
trans-COUMARIC ACID	0.08 (23.92)	0.41 (27.33)	-	0.59 (50.53)
cis-FERULIC ACID	0.04 (17.94)	0.13 (112.65)	-	0.38 (44.03)
trans-FERULIC ACID	0.17 (7.62)	1.08 (93.58)	-	2.20 (84.98)
DIFERULIC ACID	0.08 (11.96)	0.21 (60.66)	-	0.20 (49.25)
TOTAL PHENOLIC ACIDS	0.38 (4.37)	2.25 (49.99)	-	3.54 (61.17)
LIGNIN	4.46 (4.21)	11.96 (21.82)	-	7.87 (32.92)
TOTAL PHENOLICS	4.84	14.21	3.46	11.41
TOTAL	66.62	78.17	79.74	0.34

Infrared analysis of the barley straw and ryegrass MeOH fractions (Figures 3.1.2.3 A & 3.1.2.3 B) clearly show high acetyl and ester contents, little can be ascertained from the lignin regions (1400-1650) and little detail can be determined from the carbohydrate region. Comparison of the infrared spectra for the water soluble fractions (Figures 3.1.2.4 A & 3.1.2.4 B) show some distinct differences, the large absorptions in barley straw fraction at 1400-1450 and 1500-1700 araise from carboxyl groups but not from oxalate (Russell, personnal communication). The ryegrass fraction is more similar to the MeOH fractions.

and the second of a desired by sufficients of the second states of the second second second second second second

the state of the second state of the second

- Acre has been here been of the

where a new process of the second second strain strain and the second second second second second second second

1.31.023.03 Charles and the second s 196-2119-09-4 7.44 . 14.4 1000 1000 ALLEY GELS (8...60...76.0 1 1.141 00.00 Acres 199 nde Stratte 101.111 Sug - E.J. 10.1 decor 197 and 1. - 1. - 1. - 1 100.611 .0.45 (38.1)× 86.04 1 19. 31 at Sr - AG 44 Z 5 St. 1 1521521 2011 (128). CON 18010 106.311 00.0 2.4.14 AP t distante.2 ant conserves ate de part 11.6142 1.02.00.00 168 × 04 and a start W. COMP. the state of the ан с^а 1. S. S. 14 . Distance end in a series 4 C 2 . ц**і** 40 DOMESTIC Carlos Anta Roman Figure 3.1.2.4 Infrared spectra of A) Barley MeOH and B) . :

¹ Style and all of the toth school of the decision we then tothe distances which is a second structure of the distance of



Figure 3.1.2.4 Infrared spectra of A) Barley H₂O and B)

Ryegrass H₂O.

-

2



,

3.1.3 Isolation and characterisation of FA-ARA.

TLC (solvent system 1) of ryegrass and barley straw methanol soluble fractions clearly showed the presence of arabinose, xylose and a series of carbohydrate oligomers (probably xylan fragments). Location of phenolic compounds (by examination under U.V light) revealed two, strongly fluorescing spots at (r.f's) 0.87 and 0.80. On exposure to NH₃ 0.87 turned bright yellow/green and the spot at the spot at 0.80 turned deep blue, suggestive of ferulic acid and p-coumaric acid esters respectively (Fry, 1988). Both spots were found to consistently cochromatograph with carbohydrate spots, even when run on paper chromatography. Preliminary attempts at purification by preparative TLC, and subsequent alkaline hydrolysis, suggested that the spot at 0.87 was ferulic acid, ester linked to arabinose (FA-ARA) and the spot at 0.80 was p-coumaric acid also ester linked to arabinose. Ferulic acid and p-coumaric acid (p-CA-ARA) were identified by TLC (solvent system 2) and arabinose by GC analysis as its alditol acetate.

In order to increase yields of these components, preparative HPLC was used as a rapid purification method. As can be seen (Figure 3.1.3.1) a number of U.V absorbing components were separated, the four major peaks designated A, B, C and D were each isolated. Analysis of the separated peaks by TLC showed that peaks A and B both ran as a single phenolic-carbohydrate spot with the same r.f as that found for the proposed p-coumaric acid-arabinose (0.80), thus

-77.-
suggesting that the HPLC peaks A & B represented the *cis* and *trans* isomers of the *p*-coumaric acid respectively. The same was also found to be true for peaks C and D which ran with the same r.f as that for the proposed ferulic acid-arabinose spot (0.87). TLC also revealed some oligomeric carbohydrate as a contaminant. Unfortunately, yields of the peaks were very low and only peak D could be collected in significant quantities.

Once collected, peak D was further purified by molecular sieve chromatography on Sephadex G-10 to yield a bright yellow powder which, on alkali hydrolysis produced only ferulic acid (identified by TLC) and arabinose (identified as its alditol acetate by GC). The strict that is taken products a fer in represented the cis and trace some and the production of the number of the number of the number was also found to an trace the trace of the number of the second of the number of the trace of the number of the nu

Consected, peak D was further purified by molecular λ . A second context of the further purified by molecular λ . A second context of the second cont

-

Figure 3.1.3.1 Separation

• . .



The infrared (IR) spectrum for FA-ARA (Figure 3.1.3.2) shows major absorption bands at 3680-3020 (O-H stretch), 2930 (C-H stretch), 1720-1670 (C=O stretch), 1630 (aliphatic C=C stretch), 1595 (aromatic C=C stretch), 1510 (aromatic C=C stretch), 1430 (CH3-O), 1300-1240 (acetyl ester C=O stretch), 1200-1145 (unassigned), 1040 (carbohydrate C-O), 850 and 822 (possibly trisubstituted aromatic pattern, 822 not present in standard spectrum of ferulic acid). This agrees closely with the spectrum observed for 2-O-[5-O-(trans-feruloyl)-a-Larabinofuranosyl]-D-xylopyranose (Smith & Hartley, 1983) and $O-\beta-D$ xylopyranosyl-(1-4)-O-[5-O-trans-feruloyl)-a-L-arabinofuranosyl-(1 3)]- $O-\beta-D-xy$ lopyranosyl-(1-4)-D-xylopyranose (Kato *et al.*, 1987). The spectrum for HPLC peak B (Figure 3.1.3.3) was, essentially, very similar to that of FA-ARA. The unassigned band at 1430, in FA-ARA, was missing, as it is in the standard spectrum for p-coumaric acid. The proposed tri-substitution pattern in FA-ARA (850 and 822) was, as expected, not present and have been replaced by a single band at 835 similar to a para substitution pattern.

the product of the spectrum for FA-ARA (Sign - 11.3.2) shows minan the Bondon bendarias (680-2020 (0-H structure), 0930 (0-N structure), 1793 1679. (CeO silected, 10.10. tobybolic cells and the 1396 (area atta tan, 0.82-00°F 100- 309 0021 problem to the strength Official Information . For the set of the second construction $\sum_{i=1}^{n} e_{i} = 1$, where $e_{i} = 0$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{n} e_{i} = 0$ a stitute georean of forestig of the open closely with n n D-Uzolu-A-anerth-O-71-0 2 lentrazón attrane is arabinofreeday (4.5-synapping $\mathbf{\ddot{g}}$ (shith 4 fartley, 1983) and 6.6sylogyranosyl-(1+0+0+(5+0) o assigersko (+++++ arabinofuranosyl-(1-2) $(\mathbb{H}^{2n})^{n}$ (i.e. $(\mathbb{A}^{n})^{n}$) $(\mathbb{H}^{2n})^{n}$ $(\mathbb{H}^{2n})^{n}$ $(\mathbb{H}^{2n})^{n}$ $(\mathbb{H}^{2n})^{n}$ $(\mathbb{H}^{2n})^{n}$ $(\mathbb{H}^{2n})^{n}$, ale 1, 697 . Misimuker - 208 . Childle Hermer of anter 2010 and anter 20 and alternothy and an array and alternative and the of the standard and , where (650) and (672) and (650) and (670) and (670) and (670)speciel, and provide and have been replaced by a single back as method notifitited on an and a munitia

-.(i):[**-**



WAVENUMBER (Cm⁻¹)

Figure 3.1.3.3. Infrared spectra of p-CA-ARA.

•

.

د **.** .

.

2





:





¹H NMR analysis of FA-ARA gave the spectrum shown in figure 3.1.3.4 A & B, the NMR signals were assigned, as shown in table 3.1.3.1, these assignments were based upon comparison with ¹H NMR spectra for authentic α -L-arabinofuranose and *trans*-ferulic acid (Table 3.1.3.2) and comparison with published data (Smith & Hartley, 1983; Meuller Harvey *et al.*, 1986). Figure 3.1.3.5 demonstrates the numbering system used for designating the protons in ferulic acid and arabinose.

Figure 3.1.3.5 Numbering system for designation of protons.





-84.-

TABLE 3.1.3.1.	Assignment	of	1H	NMR	signals	for	FA-ARA.
----------------	------------	----	----	-----	---------	-----	---------

δ	J	ASSIGNMENT
7.64	16/2	FER H-2
7.11	2	FER H-5
7.02	8/2	FER H-9
6.73	8	FER H-8
6.30	16	FER H-3
5.15-5.17		ARA H-1
4.18-4.40		ARA H-5/6
3.90		ARA H-4
3.85-4.05		ARA H-2
3.85	SINGLET	FER H-10
3.50-3.70		ARA H-3

TABLE 3.1.3.2. Assignments of ¹H NMR signals for standard a-L-Arabinose and *trans*-Ferulic acid.

a-L-ARAB	INOFURANOSE		TRA	ANS-FERUI	LIC ACID	
δ	J	ASSIGNMENT	δ	J	ASSIGNMEN	T
5.08	3	H-1	7.58	16	H-2	
4.85	SINGLET	METHANOL-OH	7.15	2	H-5	
3.97	12/1.5	H-3	7.05	8/2	H-9	
3.85	3/2	H-4	6.80	8	H-8	
3.75	10/3	H-5/6	6.29	16	Н-3	
3.55	12/3	H-2	3.88	SINGLET	H-10	
3.30	MULTIPLET	METHANOL-OC	Нз			

-85.-

ASSIMULTERA		· · · · · ·
8-15-18-1	j (N81	1. A. T
LER H-S	2.4 •	
e-H ANA	8/2	
发·说:"说话问	4	•
6-11 HBR		(1, 0)
1-H A.R.A		₹ 1.6- 51.8
ARA H-R.		01,1+85,1
ARA 11-4		3,90
1-H 131.		in the second
이1-팀 유국제	STACL YT	08.S
Figure 3.1.3.6 2	2-D COSY NMR spectrum of	FA-ARA.

010A_01	AVA-FERUL	31		通报0 回7月1日日	R18400 1-0
LATINE AND A STATE		<u></u>	VBSTUMMENT	<u> </u>	A
5-H	At	88.	j	4. 4.	50 . a
d -H	2	7.15	METHANOL-OH	SIMUL BT	· [1]
6-H	378	7.05	K-3	12/1.5	78.6
8-H	53	08.0	±	3/2	58.8
8-н	許」に	6.2 9	the states	5\01	0.25
01-H	SINGLET	98.0	公一種	8 \ \$\$\$	a
	· /	ť	METHANOL-OCH	ADUTTER	3.30



-86.-

The downfield shift of ARA H 5 & 6 is indicitive of an ester linkageat the O-5 position.

Figure 3.1.3.7 shows the proposed structure of FA-ARA *i.e trans*-ferulic acid ester linked through the O-5 of a-L-arabinofuranose or 5-O-(trans-feruloyl)-a-L-arabinofuranose.

Figure 3.1.3.7 Structure of 5-O-(trans-feruloyl)-a-L-arabinfuranose.



3.2 DMSO EXTRACTION.

3.2.1 Introduction.

In the Gramineae, at least, the only sugar to have been conclusivelyshown to be covalently bound to phenolic material is arabinose. It was thought likely that any lignin-carbohydrate linkages in oxalate insoluble residues of graminaceous walls would, in all probability, be to sugars other than arabinose. In order to study some of these linkages, the oxalate hydrolysed material was extracted with DMSO to yield a lignin-carbohydrate complex (LCC). DMSO is a very powerful organic solvent, which cleaves hydrogen bonds, and has previously been used for the extraction of LCC's and hemicellulose (Morrison, 1974 B: Bouveng & Lindberg, 1965: Joseleau & Gancet, 1981).

3.2.2 DMSO extraction.

DMSO extraction resulted in a 12.1% weight loss in oxalate hydrolysed barley straw and a 18.6% weight loss in oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass.

Table 3.2.1.1 shows the chemical composition of the DMSO extracted materials.

-88.-

TABLE 3.2.2.1. Chemical composition of DMSO residues.

Results expressed as % dry matter (% of original).

Б	Barley MSO residue (64.78)	Ryegrass DMSO residue (51.77)
RHAMNOSE	0.11 (35.62)	0.00 -
FUCOSE	0.37 (217.89)	0.31 (59.43)
ARABINOSE	0.88 (25.45)	1.29 (14.12)
XYLOSE	21.79 (68.89)	19.68 (46.35)
MANNOSE	0.10 (17.51)	0.27 (11.01)
GALACTOSE	0.08 (6.64)	0.08 (0.72)
GLUCOSE	34.29 (78.24)	54.41 (102.88)
URONIC ACIDS		18.46 (66.17)
TOTAL CARBOHYDRATE	57.62	76.04
TRUXILLIC ACID	0.00 -	0.12 (56.48)
<i>cis</i> -COUMARIC ACID	0.03 (64.78)	0.04 (41.42)
trans-COUMARIC ACID	0.24 (59.79)	0.18 (40.52)
cis-FERULIC ACID	0.00 -	0.08 (24.36)
trans-FERULIC ACID	0.09 (29.15)	0.21 (21.32)
DIFERULIC ACID	0.02 (21.59)	0.02 (12.94)
TOTAL PHENOLIC ACID	0.38 (31.56)	0.64 (29.06)
LIGNIN	12.73 (86.80)	
TOTAL PHENOLICS	13.11	-
TOTAL	70.35	77.33

As can be seen from Table 3.2.2.1, the significant difference from the oxalate hydrolysed samples is a loss of xylose. Interestingly, DMSO seems to have extracted approximately 20% of the original phenolic acids in barley straw but very little in the ryegrass.

Table 3.2.2.2 shows the results of methylation analysis of the DMSO extracted residues. It is interesting to note that the remaining arabinose is mainly terminal, and in barley in the pyranose form.

Taking 2,3,4-O-methyl xylose as terminal residues, it would appear that the average chain length is higher than in the starting materials.

TABLE 3.2.2.2. Methylation analysis of DMSO residues.

Results expressed as % dry matter (% of original).

	Barley DMSO resid	ue Ryegrass DMSO residue
2.3.5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	1.017	0.723
2.3- <i>O-Me</i> -ARA	0.081	0.275
2.5-0-Me-ARA	+	+
3.4-0-Me-ABA	0.883	0.112
$3.5 - 0 - M_{\odot} ABA$	0.112	0.229
$5 - \Omega - M - \Delta B \Delta$	_	+
UNME-ARA	+	~
TOTAL ARABINOS	E 2.093	1.339
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	0.382	0.568
2,3- <i>O-Me</i> -XYL	20.843	14.954
2,4- <i>O-Me</i> -XYL	+	0.169
2-O-Me-XYL	1.587	1.458
3-0-Me-XYL	1.469	0.819
UNME-XYL	0.171	0.559
TOTAL XYLOSE	24.452	18.527
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	+	0.115
2,4- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	+	-
3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	+	-
4- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	+	-
TOTAL RHAMNOSE	-	0.115
3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -FUC	+	_
2- <i>0-Me</i> -FUC	+	-
TOTAL FUCOSE	-	-
2,3,4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.399	0.469
2,3,4- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	0.570	0.206
2,3,6- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	49.129	49.944
2,4,6- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	0.828	0.303
2,3- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	2.352	2.345
2,4- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	+	_
2,6-0-Me-GLC	1.742	1.053
3,6- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	1.128	0.840
4,6- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	+	+
2-0-Me-GLC	0.257	0.281
3-O-Me-GLC	0.087	+
6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.241	0.161
UNME-GLC	0.158	0.104
TOTAL GLUCOSE	56.891	55.706
2.3.4.6-0-Me-GAL	0.168	0 348
2.3.4- <i>O-Me</i> -GAL	+	+
, ,	•	•

-90.-

2,3,6-0	- <i>Me</i> -GAL	-	0.488
2,4,6-0	<i>-Me</i> -GAL	0.092	0.084
2,3-0-1	Me-GAL	+	0.099
2,6-0-1	Me-GAL	+	-
3,6-0-1	Me-GAL	-	+
4,6-0-1	Me-GAL	0.620	-
TOTAL	GALACTOSE	0.880	1.019
2,3,4,6-	- <i>O-Me</i> -MAN	-	+
2,3,4-0	- <i>Me</i> -MAN	+	0.390
2,3,6-0	- <i>Me</i> -MAN	0.123	0.585
3,4,6-0	- <i>Me</i> -MAN	-	+
2,6-0-1	Me-MAN	-	0.067
TOTAL	MANNOSE	0.123	1.042
TOTAL	CARBOHYDRATE	84.439	77.748

+ = less than 0.05%.

. 1

Acetalation/Methylation analysis (Table 3.2.2.3) again shows a retention of the disubstituted xylose, whereas significant the disubstituted arabinose content has been reduced.

TABLE 3.2.2.3. Acetalation/Methylation analysis of DMSO residues.

Results expressed as % dry matter (% of original).

1. A start of the second

ALKALI LABILE SUBSTITUTIONS	Barley DMSO residue	Ryegrass DMSO residue
2,5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	0.044 (18.51)	0.043 (17.26)
5-0-Me-ARA	0.038 (6.67)	0.493 (42.68)
2,3- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	1.330 (82.29)	1.958 (115.19)
2-O-Me-XYL	0.531 (17.80)	1.998 (50.70)
3-0-Me-XYL	0.456 (18.34)	1.801 (80.76)

Comparison of the IR spectra of barley DMSO residue (Figure 3.2.2.1 A) and barley oxalate residue (Figure 3.1.2.2 A) shows no significant structural changes except for a possible, apparent increase in carbohydrate and ester content (1740). Comparison of the equivalent ryegrass fractions (Figures 3.2.2.1 B & 3.1.2.2 B) again shows no structural differences except for an apparent increase in carbohydrate content. Comparison of the barley and ryegrass DMSO residues samples show no difference except for, as would be expected, the major lignin bands at 1500 and 1455, which are more obvious in the barley fraction.

Figure 3.2.2.1 Infrared spectra of A) DMSO extracted, oxalate hydrolysed barley straw and B) DMSO extracted, oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass.

All and the second

-

A) and have control of the contro

1. 422



WAVENUMBER (Cm⁻¹)



WAVENUMBER (Cm⁻¹)

4

3.2.3 Purification and characterisation of Lignin-Carbohydrate complexes.

To assess the homogeneity of the solubilised lignin-carbohydrate complexes (LCC's), attempts were made to fractionate them by molecular sieve chromatography with a range of gels. As can be seen (Figure 3.2.3.1 A) Sephadex G-25 failed to fractionate the ryegrass complex. Sephadex G-100 (Figure 3.2.3.1 B), on the other hand, separated a phenolic-carbohydrate peak at the void volume, from extraneous phenolic and carbohydrate material which did not appear to be linked. The 'purified' ryegrass LCC from G-100 was then run on Sephadex G-200 (Figure 3.2.3.1 C) and Sepharose CL-6B (Figure 3.2.3.2 A) running, in each case, as a single phenolic-carbohydrate peak with the void volume. Very similar results were obtained for the barley straw LCC, both of them representing approximatly 26% of the solubilised material (3% of original barley straw and 4.5% of original ryegrass). The operating range of Sepharose CL-6B is up to 6x10⁶ daltons, therefore suggesting a very high molecular weight complex. As mentioned in the introduction, liquid chromatography in aqueous eluants, may cause aggregation of the LCC's (Conners et al., 1980). Similar DMSO soluble LCC's from perennial ryegrass (Morrison, 1974 B) were found to be included well inside Sephadex G-200, suggesting a Mwt of approximately 150 Kd. These complexes, however, were run with 10% DMSO which may be necessary to prevent aggregation, or the ball milling used by Morrison may have depolymerised the complexes.

In an attempt to assess the degree of alkali-labile linking between

-94.-

the phenolic and carbohydrate components, the purified LCC's were hydrolysed with alkali and rerun on Sepharose CL-6B. As can be seen there was a considerable difference in response between barley straw (Figure 3.2.3.3 B) and ryegrass (Figure 3.2.3.2 B) LCC's. The barley straw LCC has retained its original elution profile at the void volume but alkali hydrolysed approximately 50% of the phenolic material and a little carbohydrate. The ryegrass LCC, on the other hand, was considerably altered. Although the hydrolysed material was very similar to that obtained from barley straw, the elution profile of the high molecular weight LCC was very much different, with a downward shift of the carbohydrate component and very much less phenolic material being retained at the void volume.

TABLE 3.2.3.1. Chemical compositions of LCC'S.

Results expressed as % dry matter.

	Barley	LCC	Ryegrass	LCC
RHAMNOSE	0.00		0.00	
FUCOSE	0.31		0.00	
ARABINOSE	0.86		1.62	
XYLOSE	30.55		36. 90	
MANNOSE	0.08		0.00	
GALACTOSE	0.40		1.07	
GLUCOSE	4.85		4.69	
URONIC ACIDS	-		-	
TOTAL CARBOHYDRATE	37.05		44.28	
TRUXILLIC ACID	0.00		0.09	
cis-COUMARIC ACID	0.09		0.10	
trans-COUMARIC ACID	0.52		0.50	
cis-FERULIC ACID	0.00		0.30	
trans-FERULIC ACID	0.23		0.76	
DIFERULIC ACID	0.14		0.11	
TOTAL PHENOLIC ACIDS	0.9	97	1.86	
LIGNIN	28.58		7.67	
TOTAL PHENOLICS	29.55		9.53	
TOTAL	66.60		53.8 1	

a shart barran in the propagation and that the real (1) A second second parameter second 400 second se second sec and the first of the particular second the particular frequency straining of the second second second second se And there is the second sec and the second and a set of the set o neer waar to waard to a committee een alle alle aan alle aan die state oor alle alle een alle aan die state alle

and the setting and the set of the Figure 3.2.3.1 Ryegrass LCC on A) G-25, B) G-100 and C) G-200. $\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} \left$ and a second a de la compañía de l

> at 1 the state of and a second second

27.111、1000月年轻为达到	State yester	
)().()	(M. 4)	
00.0	18.6	and the second secon
50. 9 . 9	0.86	
142。142	40.00	
6 0,6	80.0	自己在 拉 着
	01.0	4.20 TO & 14.1
和特。此下		
	~	计算机会 建无效植物
新 <u>新</u> 、新学	11 5 2	《建新短期》增强本位自然的理
우승		
	60.5	an a
Oč.e	9.52	and a second
. 01.0		「「「「「「」」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「



-96.-

Figure 3.2.3.2 A) Ryegrass LCC on CL-6B and B) Alkali hydrolysed ryegrass LCC on CL-6B.

.2

\$

~



Figure 3.2.3.3 A) Barley straw LCC on CL-6B and B) Alkali hydrolysed Barley straw LCC on CL-6B.



•

.



-98.-

Although NaOH hydrolysis is not conclusive evidence of ester bonds between the phenolics and the carbohydrate it seems likely that this is the case and that in barley straw LCC, approximately half of the phenolics would appear to be linked by alkali labile linkages, whereas in ryegrass LCC a much higher proportion of the phenolics are bound by alkali labile linkages.

The U.V spectra for the LCC's (Figure 3.2.3.4 A & B) both show major absorption at 280 nm (barley λ max) suggestive of the presence of lignin. Both also show significant absorption around 320 nm (ryegrass λ max) which may suggest the presence of cinnamyl type ester linkages (Morrison, 1973). On the addition of sodium acetate, a noticable hypsochromic shift occurs in the barley straw LCC and a shift of max to 280 nm in ryegrass. It is thought that the absorption around 320 nm may arise from carboxyl groups. either free or as esters. If the carboxyls are free the addition of sodium acetate should produce this hypsochromic shift and, if they are present as esters, have no effect, or produce a bathochromic shift (Jurd, 1957). These results may indicate that a large proportion of the phenolic acids in barley straw LCC are present as ethers.

Unfortunately, identification of alkali labile linkages by acetalation/methylation analysis was not possible due to the difficulties involved in this analysis on soluble materials.

As can be seen from Table 3.2.3.1, and methylation analysis of the complexes (Table 3.2.3.2) the carbohydrate component would appear to predominantly consist of a β 1-4 xylan. Unlike the DMSO solubilised complexes of Morrison (1974 B) there would appear to be a significant

-99.-

amount of mixed linked glucan present. In barley straw the high 2,4,6 O-Me-Glucose content is similar to the 2,3,6 O-Me-Glucose content, thus suggesting that most, if not all, the 1-4 linked glucose comes from mixed linked glucan. Ryegrass LCC shows a much higher concentration of 1-4 linked to 1-3 linked glucose therefore suggesting the presence of some xyloglucan, which is more in line with the findings of Morrison (1974 B). The methylation analysis of Morrisons LCC also showed branching on the xylan chain at the O-3 position (side chains involving arabinose and galactose). Both, the ryegrass and barley straw LCC's however also suggest the presence of side chains at the O-2 position, strangely enough the ryegrass showing more O-2 branches than O-3.

The high concentration of xylose and low concentration of arabinose would the most likely sugar suggest that to be involved in phenolic-carbohydrate linkages is xylose. It has been suggested (Chesson et al., 1983) that alkali labile bonds between lignin and xylose do exist. As can be seen from Table 3.2.3.1, phenolic acids account for only 7% of the phenolics present, thus suggesting the presence of true lignin. It is interesting to note that ferulic acid is dominant in the ryegrass LCC whereas p-coumaric acid is predominant in the barley LCC, consistent with the theory of *p*-coumaric acid being more closely associated with lignin (Shimada et al., 1971: Scalbert et al., 1985).

-100.-

Figure 3.2.3.4 U.V Spectra of A) Barley straw LCC and B) Ryegrass

LCC. (____), (---- plus NaOAC).

and the constant of the state o



Table 3.2.3.2. Methylation analysis of LCC'S.

Results expressed as % dry matter.

	Barley LCC	Ryegrass LCC
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	-	0.415
2,3,5- <i>O-Me</i> -ARA	1.513	1.151
2,3- <i>O-Me</i> -ARA	0.120	0.207
2,5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	+	+
3,4- <i>O-Me</i> -ARA	+	+
3,5- <i>O-Me</i> -ARA	0.181	0.903
2 <i>-0-Me</i> -ARA	-	+
5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA	-	+
TOTAL-ARA	1.814	2.676
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	0.865	1.631
2,3- <i>O-Me</i> -XYL	52.768	55,602
2,4- <i>O-Me</i> -XYL	0.158	0.282
2-O-Me-XYL	2.243	4.306
3- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL	1.186	4.624
UNME-XYL	+	0.200
TOTAL-XYL	57.220	66.645
2,3,4- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	-	+
3- <i>0-Me</i> -RHA	-	0.469
TOTAL-RHA	-	0.469
2,3,4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	1.260	0.238
2,3,4- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	0.117	+
2,3,6-<i>O-Me</i>- GLC	3.437	5.254
2,4,6-<i>O-Me</i>- GLC	3.877	1.608
2,3- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.365	0.220
2,4- <i>O-Me</i> -GLC	0.362	+
2,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	-	+
3,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GLC	0.052	-
UNME-GLC	-	0.071
TOTAL-GLC	9.470	7.391
2,3,4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -GAL	0.266	0.542
2,3,4- <i>O-Me</i> -GAL	0.103	0.135
2,3,6- <i>O-Me</i> -GAL	+	0.036
TOTAL-GAL	0.369	0.713
2,3,4,6- <i>0-Me</i> -MAN	0.424	+
2,3,4- <i>O-Me</i> -MAN	+	+
TOTAL-MAN	0.424	+
TOTAL CARBOHYDRATE	E 69.297	77.894

+ = less than 0.05%.

The Infrared spectrum for barley LCC (Figure 3.2.3.5 A) demonstrates the presence of substantial acetyl, with characteristic absorptions at 1250 and C=O at 1733 Cm⁻¹. The lignin region, 1400-1650 suggests the presence of syringyl/vanillyl groups (Russell, personal, communication). A surprising amount of, what is proposed to be, inorganic sulphate 1120 and 630 is also present. The major carbohydrate bands (990, hemicellulose C-O 1030-1040, 1070-1090 and 1150-1180) are typical of xylan/glucan, but cannot be placed any further.

The spectra for the ryegrass LCC (Figure 3.2.3.5 B) is very similar to that for the barley straw, but its aromatic 'fingerprint', which not surprisingly has an apparently lower content.

Elemental analysis of the soluble complexes table 3.2.3.3 did not show any significant nitrogen content, unlike many other studies of LCC'S (Ford, 1986; Nordkvist, 1987; Conchie *et al.*, 1988). It is thought unlikely that mild acid hydrolysis could have been responsible for the removal of any N containing compounds.

Table 3.2.3.3 Elemental composition of LCC's.

ELEMENT	Barley LCC	Ryegrass LCC
С	46.90	43.50
H	5.62	5.84
N	0.01	0.17

Results expressed as % dry matter.

-103.-
.

Figure 3.2.3.5 Infrared spectra of A) Barley LCC and B) Ryegrass LCC.

a such as a such with trade is a such that the state of a last of a such as a such as a such as a such a such a

	The predation of the second of the second of the second se	
301 searcas		
$\{ \widehat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^n, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^n, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^n, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^n\}$		
48.7	ng sa sa na San sa sa	4





WAVENUMBER (Cm-I)

ŀ

In order to produce smaller phenolic-carbohydrate fragments, the barley straw LCC was incubated with driselase (a general cellulase preparation). The hydrolysed material was then passed through a column of Sephadex G-10 (Figure 3.2.3.6). A driselase blank showed that the U.V absorbing component at the void volume was from the enzyme preparation and did not contribute to any other U.V absorbing peak.

The structure of the lignin component in the barley straw LCC was further examined by ¹³C NMR (Figure 3.2.3.7). The assignments (Table 3.2.3.4) were based on comparison with published data (Himmelsbach & Barton, 1980: Nimz et al, 1981) and the assignment of the β 1-4 xylan were confirmed by comparison with a standard spectrum. The spectrum closely agrees with the methylation results i.e mainly β 1-4 xylan with some mixed linked β D-glucan. Unfortunately, very little can be seen in the aromatic region except, possibly some coumarate (the predominant phenolic acid present) and some coniferyl type structures. The presence of a significant methoxyl signal (signal 18) would, however, suggest a reasonable lignin content, or possibly a high syringyl content. Signal 19 (hydrocarbon -CH₂-) would indicate the presence of some 'lipid like' material.

-105.-

Le verde de la constance mathema **G**eneraliser de la parente de la general de la constance de

Barl



Figure 3.2.3.7 13C NMR spectrum of Barley LCC.



Table 3.2.3.4 Assignments of signals from ¹³C NMR of Barley LCC.

SIGNAL No.	<u>ð.</u>	ASSIGNEMENT.
1	169.1	Acetyl CO2
2	169.0	C-¥ in coniferyl alcohol
3	159.5	C-4 in <i>p</i> -coumarate
4	152.5	C-4 in coniferyl alcohol
5	115.5	C- β in coniferyl alcohol
6	103.1	C-1 in ß (1-3, 1-4) glucan
7	101.7	C-1 in β (1-4) xylan
8	86.1	C-3 in ß (1-3, 1-4) glucan
9	82.5	C-4 in ß (1-3, 1-4) glucan
10	76.2	C-2, C-5 in ß (1-3, 1-4) glucan
11	75.5	C-4 in ß (1-4) xylan
12	73.9	C-3 in ß (1-4) xylan
13	72.6	C-2 in ß (1-4) xylan
14	70.0	unassigned .
15	69. 7	C-5 coniferyl & B-Ar or a-OAr
16	63.2	C-5 in ß (1-4) xylan
17	60.1	C-6 in ß (1-3, 1-4) glucan
18	55.7	Methoxyl (aromatic)
19	28.9	Hydrocarbon -CH2-
20	20.8	Acetyl CH3

The reasons for the lack of a signal in the aromatic region was, at first, thought to be due to the presence of free radicals which were thought to affect NMR signals (Nordkvist et al., 1988). Electron spin resonance spectroscopy (ESR) was then performed to determine the presence of free radicals in the LCC'S. As can be seen, free radicals do exist in these fractions (Figure 3.2.2.8 A and B), but little can be determined through them. Comparison of the signal intensities shows that the signal from barley LCC was approximately eight fold greater than that from ryegrass LCC. Figure 3.2.3.9 also shows the presence of various copper species demonstrating axial symmetry. The poorly resolved Cu II components may also show a mixed O and N coordination environment (MacPhail, personnal communication). High spin ferric was also found at g = 4.3. It was then suggested that free radicals may not be the reason for the lack of NMR signals but the nature of lignin may result in increased relaxation times (Goodman, personnal communication; Ludemann, personnal communication).

-109.-

A set as a construct the back of a second in the construction of the second back with the second s

Figure 3.2.3.8 ESR spectra of A) Barley LCC free radical and B) Ryegrass LCC free radical.

a 11

-305-



-110.-

Figure 3.2.3.9 ESR spectrum of Barley LCC.

:_____.

.



-111.-

3.3. ENZYMIC HYDROLYSIS.

3.3.1 Introduction.

In order to enrich the lignin content of the DMSO insoluble material by removing polysaccharide, and possibly release additional phenoliccarbohydrate fragments, an enzymic digestion was added into the fractionation scheme. To maximise hydrolysis of the carbohydrate fraction, an enzyme preparation containing a wide range of polysaccharidase activities was sought.

Driselase, a "cellulase" preparation from the Basidiomycete *Irpex lacteus*, was chosen because its use in cell wall digests is well documented (Fry, 1982: English *et al.*, 1972), it contains a wide range of polysaccharidase activities (Fry, 1988) and most importantly, has been shown to lack non-specific esterases (Fry, 1982).

3.3.2 Driselase extraction.

The enzymic hydrolysis brought about a 36.4% weight loss in DMSO extracted barley and a 76.1% weight loss in DMSO extracted ryegrass. Surprisingly, as can be seen in table 3.3.1.1, driselase treatment did not significantly remove arabinose.

Results of methylation analysis for ryegrass and barley driselase residues are shown in Table 3.3.1.2. The samples were also analysed by acetalation/methylation to determine the positions of alkali labile linkages in the hemicellulose (Table 3.3.1.3). The most obvious difference here, is the large reduction in disubstituted sugars, with a dramatic reduction in disubstituted xylose in the ryegrass. It is known that acetylated β -xylose is resistant to driselase treatment (Fry, 1988) which may indicate a large release of alkali labile linked phenolics.

TABLE 3.3.1.1 Chemical composition of driselase residues.

Results expressed as % dry matter (% of original).

	Barley driselase	Ryegrass driselase
	residue (40.20)	residue (12.38)
RHAMNOSE	0.00 -	0.00 -
FUCOSE	0.35 (127.91)	0.00 -
ARABINOSE	0.60 (10.77)	1.17 (3.06)
XYLOSE	19.83 (38.91)	11.84 (6.67)
MANNOSE	0.00 -	0.00 -
GALACTOSE	0.00 -	0.31 (0.66)
GLUCOSE	31.48 (44.58)	36.54 (16.52)
URONIC ACIDS		
TOTAL CARBOHYDRATE	52.26	49.86
TRUXILLIC ACID	-	0.28 (31.52)
cis-COUMARIC ACID	-	0.11 (27.24)
trans-COUMARIC ACID	-	0.49 (26.37)
cis-FERULIC ACID	-	0.04 (2.93)
trans-FERULIC ACID	-	0.11 (2.67)
DIFERULIC ACID	-	0.08 (12.05)
TOTAL PHENOLIC ACIDS	-	1.11 (12.05)
LIGNIN	-	5.95 (15.65)
TOTAL PHENOLICS	14.96 (63.31)	7.06
TOTAL	67.19	56.92

TABLE 3.3.1.2. Methylation analysis of driselase residues.

Results	expressed as % d	ry matter.	
	Barley	driselase residue	Ryegrass driselase residue
2,3,5-0-	Me-ARA	1.101	1.185
2,3- <i>O</i> - <i>M</i>	e-ARA	0.062	0.408
2,5- <i>O</i> - <i>M</i>	e-ARA	0.039	
3,4- <i>O</i> - <i>M</i>	e-ARA	0.191	0.316
3,5-O-M	e-ARA	0.055	0.344
UNME-A	RA	+	+
TOTAL	ARABINOSE	1.448	2.253
2,3,4-0-	-Me-XYL	0.405	0.519
2,3-O-M	e-XYL	16.849	8.509
2,4-0-M	e-XYL	0.247	0.272
2-0-Me-	XYL	1.205	1.455
3-0-Me-	XYL	1.529	0.626
UNME-X	YL	0.111	0.746
TOTAL	XYLOSE	20.346	12.127
2.3.4-0-	- <i>Me</i> RHA	0.078	_
TOTAL	RHAMNOSE	0.078	<u> </u>
3.4- <i>0</i> - <i>M</i>	e-FUC	0.201	-
TOTAL	FUCOSE	0.201	-
2.3.4.6-0	<i>O-Me</i> -GLC	0.356	0.775
2.3.4-0-	Me-GLC	0.064	0.453
2.3.6-0-	Me-GLC	35.047	36.214
2.4.6-0-	Me-GLC	0.148	0.039
2.3 - 0 - M	e-GLC	1,296	1,344
2.6 - 0 - M	GLC	0.734	0.929
3.6 - 0 - M	e GLC	0.687	0.418
2-0-Me-	GLC	0.108	-
3-0-Me-	GLC	+	_
6-0-Me-	GLC	0.149	_
UNME-G		0.072	_
TOTAL	GLUCOSE	38.661	40.172
2.3.4.6-0	О- <i>М</i> есац	0.070	0.256
2.3.4 - 0 -	Me-GAL	+	-
2.4.6-0-	MerGAL	0.145	+
2.3 - 0 - M	φ-GAL	+	- -
TOTAL	GALACTOSE	0.215	0.256
2.3.4.6-0)-Me-MAN	0.055	0.051
2.3.6-0-	Me-MAN	-	0.073
TOTAL	MANNOSE	0.055	0.124
TOTAL	CARBOHYDRATE	61.004	54.932

+ = less than 0.05%.

Comparison of the IR spectra of barley straw and ryegrass driselase residues (Figures 3.3.1.1 A & 3.3.1.1 B respectively), reveals little significant difference except, as expected, a higher aromatic content (1500, 1595, 1455 and 1420). Both would appear to have a similar acetyl ester content (1240) and carboxyl content (1725).

TABLE 3.3.1.3. Acetalation/Methylation analysis of driselase residues. Results expressed as % dry weight (% of original).

ALKALI LABILE SUBSTITUTIONS	Barley	driselase	residue	Ryegrass	driselase	residue
2,5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA		0.106	(28.36)		0.082 (7.8	37)
5- <i>0-Me</i> -ARA		0.166	(18.53)		0.197 (4.0)9)
2,3- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL		1.435	(56.47)		0.882 (12	.41)
2-O-Me-XYL		0.447	(9.53)		0.946 (5.7	(4)
3- <i>0-Me</i> -XYL		0.433	(11.07)		0.613 (6.5	58)

See release of the IR spectra of barley straw and ryogens are a release (Figures a.d.1.1.A. & B.1.1.4.F. respectively a new or bet of the are difference except, as expected, a higher record second difference and 1920). Roth would appear for a velocitic or at 1.

Figure 3.3.1.1 Infrared spectra of A) Barley driselase residue

2

and B) Ryegrass driselase residue.

a consider contente constant de la c ~ an a saa**faaini** waxaya barber caala babayaa ah ahaa ah ahaa ka $\{1, 1, k\} \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ ti ti anti-5...) 13**8.0** 1.4.35 (56.47) Arrithan S. S. ATTX-OM-NO-S 0.946 (5.74) 0.447 (9.53) 0.433 (11.02) IYX -M-41-1 (83.3) 113.0

-.311-



-116.-

In order to determine something of their lignin structures, solid state (CP/MAS) ¹³C NMR of the driselase residues was performed (Figures 3.3.1.2 & 3.3.1.3). Assignments of the signals (Tables 3.3.1.4 & 3.3.1.5) were based upon comparison with previously published solid state ¹³C NMR of lignins (Maciel *et al.*, 1981; Leary *et al.*, 1988; Cyr *et al.*, 1988) and solution state ¹³C NMR of lignins and cell walls (Ludemann & Nimz, 1973; Nimz & Ludemann, 1976; Nimz *et al.*, 1981; Himmelsbach & Barton, 1980; Scalbert *et al.*, 1986; Vanderhart & Atalla, 1984).

The major difference between ryegrass and barley straw is the very much larger signal at 168 ppm (signal 4, ferulic and coumaric COOH) in ryegrass compared to barley which could mean a considerably higher content of etherified phenolic acids. The only other significant difference is the very much higher signal, in barley, at 152.4 (signal 8 in ryegrass and 9 in barley), and 147.9 (signal 9 in ryegrass and 10 in barley) which have been assigned as C-4 coniferyl and C-3 coniferyl. It is difficult to say whether this represents any significant difference in guaiacyl content, or merely a higher total lignin content.

It to determine generations of their symmetric equi-
e sasangarat sana sa mananan sa sarahan sarahan <mark>bi</mark> n sarah sana sarah sarah sarah sarah sarah sarah sarah sarah
$(1,1,2,\dots,2,1,1,2,1)$, $(1,1,2,1,\dots,2,1,2,1,\dots,2,1,2,1,\dots,2,1,2,1,\dots,2,1,2,1$
olos legildago parazono dana a americano a perseo a serie a conserva techer
\mathbf{v} is the first of the second state of $\mathbf{b}_{\mathrm{eff}}^{\mathbf{r}}$ and $\mathbf{a}_{\mathrm{eff}}$ is the second state of \mathbf{a}_{\mathrm{eff}} is the second state of \mathbf{a}_{\mathrm{eff}} is the seco
Prove lies base second the poly of the second se
barrenes i viere i Tiringe a brakanse delte az el alte
o Las l'anteres de la contraction de la 1986 de la contraction de la 1986.
une di si si sente pri chi chi ce centra con an di
a difference a la contra en la contra en la contra en la c
n 1977. A da kan aka manaka kan aka manaka kan aka kan da kan aka manaka kan aka kan aka kan aka kan aka kan aka kan a
n magerie Byllô£, de lij oeto oorgineer, oorgineer, oorgineer, oorgineer, oorgineer, oorgineer, oorgineer, oor
an na 1992 away na amin'ny ananana amin'ny fananana amin'ny fananana amin'ny fanana amin'ny fanana amin'ny fana
A ling Maan Setu Car Cin Accord - Day ana <mark>m</mark> aka ang ilang di Ling teorem.
. A the transmission of the second of the second

anotaes alasti por sodyla a lighte or anotaes (copae)

•

· · · ·



TABLE 3.3.1.4 Assignments of signals from ¹³C CP/MAS NMR of Barley driselase residue.

SIGNAL No	<u>ð.</u>	<u>ASSIGNMENT</u> .
1	183	
2	179 2	Acetyl C=0
3	173	
4	168	Ferulate/p-coumarate COOH
5	165.9	
6	163)	C-4 in p-coumarate, C-4 etherified
7	162	or unsubstituted
8	160 J	
9	152.8 7	C-4 coniferyl C-3/5 syringyl
10	147.8 \$	C-3 coniferyl (etherified C-4)
11	140)	C-1 in coniferyl (Various)
12	137 (C-4 in sinapyl
13	135	C-3 in phenyl coumarin
14	133.6	
15	1 29 Ž	C-2/6 <i>p</i> -coumaryl
16	127 🖇	
17	125]	C-1 cinnamyl
18	121	C-a Ferulic ether
19	119)	C-5 coniferyl, C-3/5 <i>p</i> -coumaryl
20	117 }	C-ß Ferulic ether
2 1	115 J	C-3/5 p-coumaryl or C-2/5 coniferyl
22	105	C-1 cellulose, C-1 xylan, C-2 & C-6 syringyl
23	89 }	C-4 cellulose
24	84 J	C- β in β -O-Ar ether, C-4 & 2 araf
25	76	C-2/3/5 cellulose
26	73 J	C-2/3/4 xylan
27	65 J	C-6 cellulose C-Y in coniferyl.
28	63 J	C-5 xylan
29	56	Methoxyl OCH3
30	34	
31	32 }	
32	30	Lipid
33	27	
39	21	Acetyl CH3

<u>ق</u>		
8		
	,	A
	(* د ر	ದಾಡ ಕಟ್ಟಿಸಿದ್ದಾರೆ.
00 00	<u> </u>	\$
ाजन संदर्भ 💆	4 ,2	S.
C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C		9.
• Harren Harren Herrichter Harren H Harren Harren Harr	ies Total	ž Za
6 in a-counsects the stimutical	1999 - 1999 1999 -	o ð
and the second s	51.9 1	7
2	211 E	\$;
ितिस्विधि संग्रे केल्फ्रियों के दिन के सिर्फ में सिर्फ में 🗗 🔂 स		5.2 2
$(1+1)$ is the first of $(1+1)$ is the \mathbf{Q}		
na statistika sa fili tu ta Bili bu ta dha a k a na		÷ [
	•	, †
and the foreign of the second s		
W		
e ganstan be 🔂 🤇	1. I	** a L
\sim	4 ¹ - 1 1 - 1 ¹	.* ÷
		1911 1911
antina anti- Antina antina		012 1 12
an an an an the Berlin and a second s		1.4 1.5
····································	235	4
A Construction of the Providence of the Arriver of the State of the St	8.3	1.5
	01	.5
		. (s
i dividinos ni 1-0 cestallas a o	्रि है	1.5
1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1111年1月1日日,1	5.3	13 N
elithe research the	37	9 <u>5</u>
		1 a 4.1
	6 * 4 * 1 × 1 *	
bini.)	36	11 J
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	15	an a the second s
新闻1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1993年,1	1 5 C	63

•

•

. .



-121.-

TABLE 3.3.1.5. Assignments of signals from ¹³C CP/MAS NMR of

Ryegrass driselase residue.

SIGNAL NO	PPM	ASSIGNMENT.
1	182	
2	177 🥄	Acetyl C=O
3	172.7	
4	168	Ferulate/p-coumarate COOH
5	162	C-4 in p -coumaryl, C-4 etherified
6	160	or unsubstitued
7	158.5 🕽	
8	152.4	C-4 coniferyl, C-3/5 etherified sinapyl
9	147.9 🔰	C-3 coniferyl (etherified C-4)
10	146	C-3 coniferl etherified,
11	144	C-4 phenyl coumarin
12	141	C-1 coniferyl (various), C-4 in sinapyl
13	139 👌	C-3 phenyl coumarin
14	136 . 3 J	
15	133	
16	130	C-2/6 <i>p</i> -coumaryl
17	128 J	
18	126.5	C-1 coniferyl alcohol
19	119	C-5 coniferyl, C-3/5 p -coumaric
20	117	C-ß Ferulic ether
21	115 J	C-3/5 p-coumaryl or C-2/5 coniferyl
22	105	C-1 cellulose, C-1 xylan, C-2 syringyl
23	89	C-4 cellulose
24	84	$C-\beta$ in $\beta-O-Ar$ ether $C-4/2$ in $\alpha-L-araf$
25		C = 2/3/5 cellulose
20		$C = 2/3/4$ $\beta(1-4)$ xylan
<i>41</i>	60	C = 0 centrolese $C = 3$ in configuration
40 20	53 J	$C=5 \beta (1=4) Xylan$
29	27 22)	Methoxyl OCH3
30 21	30	Lipid
30 2T	24	nibia
22	4-± ,≢ 01	Acotyl CHa
JJ	د ۱	ACCUT OND

Molecular sieve chromatography was used in an attempt to isolate and, hopefully, characterise any phenolic-carbohydrate fragments solubilised by the driselase treatment. The soluble fraction was found to be a complex mixture of carbohydrate and possibly phenolic-carbohydrate material, over a wide range of molecular weights. Unfortunately, such a low resolution technique was found to be incapable of completely resolving any of the phenolic-carbohydrate components. Attempts to purify such fractions by higher resolution techniques (PC, TLC, GC and HPLC) proved unsuccessful.

3.4 PYROLYSIS ANALYSIS.

3.4.1 Introduction.

As described previously (section 1.3.4.4), pyrolysis is a technique whereby complex molecules are rapidly heated in order to produce volatile, easily analysed fragments. These fragments may then be passed directly into a MS or GC (with subsequent identification of peaks by MS).

It was thought that pyrolysis analysis of the barley and ryegrass fractions may provide further structural information and complement the 'wet' chemical data. In order to obtain as much information as possible, a number of different pyrolytic techniques were used. Curie point pyrolysis was used for Py-GC and Py-MS (electron impact, EI). The high frequency coils in the Curie point pyrolysis unit, unfortunately, interfere with the mass spectrometer's magnetic field and have therefore to be placed at a distance from the inlet, thus reducing transfer of higher molecular weight fragments. In order to study these, higher molecular weight, fragments, platinum filament pyrolysis, which can be performed directly in the ion source, was used.

Previous studies (Boon, 1989) have shown that electron impact (EI) ionisation severely fragments carbohydrates, whereas phenolic compounds tend to give a molecular ion under these conditions. Chemical ionisation (CI) using ammonia, however, has been found to be more suitable for carbohydrate analysis (Boon, 1989).

-123.-

Tables 3.4.1, 3.4.2 and 3.4.3 show the assignments for Py-GC peaks, EI Py-MS and CI Py-MS respectively. The assignments are based on mass spectral evidence, comparison with published data (Pouwels *et al.*, 1987; Boon *et al.*, 1987; Genuit *et al.*, 1987; Boon *et al.*, 1984; Boon, 1989; Scheijen *et al.*, 1989) and comparison with traces of standard compounds.

Py-GC, Py-MS (CI and Curie point) were performed as a general analysis of the fractions. Platinum filament (EI) analysis was also performed and the time course of the pyrolysis was recorded. It was thought that the time resolved pyrolysis profiles may provide extra structural information.

Figures 3.4.25 and 3.4.26 show the time course of the pyrolysis for the barley straw and rye grass fractions respectively. The vertical axis represents the total ion current, as detected by the mass spectrometer, and the horizontal axis represents the scan number (the scan rate being 1 scan per second). The labelled areas of each time course corresponds to the appropriately lettered spectra in figures 3.4.27-3.4.42.

3.4.2 Py-GC, Py-MS (Curie point EI and DCI).

3.4.2.1 Starting materials.

Comparison of the CI spectrum (Fig 3.4.9) and the Curie point EI spectrum (Fig 3.4.5 (A)) for untreated barley straw generally agree as to carbohydrate content i.e high pentose (EI m/z 114; CI m/z 132, 150)

-124.-

and significant hexose (EI m/z 126, 98; CI m/z 144, 162, 180) although CI suggests slightly higher hexose than EI. Phenolic acids *p*-coumaric and ferulic (EI m/z 120, 150) produced significant peaks by EI but were less evident by CI (m/z 182, 212) It should be noted however, that in EI m/z 120 and 150 (Mwt of the decarboxylated acids) may only represent esterified phenolic acids (Boon, personnal communication). The Py-GC trace (Fig 3.4.1 (A)) agrees with a relatively high phenolic acid content (peaks 8 & 9). Curie point EI Py-MS also shows large lignin marker peaks at m/z 180 and 210. The only peaks on Py-GC with masses corresponding to 180 and 210 (peaks 16 & 22) are rather insignificant thus giving some doubt as to the origin of m/z 180/210 in EI. If m/z 120 and 150 represent only the esterified phenolic acids, and m/z 164 and 194 represent etherified acids, it is interesting to note a higher content of m/z 164 rather than m/z 194, suggesting *p*-coumaric acid is more heavily etherified than ferulic acid.

The only significant differences between barley straw and ryegrass can be seen by Curie point EI (Fig 3.4.7 (A)) in that ryegrass would appear to have a slightly lower hexose, and a significantly lower phenolic content especially m/z 180/210. This is backed up by the Py-GC trace (Fig 3.4.3 (A)) which also suggests a lower *p*-coumaric acid content compared to ferulic acid, also seen by Curie point EI. Under CI (Fig 3.4.17) it is interesting to note that the hexose in ryegrass, produces a much higher 144 peak than barley straw, the significance of which, if any, is unknown.

-125.-

3.4.2.2 Oxalate hydrolysis.

CI MS of oxalate extracted residue from barley (Fig 3.4.10) shows a massive reduction in pentose content relative to hexose. The dramatic increase in size of peak 18 in Py-GC (Fig 3.4.1 (B)) would seem to bear this out. Curie point Py-MS (Fig 3.4.5 (B)) shows an apparent decrease in *p*-coumaric acid (m/z 120) and ferulic acid (m/z 150). The phenolic markers m/z 180 and 210 also show a decrease although their relative proportions remain quite constant. The oxalate/methanol soluble fraction can be seen from its Curie point EI spectrum (Fig 3.4.6 (A)) to consist mainly of pentose, the CI spectrum (Fig 3.4.15) showing it to be mainly free pentose (168) the lack of 264 suggesting the lack of dimeric pentoses. Py-GC (Fig 3.4.2 (C)) demonstrates a very high phenolic acid content, also seen by Curie point EI MS. The high m/z 164/194 content may suggest a high content of etherified phenolic acids.

The oxalate/water soluble barley fraction is again predominantly pentose in nature but has a higher hexose content than the methanol soluble fraction. The reduction in the 168 peak on CI (Fig 3.4.16) indicates that the pentose is oligomeric in nature. Curie point EI (fig 3.4.6 (B)) shows that the phenolic acid content is much lower and Py-GC (Fig 3.4.2 (D)) suggests a radical change in ratio between ferulic and *p*-coumaric acids, *p*-coumaric being much reduced.

Ryegrass gave a similar picture with a lower phenolic content. On CI (Fig 3.4.18) it is again interesting to note that the major hexose peak for oxalate extracted residue from ryegrass is m/z 134 rather than m/z 144 as previously or m/z 180 for the corresponding barley fraction.

-126.-

Py-GC and Curie point MS show an increase in the p-CA/FA ratio suggesting a selective removal of ferulic acid.

Curie point EI (Fig 3.4.8) shows a much higher hexose content for ryegrass methanol, is supported by CI (Fig 3.4.23), which also suggests that much less of the pentose is in the free form. On Curie point EI the phenolic acid content would again seem to be much lower although the unusually high m/z 194 may represent a high syringyl or etherified ferulic acid content. CI of the ryegrass oxalate/water soluble fraction (Fig 3.4.24) would again suggest a higher hexose content than that for the corresponding barley fraction, the m/z 504 ion in CI suggesting it is more oligomeric in nature.

3.4.2.3 DMSO Extraction.

Py-GC of DMSO insoluble barley (Fig 3.4.1 (D)) shows an apparent relative increase in hexose content (increase in peak 3) whereas Curie point EI (Fig 3.4.5 (C)) and CI MS (Fig 3.4.12) of DMSO insoluble barley show an apparent decrease in pentose content (dramatic increase in m/z 134 in CI). Curie point EI MS would suggest little change between the DMSO residue and oxalate residue, but a slight increase in pentose and m/z 180 contents. DCI (Fig 3.4.11), Curie point EI (Fig 3.4.6 (C)) and Py-GC trace (Fig 3.4.1 (C)) of the DMSO soluble fraction, all clearly show a very high pentose content. The phenolic acids would appear (from Py-GC) to have a higher concentration in the DMSO soluble fraction. Py-GC also shows the presence of true lignin markers in the soluble material. The distribution of cell wall components following DMSO extraction for ryegrass was remarkably similar to that for barley straw, the only real difference being the lower phenolic content especially in m/z180/210 content. Py-GC of the residue shows a very high acetyl content.

3.4.2.4 Driselase hydrolysis.

Interpretation of the chromatograms for the driselase soluble fractions (Figures 3.4.2 (A) and 3.4.4 (A)) was not attempted due to the considerable difference between these and other fractions. It was thought that the 'gel' like nature of these fractions may have made reproducible pyrolysis difficult to achieve, possibly due to salt effects (Boon, personnal communication), and the large initial peaks, possibly from protein and buffer salts, make the peaks from solubilised cell wall components too small to allow positive identification. Similarly, Curie point EI (Fig 3.4.6 (D)) yields little information due to the high acetate peak (m/z 60) except, possibly, some solubilisation of hexose. CI (Fig 3.4.16), on the other hand, clearly shows the solubilisation of some hexose (m/z 180, 342, 402) and some pentose (m/z 150). Curie point EI analysis of the driselase residue (Fig 3.4.5 (D)) shows that there has been significant solubilisation of sugar, especially pentose, and Py-GC (Fig 3.4.2 (B)) shows a large increase in the lignin marker peaks (peaks 11, 12, 15, 17, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23 & 24). CI-MS (Fig 3.4.13) shows that the sugars present are mainly hexose (m/z 180) with some pentose (m/z 150). Py-GC also shows a high acetyl content in the residue. The

Curie point EI demonstrates the large change in phenolic/carbohydrate ratio.

This again holds true for the ryegrass driselase residues, although strangely enough it was the Curie point EI (Fig 3.4.8 (B)) for the ryegrass driselase soluble that showed some solubilisation of ferulic acid.

Py-GC and Curie point EI of the residue still shows some hexose and DCI still shows some pentose. The phenolic acid ratio has also changed, both Curie point and Py-GC showing a much higher p-CA content, compared to FA, than any other fraction.

3.4.3 Time resolved platinum filament EI.

3.4.3.1 Starting materials.

Study of the time course of the pyrolysis of untreated barley straw (Fig 3.4.25 (1)) would appear to show the presence of three components, based on their desorption from the wire. Overall chemical composition (Fig 3.4.27) agrees closely to that described earlier i.e high pentose, hexose, high m/z 180/210 and phenolic acids are present. The presence of dimeric lignin markers and some fatty acid/lipid like material is also evident. The ions m/z 298 and 328 may also suggest the presence of diferulic and truxillic acids respectively. It must be noted here that the use of the term component does not suggest any association between the materials in each component and is used to mean a component of the pyrolysis profile.

Ryegrass showed a very different pyrolysis profile with two components (Figs 3.4.26 (1) and 3.4.35), component A showed a high pentose and hexose content, some phenolic acids and lower M_{Wt} phenolics but very little higher M_{Wt} lignin markers. Component B showed a very similar pattern but had a slightly higher high Mwt phenolic content.

3.4.3.2 Oxalate hydrolysis.

Examination of the time course for oxalate hydrolysed barley (Fig 3.4.25 (2)) shows two major fractions. It would appear that oxalate hydrolysis has somehow disrupted the more volatile component in barley and slightly increased its volatility. Spectra for the two components are shown in Fig 3.4.28. Fraction A could be seen to consist mainly of pentose with little hexose, have a high m/z 180/210 content, and contain both phenolic acid and lignin markers. The less volatile fraction (B) is also mainly pentose but with an increased hexose content. The lignin markers m/z 180 and 210 were lower as were the phenolic acids and the dimeric phenolic acids (diferulic and truxillic) are predominantly in this fraction.

The time course for the barley oxalate/water fraction (Fig 3.4.25 (7)) clearly showed the presence of pentose and hexose (pentose predominant) (Fig 3.4.33), phenolic acids and phenolic dimers. The presence of the lignin dimers m/z 272, 302, 330 and 358 would strongly suggest the presence of true lignin.

The oxalate/MeOH soluble (Fig 3.4.25 (8)) can be seen to contain two distinct components. The spectra for component A (Fig 3.4.34) has an

unusual carbohydrate pattern, m/z 73 suggesting extensive fragmentation, very few phenolic peaks are present except very small amounts of m/z 180 & 272. Fraction B is remarkably similar to A with the exception of an increase in *p*-CA and FA content and the lignin dimers m/z 272 and 302. Neither component would appear to contain any significant amounts of diferulic or truxillic acids

The time course for oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass (Fig 3.4.26 (2)) was very similar to that for the corresponding barley fraction. The spectra for the two components (Fig 3.4.36), shows a much higher hexose content in both components, especially in component B, and a much lower phenolic content. However, contamination from an unknown source made interpretation of the higher molecular weight region of the spectrum very uncertain.

The time course for the ryegrass oxalate/water soluble fraction (Fig 3.4.26 (7)) shows three distinct components. Component A (Fig 3.4.33) is almost entirely pentose/hexose with apparently no phenolic content. Component B would seem to contain slightly more pentose in nature and contain some ferulic acid. The least volatile component C more closely resembles cell wall material with pentose and hexose and the appearance of some phenolic material. This consists predominantly of m/z 164 and 194 with some dimeric phenolics m/z 272, 198.

The ryegrass oxalate/MeOH sample (Fig 3.4.26 (8)) has dissociated into three distinct components. The more volatile component A (Fig 3.4.42) contains pentose and hexose the phenolic ions m/z 194 and 164 and little else. Component B has an unusual carbohydrate pattern,
suggesting complete secondary fragmentation of the pyrolysis fragments has occured. The phenolic acids (m/z 120/150) are present as are m/z194/164. The least volatile component C, as in component B and in the corresponding barley fraction, again has a very unusual sugar pattern. The phenolic content in this component is vastly increased most noticable being the massive increase in m/z 164/194 content. Diferulic acid is also present as is a significant lignin content (m/z 272, 302, 330).

3.4.3.3 DMSO Extraction.

Examination of the pyrolysis profiles for the barley DMSO soluble and residual fractions (Figure 3.4.25 (4 & 5)) clearly show that DMSO would appear to have solubilised the compounds which generated component A in the pyrolysed oxalate residue and leave a residue which may represent component B from the oxalate residue. The DMSO solubilised material (3.4.29) can be seen to be composed predominantly of pentose with little hexose. Phenolic acids are present, as are various sterols and fatty acids. The spectrum bears a very close resemblance to oxalate hydrolysed barley component A. The DMSO residue (3.4.30), on the other hand, could be seen to more closely resemble component B from the oxalate residue. In comparison to the soluble fraction, it contains appreciably more hexose, have a reduced phenolic acid content and comparison of the lignin markers (m/z 272, 302, 330) for the soluble and insoluble fractions suggests slightly

-132.-

different patterns which are comparable to the lignin markers for the volatile and less-volatile components in the oxalate hydrolysed residue.

Again ryegrass (Figs 3.4.26 (3 & 4) and 3.4.37 and 3.4.38) shows a similar pattern although, direct comparison of the solubilised material and residue with the oxalate hydrolysed fraction is not so easy. Component A of the soluble fraction would appear to be mainly pentose with some phenolic acids and m/z 180 lignin marker. Little detail can be seen in the higher Mwt region due to some lipid like material. Component B is, unfortunately, heavily contaminated and interpretation of either of the spectra is difficult.

The DMSO residue can also be seen to exist of two components. Both components are very similar except for the higher concentration of m/z180 and 210 in the more volatile component

3.4.3.4 Driselase hydrolysis.

The barley driselase soluble fraction (Fig 3.4.25 (6)) consisted of three components (Fig 3.4.32), A, containing some hexose and little else, B, having a characteristic protein pattern and C, having some hexose and pentose. No significant trace of phenolics can be seen in any of the components.

The time course for the driselase residue (Figure 3.4.25 (5)) clearly shows little change from the DMSO residue. On analysis of the spectra (Figure 3.4.32) the only noticable difference is the massive increase in m/z 180 and 210 lignin. The spectrum for the driselase soluble material is again difficult to interpret, although some hexose can be seen in component A. The two components for the ryegrass driselase residue (Figure 3.4.26 (5) and 3.4.39) look very similar, the only difference being a slightly higher hexose content in the second component. Again, massive contamination prevents detailed interpretation of component B. Component A agrees with the barley driselase residue in the increase in m/z 180/210 content on driselase treatment.

-135.-

TABLE 3.4.1. Assignments of peaks from Py-G,C-M.S.

<u>M/Z.</u>	Assignement.	Source.
60	ACETIC ACID	CARBOHYDRATE.
96	FURALDEHYDE	PENTOSE.
98	ANGELICALACTONE	HEXOSE.
114	3-HYDROXY-2-PENTENO-1,5-LACTONE	PENTOSE.
108	CRESOL	
1 24	G-H	LIGNIN.
138	G-C	LIGNIN.
120	P-C=C	p-COUM ARATE.
150	G-C=C	FERULIC ACID.
126	2-METHYL-3-HYDROXY-4-PYRAN-4-ONE	HEXOSE.
154	S-H	LIGNIN.
164	G-C=C-C	LIGNIN.
168	S-C	LIGNIN.
166	G-CO-C	LIGNIN.
152	G-CHO	LIGNIN.
180	S-C=C	LIGNIN.
194	S-C-C=C	LIGNIN.
162	1,6 ANHYDROGLUCOSE	HEXOSE.
182	S-CHO	LIGNIN.
196	S-C-CHO	LIGNIN.
180	G-C=C-CHO	LIGNIN.
210	S-C-CO-C	LIGNIN.
208	S-C-C-CHO	LIGNIN.
210	S-C=C-CH2OH	LIGNIN.
	M/Z. 60 96 98 114 108 124 138 120 150 126 154 164 164 168 166 152 180 194 162 182 196 180 210 208 210	M/Z.Assignment.60ACETIC ACID96FURALDEHYDE98ANGELICALACTONE1143-HYDROXY-2-PENTENO-1,5-LACTONE108CRESOL124G-H138G-C120P-C=C150G-C=C150G-C=C154S-H164G-C=C-C168S-C166G-CO-C152G-CHO180S-C=C194S-C-C=C1621,6 ANHYDROGLUCOSE182S-CHO180G-C=C-CHO180G-C=C-CHO180G-C=C-CHO180G-C=C-CHO180S-C-CHO180S-C-CHO180S-C-CHO180S-C-CCHO180S-C-CO-C208S-C-C-CHO210S-C=C-CH2OH

.saleo?	·	Sugar, M	Post No.
5/TV 11/4442/3		5 - 1 5 - 1 2	÷
TO THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERT	Strate Action	1974	
			•
		£ . ;	
,उस्टराह्यम्			
.	ly s solt		õ
1MI MALL	× 100		
LIGM14.	MS MS	,	
p−C 01253333			
·唐·马士马拉拉王王	rley allat	• • •	
EPOXIH	$\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathbf{a}} + \mathbf{N}_{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathbf{a}} + \mathbf{N}_{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathbf{a}} + \mathbf{N}_{\mathbf$	* *	
	D) D)	;	
WEAR !!	e de la constante de		!
	ō		i . * .
ALA ST			• =
and a state of the			4 - <u>5</u>
 ALEX TELL ALEXATEL 	B	1. <u>(</u>	0 t
sy tirest a		- 24	
		्यः	- 1
建設合式进程。		um thai An tao tao	D1
MC A BU	n (330)~/3	2. CA	50 50
NERCEL	9 -∂−∂−2	961 	
17010	5 40-0#0-0	0 <u>S</u> i	
MINEL	0-0 0-0-2	010	28
.RINDLI		868	£2
.MINDLI	H05H0-0=0-8	015	24

SARLE KILL ASSIGNMENTS OF PROFE FROM PROC. G-M.S.

.

-135.-



-136.-

Figure 3.4.2 Py-GC traces of A) Barley driselase soluble,

B) Barley driselase residue,

C) Barley MeOH and

D) Barley H2O.



-137.-

Figure 3.4.3 Py-GC traces of A) Ryegrass,

.-

-

.

B) Oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass,

C) Ryegrass DMSO residue and

D) DMSO soluble ryegrass.



-138.-

Figure 3.4.4 Py-GC traces of A) Ryegrass driselase soluble,

B) Ryegrass driselase residue,

C) Ryegrass MeOH and

D) Ryegrass H2O.



TABLE 3.4.2. Assignments of mass peaks from electron impact (EI) Py-M.S.

•

,

<u>M/Z</u>	<u>IDENTITY.</u>	<u>M/Z</u> IDENTITY.
43	ልር ምጥልጥፑ	180 G-C-CO-CH2 S-C=C G-C=C-CH2OH
-10 		
57	CELLOLOSE	182 S-CHO, G-COO-CH3.
60	ACETIC ACID	194 S-C=C-C (FA).
73	CELLULOSE	196 S-C-C=O.
85	114 FRAGMENT	208 S-C=C-CHO.
86	PENTOSAN	210 S-С-СО-СНз.
92	PROTEIN	236 FATTY ACID.
96	FURFURAL	256 FATTY ACID.
98	ANGELICALACTONE	272 LIGNIN DIMER.
114	PENTOSAN	298 DIFERULIC ACID.
116	CELLULOSE	302 LIGNIN DIMER.
117	PROTEIN	324 DIFERULIC ACID.
120	p-COUMARIC ACID (p-CA)	328 TRUXILLIC ACID.
124	G-H	330 LIGNIN DIMER.
126	HEXOSE	342 DIFERULIC ACID.
131	PROTEIN	358 LIGNIN DIMER, TRUXILLIC ACID.
144	GLUCAN	388 TRUXILLIC ACID.
150	FERULIC ACID (FA)	396 STEROL.
152	G-CHO	414 STEROL.
154	S-H	418 LIGNIN DIMER.
164	(PCA),G-C=C-C,G-C-C-OH	464 LIPID.
166	G-CO-CH3, G-C-C=O	564 LIPID.

TAF 7 34.2 Preprinents of muss peaks from electron impact (61)

.

	arley,	and	due.	n (n <u>e</u> station)	(7 1 47
-D≂D-D₂D≈Q+Q₁,∦ (+ ,0°) -	ed B	idue	resi	日本主要の人	(. j.
	¶ys	rea	IBe		77
$\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{F}} = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{F}} = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{F}} $	aw, dro	00	sels	ULL DEPENDA	69
	stra	SMG	dri	(1) (1) (1)	22
1 1	ey	ey	ey	FURNING ALT	<u>8</u> 8
€10-011-2-	arl xal	arl	arl	PENTOSAL	38
, 精制,这一才的学人来。		E (;	E ()	PROTEIN	92
$\mathbf{G}(x) = \mathcal{F}^{1/2} [x, 4]$	₽ ₽	0		且在於月間直接	ЮŔ,
~ 1000 km s ~ 100 km s $\sim $	0			RACIDAALDI.LEONT	Σ^{*}
 Anticipation of the second seco	₩ L				F ([
	P3			计按约100 计计算符	al (
	bint			$\mathbb{P}^{1} \oplus \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{P}^{1})$	Ύε]
1. 我们还是我的问题? 1. 我们还是我的问题?	SS A		ł	- THARKE ACON IN-	1) (†
and the state of the t	an ji ji			(** .)	221
2011年1月1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月) 1月11日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)1日(1911月)	St D			1908EH	80. T
EGS V DIMES. IFUNITI	ेंदे			自民的主要目的	131
. D.V. DIADE BY	େ୍ଟ୍ରି			V_{L} ($\gamma \in V_{L}$)	<u>L'A (</u>
STEROL.	ួទ ភ្លឺ			FERULIC ACID (FA)	150
	4-1 4			OHOO	152
LIGNIN DIMER.	建于在			Н-8	154
.1415.	464		1	80-0-0-0,0-0=0-0,(404)	164
LIPID.	194			G-CO-CH3, G-C-C=C	991
				· · · ·	

- 14.1-



Figure 3.4.6 Curie point Py-MS of A) Barley DMSO soluble,

B) Barley driselase soluble,

C) Barley MeOH and

D) Barley H2O.



-142.-

Figure 3.4.7 Curie point Py-MS of A) Ryegrass,

-

.

į

- B) Oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass,
- C) Ryegrass DMSO residue and
- D) Ryegrass driselase residue.

• ·

.

-



. •

,

Figure 3.4.8 Curie point Py-MS of A) Ryegrass DMSO soluble,

. . .

B) Ryegrass driselase soluble,

C) Ryegrass MeOH and

D) Ryegrass H2O.



-144.-

TABLE 3.4.3. Assignments of mass peaks from Direct Chemical Ionisation (CI) Py-M.S.

<u>M/Z.</u>	IDENTITY.	<u>M/Z</u>	IDENTITY.
54	(NH4)3	168	FREE PENTOSE.
78	ACETIC ACID	170	S-CHO.
120	P-C=C	176	GALCOOH.
121	VINYLPHENOL	180	HEXOSE,HEXOSAN.
124	G-H	181	VINYLPHENYL.
126	HEXOSE	182	p-COUMARIC ACID.
132	ANHYDROPENTOSE	193	S-C=C-CH3.
134	CELLULOSE	200	G-CHO.
135	G-C	210	S-CO-CH3.
144	GLUCOSE/GLYCAN	21 2	FERULIC ACID.
146	RHAMNOSE, DEOXYHEXOSE	222	CELLULOSE.
150	PENTOSAN	264	PENTOSE-PENTOSE.
151	VINYLPHENOL	282	PENTOSE-PENTOSE.
154	S-H	312	HEXOSE-PENTOSE.
162	GLUCOSE/GLYCAN	342	HEXOSE-HEXOSE.
163	G-C=C-CH2	402	CELLULOSE.
164	DEOXYHEXOSE	414	PENTOSE-PENTOSE-PENTOSE.
165	S-C	504	HEXOSE-HEXOSE-HEXOSE.

.

TALLE J.4.5. Assignments of mass peaks from Direct Chemical (animation (GT) Py-M.S

		ā		
N. Fre	ATTIC MAL	ek No		. ATTANDI
		3arl		
1		8 <u>9</u> 1 H		FREE FEVTOSE.
<u>२</u> १	ALLA GITLOA	ere o		SCHO.
120		943 b		GALCOOR.
121	VINTLEARNOL			HEXOSE, HEXOSAN.
<u>101</u>) (~ <i>[</i>)	181 b		VHOLENENE.
126	HEXOXE	.ist ₩		p-COUMANIC ACID.
132	ANTYDAGE ATOSE	Py-		S-0=0-0 H.
194	CELLUT OSE	ate 5		,0H0 -, 7
151	()-()	D t		
1.1.1	MARTION PERSONNEL	Jen de		didz on robbie
oti	CAPPEORG, 13., AMARKI	San H is		
081	统 和任何 是同任	1990. E		
151	的过去时经过了这样的			
154	8-11			MEXOSE-FENTOES.
162	GERCOSE/OUTED	315 6		MEDZBR-HEADSR.
891	\$117-20-12-12	37 402		Reduction
t	DECKMEXOSE	LIL U	•	PETTOSE-PERFORE-PENT
65	3-8	103 n		HEXOSE-GEXOSE-HEXOSE
		<u>G</u>		

2

ر. بار ان



¢

Figure 3.4.10 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Oxalate hydrolysed barley

.

.

straw, scans 25-39.



-147.-





Figure 3.4.12 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Barley DMSO residue,

BCANB 23-46.



-149.-

Figure 3.4.13 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Barley driselase residue, scans 19-44.



.

scans 30–50.

Figure 3.4.14 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of driselase soluble barley,






Figure 3.4.16 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Barley H2O, scans 32-61. 1 . . 1 . I. 4



-153.-





-154.-

Figure 3.4.18 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass,

scans 24-37.



-155.-

Figure 3.4.19 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of DMSO soluble ryegrass,

۰.

.

scans 25-46.



Figure 3.4.20 Platinul filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Ryegrass DMSO residue,

scans 26-52.



Figure 3.4.21 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Ryegrass driselase residue,

scans 22-41.

•

1.11.11



-158.-

Figure 3.4.22 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of driselase soluble ryegrass,

4

scans 19-43.



-159.-

Figure 3.4.23 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Ryegrass MeOH, scans 22-60. _ .

...

:



-160.-

Figure 3.4.24 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Ryegrass H2O, scans 32-54.

11.120

•

..



-161.-

Figure 3.4.25 Platinum filament EI Py-MS time course of barley

fractions.

- 1) Barley straw.
- 2) Oxalate hydrolysed barley straw.
- 3) DMSO soluble barley straw.
- 4) Oxalate hydrolysed DMSO extracted barley straw.
- 5) Barley straw driselase residue.
- 6) Barley straw driselase soluble.
- 7) Barley straw H2O.
- 8) Barley MeOH.

٤.



Figure 3.4.26 Platinum filament EI Py-MS time course of ryegrass fractions.

1) Ryegrass.

2) Oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass.

3) DMSO soluble ryegrass.

4) Oxalate hydrolysed DMSO extracted ryegrass.

5) Ryegrass driselase residue.

6) Ryegrass driselase soluble.

7) Ryegrass H₂O.

8) Ryegrass MeOH.



Figure 3.4.27 Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of Barley straw, scans 32-59.



-164.-

ł

Figure 3.4.28 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of oxalate hydrolysed barley straw A) scans 33-41 and B) 44-75.

.





-165.-

scans 33–50.

Figure 3.4.29 Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of DMSO soluble barley, .

=



Figure 3.4.30 Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of Barley DMSO residue,

scans 25-55.



-167.-

Figure 3.4.31 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of driselase soluble barley straw A) scans 25-34, B) 35-45 and C) 46-60.



-168.-

Figure 3.4.32 Platinum filament EI Py-MS spectrum of Barley driselase residue,

scans 22-56.

2





ທ_ ສ

100-

-169.-

Figure 3.4.33 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of barley MeOH A) scans 25-35, B) 35-55.




Figure 3.4.34 Platinum filament DCI Py-MS spectrum of Barley H2O, scans 31-55. · · · · · · · ·

.

•



5.0-4+->0 Crocodcon

-171.-

Figure 3.4.35 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of Ryegrass A) scans

35-42, B) 43-50.

.

-







Figure 3.4.36 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of oxalate hydrolysed ryegrass A) scans 38-45, B) 45-59.

*



-173.-

Figure 3.4.37 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of DMSO soluble ryegrass A) scans 35-40, B) 41-55.

-

an ann an Anna Anna an Anna an

· • • • •

-



-174.-

Figure 3.4.38 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of ryegrass DMSO

· _ _

-

residue A) scans 35-44, B) 40-47

. 2.

ى



-175.-

*5.0 о<u>і —</u> Збо

M/Z

Figure 3.4.39 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of ryegrass driselase residue A) scans 25-44, B) 40-47

.

.

-

.

•



Figure 3.4.40 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of driselase soluble ryegrass A) scans 25-38, B) 40-47.

an ta

.

~

•

.

Relative Abucdance *5.0 р zóø *5.0 <u>е!.</u> 300 m/2 β ٠,



-177.-

Figure 3.4.41 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of ryegrass MeOH A) scans 33-40, B) 40-45 and C) 45-60.

> n an Anna an An Anna an

•

.

~



-178.-

1

Figure 3.4.42 Platinum filament EI Py-MS of ryegrass H2O A) scans 20-35, B) 40-47 and C) 48-60.

.





-179.-

ť

3.4.4 Discussion.

Interpretation of the pyrolysis results, suggested that the starting materials were, structurally, very similar with ryegrass having a lower lignin content. Oxalic acid hydrolysis would appear to bring about a loss of pentose and phenolic acids from the starting materials. There would also seem to be a loss of some lignin. Of the material solubilised, the bulk of the phenolic acids and pentose (mainly monomeric) is solubilised in the methanol fraction with more of the higher Mwt phenolics and oligomeric carbohydrate remaining in the water soluble material.

DMSO extraction apparently solubilised a fraction rich in pentose with some lignin (especially in barley) and phenolic acids. The residue is mainly hexose in nature, heavily acetylated and heavily lignified.

Hydrolysis of the DMSO residues with driselase solubilised both pentose and hexose and, in ryegrass at least, some ferulic acid. The residues are both heavily acetylated and lignified, both still retained some pentose and hexose. Throughout the fractionation scheme it is apparent that ferulic acid was preferentially removed, increasing the pcoumaric/ferulic acid ratio until it is almost 1:1 in the driselase residues compared to approximately 1:2 in the starting materials.

The precise physical processes involved in pyrolysis make structural interpretation of the pyrolysis profiles for platinum filament EI MS difficult to interpret. It is difficult to say whether the separated components truly represent discrete cell wall fractions or represent fragments which are volatilised at the same time. At first glance, subtle differences in the phenolic fingerprints of the barley DMSO soluble and insoluble fractions were noticed. More detailed examination of the relative intensities of the assigned phenolic ions (Table 3.4.4) clearly demonstrates that significant differences in the lignin structure between the DMSO soluble and the residue may exist.

The precise mechanism of the pyrolytic breakdown of lignin, however, is unknown, although tentative proposals have been made (Genuit et al., 1987). It would be exceptionally difficult to draw any significant structural conclusions from these results.

Very subtle differences in the phenolic component of the ryegrass fractions were also noticed. Contamination of many of the ryegrass fractions, however, prevented direct comparison of the phenolic ions. Therefore it is not possible to say whether these differences truly exist and, if so, are they the same as those found in barley straw. It was felt that these differences warrented further investigation, therefore it was decided to analysis the lignin struture in greater detail (section 3.5).

It is interesting to note that the DMSO and driselase residue lignin fingerprints are essentially very similar thus suggesting that driselase does not solubilise any significant lignin.

In general, pyrolysis analysis of the cell wall fractions by each different pyrolytic technique have given consistant and comparable results. The degree of structural information provided and the

-181.-

comparitively short analysis time must strongly commend pyrolysis analysis as a valuable tool in cell wall studies. Table 3.4.4 Relative intensities of phenolic markers from Py-MS (EI) for

barley fractions.

			% rel	ative ion	inten	sities.		% lign	in tota	Ľ	
			DKSO	DNSO	DRIS			DNSO	OSNO	DRES	
Fragment	Mut	BS	SOL	RES	RBS	H20	BS	SOL	RBS	RES	H20
p-Coumaric acid	120	19	23	7	80	16	5.7	6.3	2.1	1.9	œ
G-B	124	36	56	26	32	32	10.7	15.3A	œ	7.5	16
Ferulic acid	150	39	43	21	25	33	11.6	11.8	6.4	5.9	16.5
G-CH0	152	18	22	14	17	17	5.4	9	4.3	-	8.5
S-H	154	21	23	13	17	12	6.3	6.3	4	Ą	9
P-CA G-CCC G-COH	164	20	26	27	30	19	9	7.1	8.3	7.1	9.5
G-COMe G-CCO	166	11	12	7	6	6	3.3	3.3	2.1	2.1	4.5
G-CCOMe S-CC G-CCH2OH	180	60	46	68	100	10	11.9	12.6	20.8	23.5	5
S-CHO G-COOKe	182	16	16	18	23	80	4.8	4.4	5.5	5.4	4
S-CCC	194	16	21	23	27	12	4.8	5.7	2	6.4	œ
S-CCO	196	80	10	7	5	9	2.4	2.7	2.1	2.1	~
S-CCCH0	208	13	6	17	19	2	3.9	2.5	5.2	4.5	2.5
S-CCOMe	210	43	23	49	80	9	12.8	6.3	15	18.8	~
Lignin dimer	272	9	~	6.5	7	en	1.8	2.2	7	1.6	1.5
Lignin dimer	302	2.8	4.6	-4-	4	¥	0.8	1.3	1.2	0.9	2
Diferulic acid	324	0.5	~7	-	-	0.9	0.1	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.5
Lignin dimer, TA	328	1.2	-	ę	ر	1.3	0.4	1.1	0.9	0.7	0.7
Lignin di s er	330	1	9	-	6	1.9	0.3	1.6	2.1	1.6	
Lignin dimer,DPA	342	0.7	2.4	1.7	2	0.8	0.2	0.7	0.5	0.5	0.4
Lignin dimer, TA	358	0.3	2.2	4	2	0.6	0.1	0.6	1.2	0.5	0.3
Lignin dimer,TA	388	0.1	0.2	0.6	0	0.2	0	0.1	0.2	0	0.1
Lignin dimer	418	0.1	0.1	0	0	0.1	0	0	0	0	0.1
Total		334.9 365.9	326.9	425 199.6							
X phenolic acids		18.81	22.74	12.36	10.35	27.35					

A = high in DMSO soluble, low in DMSO residue and driselase residue, intermediate in untreated barley straw. B = low in DMSO soluble, high in DMSO residue and driselase residue, intermediate in untreated barley straw.

3.5.THIOACIDOLYSIS.

3.5.1 Introduction.

As mentioned previously (section 1.3.3.2), thioacidolysis is a solvolytic technique which specifically cleaves alkyl-aryl ether linkages as demonstrated in Figure 3.5.1. This technique only allows analysis of *p*-hydroxyphenyl (H), syringyl (S) and guaiacyl (G) content in alkyl aryl ether linked (uncondensed) lignin. A modification of this method, by premethylation of the sample with diazomethane allows analysis of the 'internal' and 'terminal' lignin monomers to be differentiated (Lapierre & Rolando, 1988).

Pyrolysis analysis indicated possible differences between the structures of the solubilised and residual lignins. It was thought that thioacidolysis analysis of the DMSO solubilised fractions and the driselase residues would provide further information on these structural differences.

3.5.2. RESULTS.

Thioacidolysis was performed on permethylated barley DMSO soluble, ryegrass DMSO soluble and driselase insoluble ryegrass fractions. The results of the thioacidolysis analysis are shown in Table 3.5.1.

Determination of the G-OMe contents were not, initially, attempted

`د

-184.-

due to an overlapping of the G-OMe peak with that of a xylan degradation product. S-OMe values were, similarly, not determined for the ryegrass samples because of the very low amounts present.

In order to establish whether it would be possible to attempt a rough estimate of G-OMe content by selective ion monitoring (SIM) by GC-MS, the mass spectrum of each component was studied and the ions m/z 211, 269, 241 and 299 were then chosen to represent G-OMe, G-OH, S-OMe and S-OH respectively. The intensity of each ion was then taken as a relative measure of content as shown in Table 3.5.2.. Figure 3.5.2 shows the GC-MS trace (total ion current) of the thioacidolysis sample for ryegrass driselase residue.

and the effective of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second the set of the second states and the possible and a contractor of the second second states with the second second second second second second second second s a babus en anti-da i fan i fan andar anti-da and a second of the second 1.11. Star 115 and 125 and 125 and 12 and



-186.-

Figure 3.5.2 GC trace of thioacidolysis analysis.

•

.

-



TIME (mins)

TABLE 3.5.1 Thioacidolysis results.

	Barley straw	Ryegrass	Ryegrass
	DMSO soluble	DMSO soluble	driselase residue.
GOH	1.26	0.27	1.33
	(36.50)	(7.80)	(38.55)
S-OH	1.77	0.41	1.11
	(47.20)	(10.90)	(29.38)
G-OMe	N.D	N.D	N . D
S-OMe	0.25	N.D	N.D
	(6.50)		
SOH/GOH	1.40	1.52	0.83
	(1.29)	(1.39)	(0.76)

Results expressed as % weight of sample (µmole/g⁻¹ of sample).

N.D - not determined.

	Barley straw	Ryegrass	Ryegrass
	DMSO soluble	DMSO soluble	driselase residue.
GOH	113940	42151	81149
GOMe	98674	71158	64167
ΣG	212614	113309	145316
G-OMe/G-OH	0.87	1.63	0.79
S-OH	126974	65847	54455
S-OMe	13289	6038	4276
ΣS	140263	71885	58731
S-OMe/S-OH	0.10	0.10	0.08
ΣS + ΣG	352877	185194	204047
		1 50	
S-OH/G-OH	1.10	1.56	0.67
ΣS/ΣG	0.66	0.63	0.40

.

TABLE 3.5.2 Selected ion monitoring analysis of thioacidolysis samples.

Results expressed as ion intensities.

3.5.3. Discussion.

It is evident from the thioacidolysis results (Table 3.5.1) is that a significant difference exists in the S/G ratios of the internal (S/G-OH) units between the DMSO soluble and residual lignins. It was interesting to note that the H content was negligible, suggesting that the H units exist predominantly in the condensed component of the lignin. Recent research on the structure of the dimeric fractions solubilised by thioacidolysis again showed no significant H content (Lapierre, personnal communication), casting some doubt on the conventional classification of grass lignins.

SIM of the thioacidolysis samples (Table 3.5.2) provides rather more detail about the lignin structure. Comparison of the terminal units (S/G-OMe) shows that guaiacyl is the more common terminal unit. This has also been found in every species so far studied by this technique (Lapierre *et al.*, 1988).

The most significant result in this analysis is the clear differences in terminal/internal guaiacyl ratios. This suggests that the DMSO soluble lignin from ryegrass is composed of small and/or highly branched molecules, whereas the ryegrass driselase residue and barley straw DMSO soluble lignins would appear to be composed of large and/or straight chained molecules. Unfortunately it was not possible to determine if a similar difference between DMSO soluble and driselase residual lignins exist for barley straw. Comparison of S-OH/G-OH by conventional thioacidolysis (Table 3.5.1) and SIM (Table 3.5.2) gives comparable results, demonstrating the reliability of the ion selective monitoring. It was therefore thought possible to approximate the total G and S as a percentage of dry matter. Using the dry weight of G and S-OH from conventional thioacidolysis and the percentage of G and S-OH from the total from SIM the approximate total dry weights were calculated (Table 3.5.3). By using the lignin contents presented earlier (Tables 3.2.3.1 and 3.3.1.1) it was also possible to approximate the % condensed lignin content.

Tab]	le	3.5.3	Approximate	dry	matter	content	of	S	+	G.
------	----	-------	-------------	-----	--------	---------	----	---	---	----

	Barley straw DMSO soluble	Ryegrass DMSO soluble	Ryegrass driselase residue
ΣG	2.4	0.7	2.4
ΣS	1.9	0.5	1.2
ΣS/ΣG	0.79	0.71	0.50
ΣS + ΣG	4.3	1.2	3.6
Lignin	28.58	7.67	5.95
% Condense	ed		
lignin	84.9	84.9	39.8

These results (Table 3.5.3) clearly show that differences not only exist in total S/G ratios, the DMSO soluble lignins being similar, but significant differences occur in the degree of condensation, the DMSO soluble lignins being identical.

It would appear that, in ryegrass, DMSO extracts a low Mwt and/or highly branched lignin with a high condensed lignin content, whereas the residual lignin is high Mwt and/or straight chained lignin with a low condensed lignin content and lower relative syringyl content. A similar comparison for barley straw was not possible although DMSO also solubilises a highly condensed syringyl lignin with a similar high Mwt and/or highly branched structure.

4.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION.

Mild acid hydrolysis has been shown to be less selective for the hydrolysis of arabinose than suggested in the literature (Fry, 1988), especially in barley straw, where solubilisation of arabinose was accompanied by a substantial solubilisation of xylose. It is not known whether the incomplete hydrolysis of the arabinose is a function of the hydrolysis conditions or due to the nature of the remaining arabinose residues. It is probable that the remaining arabinose is retained because of covalent linkages to lignin. The high solubilisation of xylose was unexpected and is difficult to explain in terms of the conventional model of arabinoxylan structure.

The higher solubilisation of phenolics in ryegrass may reflect a higher phenolic substitution of arabinose in ryegrass and, possibly, a higher phenolic substitution of xylose in barley straw. The retention of p-coumaric acid in both suggests that the major portion this acid is linked to sugars other than arabinose, or may simply reflect p-coumaric acid is more closely associated with the insoluble lignin fraction, as has been previously suggested (Shimada *et al.*, 1971; Scalbert *et al.*, 1985). In both barley straw and ryegrass, lignin was solubilised by oxalic acid (19.01% and 60.31% of the original in barley straw and ryegrass respectively). This must supports the view of Chesson *et al.*, (1983) that arabinose (and xylose) are the major sugars involved in lignincarbohydrate linkage.

DMSO extraction of the oxalate hydrolysed material resulted in the solubilisation of a β 1-4 xylan from both barley and ryegrass. It would

-193.-

appear that some mixed-linked β D-glucan was also solubilised in both and possibly some xyloglucan in ryegrass. Thioacidolysis shows that the lignin components of each fraction differ considerably in terms of their S/G ratios although their degree of branching and/or size are very similar.

Significant differences would appear to exist in the structure of the LCC's from ryegrass and barley as can be seen by their response to alkali hydrolysis. Their relative linkage patterns to the carbohydrate components, however, are rather different, with approximately 50% of the phenolics hydrolysed by alkali in barley straw LCC (similar to whole barley straw) and 76% being hydrolysed in ryegrass LCC. This would therefore indicate be a significant difference between barley straw and ryegrass in terms of alkali labile to acid labile linkages. This difference was also suggested in the driselase residues by solid state NMR.

Using the 2,3,4-O-methyl xylose content as a measure of terminal xylose residues, and therefore of chain length, and 2-O-methyl and 3-O-methyl xylose as measures of branch points, the xylan chain in ryegrass LCC would appear to be much smaller and/or be more highly branched than the barley LCC.

The significant retention of disubstituted xylose after DMSO extraction is difficult to explain. Possibly it is due to the presence of two distinct polymers, the disubstituted xylose being predominantly located in a xylan polymer 'deep' inside the cell walls, thus being retained.

The great differences in response to driselase hydrolysis may simply reflect the difference in phenolic contents. It would appear that, in ryegrass at least, disubstituted sugars do not significantly inhibit enzymic hydrolysis. Overall, the driselase residues bear a close similarity to rumen incubated material.

Pyrolysis analysis, in general, agreed closely with conventional wet chemical techniques, and has demonstrated its particular value in the rapid analysis of cell wall structure. However, the discrepancies found in phenolic acid content (especially ferulic) by pyrolysis and HPLC analysis gives some cause for concern over the precise assignments of the phenolic acid ions in pyrolysis, although m/z 120/150 has previously been shown to have a high correlation with phenolic acid content (Hartley & Haverkamp, 1984).

The time resolved pyrolysis MS technique proved to be particularly useful in the partial separation of cell wall components although the precise physical processes involved in the volatilisation are not well understood. A detailed study of the pyrolysis of model compounds may give some additional insight to the pyrolytic breakdown of cell wall components, especially the lignin component.

Thioacidolysis of the DMSO soluble and driselase residue fractions conclusively showed significant structural differences in their
respective lignin moieties. The DMSO soluble, type 1, lignin is apparently associated with a β 1-4 xylan, whereas the insoluble, type 2, lignin is apparently associated with a pentose/hexose fraction. Both barley and ryegrass 'type 1' lignins have similar high condensed lignin contents (84.9% in both barley and ryegrass). The ryegrass 'type 2' lignin has a much lower condensed lignin content (39.8%).

Driselase hydrolysis and subsequent molecular sieve chromatography of the barley LCC produced small (<700 daltons) phenolic fragments, suggesting that the thioacidolysis results may indicate small oligomeric lignin molecules rather than highly branched molecules. The pyrolysis lignin fingerprints of the two lignins showed a higher content of the small monomeric pyrolysis fragments in the barley DMSO residue, whereas the DMSO and driselase residues showed а higher concentration of the dimeric markers which may, also suggest that the 'type 1' lignin is composed of small molecules and the 'type 2' lignin is composed of larger molecules.

Over the past decade, the term 'lignin heterogeneity' has become increasingly used (see Monties, 1985). This heterogeneity has previously been thought to be expressed at three levels 1) monomeric composition, 2) intra polymer linkage patterns and 3) interactions with other cell wall components (Monties & Lapierre, 1981; Scalbert *et al.*, 1986). The results presented here clearly demonstrate heterogeneity in the first two levels and suggests heterogeneity in the third. It would also seem likely that heterogeneity also exists in terms of size of lignin molecules. Thioacidolysis analysis of untreated and rumen incubated barley straw (Chesson & Lapierre, unpublished data) has demonstrated (Table 4.1) that rumen incubated barley straw has a lower condensed lignin content, a lower syringyl content and a lower content of terminal guaiacyl residues than the untreated straw.

Table 4.1 Thioacidolysis analysis of untreated and rumen incubated barley straw.

	% condensed			
	S+G	S/G	lignin	G-OMe/G-OTMS
untreated	6.13	1.05	5 2. 70	0.61
rumen incubated	10.27	1.00	45.21	0.55

Histological examination, using differential staining techniques in angiosperms has suggested that differences between syringyl and guaiacyl contents may exist between secondary and primary cell walls (Akin, 1986, 1989). It is also known that secondary cell walls are generally more easily degraded in the rumen than differentiated primary cell wall region of lignified cell walls (Engels, 1989). The results presented here demonstrate the presence of small Mwt, highly condensed lignin molecules relatively rich in syringyl. It is proposed that these small DMSO soluble lignin molecules originate from secondary cell walls whereas the higher molecular weight lignin molecules originate from primary cell walls.

The existance of small, oligomeric lignin molecules in the secondary cell wall supports the 'block' model for cell wall digestion described in the introduction. The small lignin molecules associated with the lignin-carbohydrate blocks in the secondary cell wall being physically incapable of forming the lignin 'wall' which is thought to limit degradation, thus explaining the observed greater degradation, in the rumen, of secondary cell walls compared to secondary thickened primary cell walls. The higher syringyl content of the secondary cell wall lignin would also explain the observed preferential solubilisation of syringyl lignin in the rumen.

The differences found in molecular weights, S/G ratios and condensed/uncondensed contents clearly suggest that different control mechanisms must exist in the availability of monomers and polymerisation of lignin at different stages of secondary thickening.

It is proposed that future work should concentrate on further characterisation of the two lignin moieties especially with regards to their molecular weights. It would also be benificial to confirm the location of these lignin types within the cell wall, and their presence in different cell wall types. Further characterisation of the higher molecular weight pyrolysis fragments from the lignin may give a deeper insight to the lignin structure and characterisation of the dimeric and trimeric fragments released by thioacidolysis may also reveal further detail on the condensed regions of the lignin. It is also felt that this phenomenon should be investigated in other taxonomic groups, to

determine the extent of this heterogeneity within the plant kingdom.

an a character and a character is the state of the

.

.

REFERENCES.

Adler, E. (1977) Lignin chemistry - past, present and future. Wood Science and Technology, <u>11</u>, 169-218.

Akin,D.E. (1986) Interaction of ruminal bacteria and fungi with southern forages. Journal of Animal Science, <u>63</u>, 962-977.

Akin, D.E. (1989) Light microscopy and histology of lignocellulose related to biodegredation.

In: Physico-chemical characterisation of plant residues for industrial and feed use. A.Chesson and E.R.Orskov (Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 58-64.

Albersheim, P., Darvill, A.G., McNeil,M., Valent,B.S., Sharp, J.K., Nothnagel, E.A., Davis,K.R., Yamazaki,N., Gollin, D.J., York, W.S., Dudman,W.F., Darvill, J.E., Dell, A. (1983) Oligosaccharins: Naturally occurring carbohydrates with biological functions. In : Structure and function of plant genomes. O. Ciferri, L.Dure (Eds), Plenum, New York pp 293-312.

Atalla,R.H., VanderHart,D.L. (1984) Native cellulose: A composite of two distinct forms. Science, <u>223</u>, 283-285.

Bacic, A., Stone, B.A. (1981) Isolation and ultrastructure of aleurone cell walls from wheat and barley. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology, 8, 453-474.

Bauer,W.D., Talmadge,K.W., Keegstra,K., Albersheim,P. (1973) The structure of plant cell walls II: The hemicellulose of the walls of suspension cultured sycamore cells. Plant physiology, <u>51</u>, 174-187. Baumgartner, J., Neukom, H. (1972) Enzymatische oxydation von vanillin. Chimia, <u>26</u>, 366-368.

Bell,A.A. (1981) Biochemical mechanisms of disease resistance. Annual Reviewof Plant Physiology, <u>32</u>, 21-81.

Bethge,O., Lindstrom,K. (1973) Determination of *O*-acetyl groups in wood. Svensk Papperstidning, <u>76</u>, 645-649.

Bishop,P.D., Ryan,C.A. (1987) Plant cell polysaccharides that activate natural plant defenses. Methods in Enzymology, <u>138</u>, 715-724.

Björkman, A. (1956) Finely divided wood. I. Extraction of lignin with neutral solvents. Svensk Papperstidning, <u>59</u>, 477-485.

Blake, J.D., Richards, G.N. (1971) A critical re-examination of problems inherent in compositional analysis of hemicelluloses by gas-liquid chromatography.

Carbohydrate Research, <u>14</u>, 375-387.

Blakeney,A.B, Harris,P.J., Henry,R.J., Stone,B.A. (1983) A simple and rapid preparation of alditol acetates for monosaccharide analysis. Carbohydrate Research, <u>113</u>, 291-299.

Blaschek,W., Koehler,H., Semler,U., Franz,G. (1982) Molecular weight distribution of cellulose in primary cell walls. Investigations with regenerating protoplasts, suspension cultured cells and mesophylls of tobacco.

Planta, 154, 550-558.

Blumenkrantz, N., Asboe-Hansen, G. (1973) New method for quantitative determination of uronic acids. Analytical Biochemistry, <u>54</u>, 484-489.

Boon,J.J. (1989) An introduction to pyrolysis (GC) mass spectrometry of lignocellulosic material with case studies on barley straw var OECD, corn stem var BM ETA IPHO and LG II and *Agaropyron* spp. In: Physico-chemical characterisation of plant residues for industrial and feed use. A.Chesson and E.R.Orskov (Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 25-49.

Boon,J.J., Tom,A., Brandt-de Boer,B., Eijkel,G.B., Kistemaker,P.G., Notten, F.J.W., Mix,F.H.M. (1984) Mass spectrometric and factor discriminant analysis of complex organic matter from bacterial culture environment of *Bacteroides gingivalis*.

Analytica Chimica Acta, <u>163</u>, 193-205.

Boon,J.J., Pouwels,A.D., Eijkel,G.B. (1987) Pyrolysis high-resolution gas chromatography-mass spectometry studies on beech wood: capillary high-resolution mass spectometry of a beech lignin fraction. Biochemical Society Transactions, <u>15</u>, 170-174.

Bouveng,H.O., Lindberg,B. (1965) Native acetylated wood polysaccharides. Extraction with dimethyl sulphoxide.

In: Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry, Vol 5, R.L.Whistler (Ed), Academic press, New York, pp 147-150.

Brice,R.E., Morrison,I.M. (1982) The degradation of isolated hemicelluloses and lignin-hemicellulose complexes by cell free rumen hemicellulases.

Carbohydrate research, <u>101</u>, 93-100.

Brownell,H.H. (1971) Stability of the lignin-carbohydrate complex. TAPPI, <u>54</u>, 66-71. Buchala,A.J. (1973) An arabinogalacto(4-O-methylglucurono) xylan from the leaves of *Hordeum vulgare*. Phytochemistry, 12, 1373-1376.

Buchala,A.J., Wilkie,K.C.B. (1973) Total hemicelluloses from wheat at different stages of growth. Phytochemistry, <u>12</u>, 499-505.

Burke, D., Kaufman, P., McNeil, M., Albersheim, P. (1974) The structure of plant cell walls VI: A survey of the cell walls of suspension cultured monocotyledons.

Plant Physiology, <u>54</u>, 109-115.

Chang,H.M., Allen,G.G.: Oxidation. In: Lignins, occurance, formation, structure and reactions. K.V.Sarkanen, C.H.Ludwig (Eds), Wiley, New York, pp 433-485.

Chanzy,H., Henrissat,B., Vincendon,M., Tanner,S.F., Belton,P.S. (1987) Solid state ¹³C-N.M.R. and electron microscopy study on the reversible cellulose I - cellulose IIII transformation in *Valonia*. Carbohydrate Research, <u>160</u>, 1-11.

Chesson, A. (1981) Effects of sodium hydroxide on cereal straws in relation to the enhanced degredation of structural polysaccharides by rumen microorganisms.

Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>32</u>, 745-758.

Chesson, A. (1988) Lignin-polysaccharide complexes of the plant cell wall and their effect on microbial digestion in the rumen. Animal Feed Science and Technology, <u>21</u>, 219-228. Chesson, A. Gordon, A.H., Lomax, J.A. (1983) Substituent groups linked by alkali-labile bonds to arabinose and xylose residues of legume, grass and cereal straw cell walls and their fate during digestion by rumen microorganisms.

Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>34</u>, 1330-1340.

Chesson, A., Gordon, A.H., Lomax, J.L. (1985) Methylation analysis of mesophyll, epidermis, and fibre cell walls isolated from the leaves of perennial and Italian ryegrass. Carbohydrate Research, <u>141</u>, 137-147.

Chesson, A., Forsberg, C.W. (1988) Polysaccharide degradation by rumen microorganisms. In: The rumen microbial ecosystem, P.N.Hobson (Ed), Elsevier, London &

New York, pp 251-285.

Chesson, A., Murison, S.D. (1989) Biochemical evaluation of straw as a feed stuff for ruminants. In Press.

Christian, K.R. (1971) Detergent method for total lignin. Field Station Records of the Plant Industry Division, CSIRO (AUST), <u>10</u>, 29-34.

Clarke, A.E., Anderson, R.L., Stone, B.A. (1979) Form and function of arabinogalactans and arabinogalactan-proteins. Phytochemistry, <u>18</u>, 521-540.

Clements,R.L. (1979) Density fractionation of wheat flour in nonaqueous solvents I. Effect of flour moisture level on distribution of solids, protein and ash among fractions. Cereal Chemistry, <u>56</u>, 1-5. Cohen, M.D., Schmidt, G.M.J., Sonntag, F.I. (1963) Topochemistry part II : The photochemistry of *Trans*-cinnamic acids. Journal of the Chemical Society, 2000-2013.

Conchie, J., Hay, A.J., Lomax, J.A. (1988) Soluble lignin-carbohydrate complexes from sheep rumen fluid: Their composition and structural features. Carbohydrate Research, 177, 127-151.

Conners, W.J., Sarkanen, S., McCarthy, J.L. (1980) Gel chromatography and association complexes of lignin. Holzforschung, 34, 80-85.

Cyr,N., Elofson,R.M., Ripmeester,J.A., Mathison,G.W. (1988) Study of lignin in forages and wood by ¹³C CP/MAS NMR 1. Some evidence of polymerisation and depolymerisation. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry, <u>36</u>, 1197-1201.

Darvill, A., McNeil, M., Albersheim, P. (1978) Structure of plant cell walls VIII. A new pectic polysaccharide. Plant Physiology, <u>62</u>, 418-422.

Darvill,A., McNeill,M., Albersheim,P., Delmer,D.P. (1980) The primary cell walls of flowering plants. In: The biochemistry of plants, a comprehensive treatise, Vol 1. P.K.Stumpf and E.E.Conn (Eds), Academic press, New York, pp 91-162.

Dea,I.C.M., Rees,D.A., Beveridge,R.J., Richards,G.N. (1973) Aggregation with change of conformation in solution of hemicellulose xylans. Carbohydrate Research, <u>29</u>, 363-372.

DeBelder,A.N., Norman,B. (1968) The distribution of substituents in partially acetylated dextran. Carbohydrate Research, <u>8</u>, 1-6. DeVries, J.A., Rombouts, F.M., Voragen, A.G.J., Pilnik, W. (1982) Comparison of the structural features of apple and citrus pectin substances. Carbohydrate Polymers, $\underline{2}$, 25-37.

Dill,J., Salnikow,J., Kraepelin,G. (1984) Hydroxyproline-rich protein material in wood and lignin of *Fagus silvatica*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, <u>48</u>, 1259-1261.

Dubois, M., Gilles, K.A., Hamilton, J.K., Rebers, P.A., Smith, F. (1956) Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances. Analytical chemistry, <u>28</u>, 350-356.

Eda,S., Ohnishi,A., Kato,K. (1976) Xylan isolated from the stalk of *Nicotinia tabacum*. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, <u>40</u>, 359-364.

Effland,M.J. (1977) Modified procedure to determine acid-insoluble lignin in wood and pulp. TAPPI, <u>60</u>, 143-144.

Ehrenthal,I., Montgomery,R., Smith,F. (1954) The carbohydrates of Gramineae II. The constitution of the hemicelluloses of wheat straw and corn cobs.

Journal of the American Chemical Society, <u>76</u>, 5509-5514.

Elstner, E.F., Heupel, A. (1976) Formation of hydrogen peroxide by isolated cell walls from horseradish (*Armoracia lapithifolia* GILID). Planta, <u>130</u>, 175-180.

Engels, F.M. (1989) Some properties of cell wall layers determining ruminant digestion.

In: Physico-chemical characterisation of plant residues for industrial and feed use. A.Chesson and E.R Orskov (Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam pp 80-87. Engels,F.M., Brice,R.E. (1985) A barrier covering lignified cell walls of barley straw that restricts access by rumen microorganisms. Current Microbiology, <u>21</u>, 219-228.

English, P.D., Maglothin, A., Keegstra, K., Albersheim, P. (1972) A cell walldegrading endopolygalacturonase secreted by *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*. Plant Physiology, <u>49</u>, 293-297.

Erickson, M., Larsson, S., Miksche, G.E. (1973) Gas chromathographische analyse von ligninoxydation produckten. VII: Ein verbessertes methylierung und oxydativen abbau. Acta Chemica Scandinavica, <u>27</u>, 127-140.

Eriksson, O., Lindgren, B.O. (1977) About the linkage between lignin and hemicelluloses in wood. Svensk Papperstidning, <u>80</u>, 59-63.

Eriksson,O., Goring,D.I., Lindgren,B.O. (1980) Structural studies on the chemical bonds between lignin and carbohydrates in spruce wood. Wood Science and Technology, <u>14</u>, 267-279.

Esau,K. (1977) Anatomy of seed plants. J.Wiley & sons, New York.

Evans, D.A., Sharp, W.R., Bravo, J.E. (1984) cell culture for crop improvement. In: Handbook of plant cell culture, Vol 2, W.R.Sharp, D.A.Evans, P.V.Ammirito and Y.Yamada (Eds), Macmillan, New York, pp 47-69.

Evans, P.J. (1979) Chemical and Physical aspects of the interaction of sodium hydroxide with the cell wall components of straw. In. Straw decay and its effect on disposal and utilisation, E.Grossbard (Ed), Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, pp 187-197.

Faix, O., Meier, D., Grobe, I. (1987) Studies on isolated lignins in woody materials by pyrolysis GC-MS and offline pyrolysis GC with flame ionisation detection.

Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, <u>11</u>, 403-417.

Fincher,G.B., Stone,B.A. (1986) Cell walls and their components in cereal grain technology. Advances in Cereal Science and Technology, <u>8</u>, 207-295.

Ford,C.W. (1986) Comparitive structural studies of lignin-carbohydrate complexes from *Digitaria decumbens* (Pangola grass) before and after chlorite delignification.

Carbohydrate Research, 147, 101-117.

Ford,C.W., Hartley,R.D. (1988) Identification of phenols, phenolic dimers, and monosaccharides by gas-liquid chromatography on a capillary column.

Journal of Chromatography, 436, 484-489.

Ford,C.W., Hartley,R.D. (1989) GC/MS Characterisation of cyclodimers from *p*-coumaric acid and ferulic acids by photodimerisation: A possible factor influencing cell wall biodegradability. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>46</u>, 301-310.

Forrest,I.S., Wainright,T. (1968) The mode of binding of β -glucans and pentosans in barley endosperm cell walls. Journal of the Institute of Brewing, <u>83</u>, 279-286.

Freudenberg,K., Neish,A.C (1968) Constitution and biosynthesis of lignin. Springer, Berlin.

Fry,S.C (1979) Phenolic components of the primary cell wall and their possible role in the hormonal regulation of growth. Planta, <u>146</u>, 343-351.

Fry,S.C. (1982) Phenolic components of the primary cell wall: feruloylated disaccharides of D-galactose and L-arabinose from spinach polysaccharide.

Biochemical Journal, 203, 493-504.

Fry,S.C. (1983) Feruloylated pectins from the primary cell wall: their structure and possible functions. Planta, <u>157</u>, 111-123.

Fry,S.C. (1986) Cross linking of matrix polymers in the growing cell walls of angiosperms. Annual Revue of Plant Physiology, <u>37</u>, 165-186.

Fry,S.C. (1987) Intracellular feruloylation of pectic polysaccharides. Planta, <u>171</u>, 205-211.

Fry,S.C. (1988) The growing plant cell wall; chemical and metabolic analysis. Longman Scientific, England.

Gaillard,B.D.E. (1961) Separation of linear from branched polysaccharides by precipitation as iodine complexes. Nature, <u>191</u>, 1295-1296.

Gaillard,B.D.E., Richards,G.N. (1975) Presence of soluble lignincarbohydrate complexes in the bovine rumen. Carbohydrate Research, <u>42</u>, 135-145.

Genuit, W., Boon, J.J. (1987) Characterisation of beech milled wood lignin by pyrolysis-gas chromatography-photoionization mass spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry, <u>59</u>, 508-512. Glenn, J.K., Morgan, M.A., Mayfield, M.B., Kuwahara, M, Gold, M.H. (1983) An extracellular H₂O₂-requiring enzyme preparation involved in lignin biodegradation by the white rot basidiomycete *Phanarochaete* chryosporium.

Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 114, 1077-1083.

Goldstein, I.J., Hay, G.W., Lewis, B.A., Smith, F. (1965) Controlled degradation of polysaccharides by periodate oxidation, reduction and hydrolysis. Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry, <u>5</u>, 361-377.

Gordon,A.H., Lomax,J.A., Dalgarno,K., Chesson.A. (1985) Preparation and composition of mesophyll, epidermis and fibre cell walls from leaves of perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*) and Italian ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum*).

Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>36</u>, 509-519.

Gordon,A.H., Bacon,J.S.D. (1981) Fractionation of cell wall preparations from grass leaves by centrifuging in non aqueous density gradients. Biochemical Journal, <u>193</u>, 765-771.

Gordon,A.J. (1975) A comparison of some chemical and physical properties of alkali lignins from grass and lucerne hays before and after digestion by sheep. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>26</u>, 1551-1559.

Grant,G.T., Morris,E.R., Rees,D.A., Smith,P.S.C., Thorn,D. (1973) Biological interactions between polysaccharides and divalent cations: The egg-box model.

FEBS Letters, <u>32</u>, 195-198.

Grenet,E. (1989) Electron microscopy as a method to evaluate the structure and the degradation of cell walls.

In: Physico-chemical characterisation of plant residues for industrial and feed use. A.Chesson and E.R.Orskov (Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 65-79.

Haemmerli,S.D., Leisola,S.A., Fiechter,A. (1986) Polymerisation of lignins by ligninases from *Phanerochaete chryosporium*. FEMS Microbiological letters, <u>35</u>, 33-36.

Hakomori,S. (1964) A rapid permethylation of glycolipid, and polysaccharide catalysed by methylsulfinyl carbanion in dimethyl sulphoxide.

Journal of Biochemistry (Tokyo), 55, 205-208.

Harkin, J.M. (1973) Lignin.

In: Chemistry and Biochemistry of Herbage. Vol 1, G.W.Butler, R.W.Bailey (Eds), Academic press, New York, pp 323-373.

Hartley,R.D. (1972) *p*-Coumaric and ferulic acid components of cell walls of ryegrass and their relationships with lignin and digestibility. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>23</u>, 1347-1354.

Hartley, R.D., Jones, E.C. (1975) Effect of UV light on substituted cinnamic acids and the estimation of their *cis* and *trans* isomers by GC. Journal of Chromatography, <u>107</u>, 213-218.

Hartley, R.D., Jones, E.C. (1976) Diferulic acid as a component of cell walls of *Lolium multiflorum*. Phytochemistry, <u>15</u>, 1157-1160. Hartley, R.D., Buchan, H. (1979) High performance liquid chromatography of phenolic acids and aldehydes derived from plants or from the decomposition of organic matter in soil.

Journal of Chromatography, <u>180</u>, 139-143.

Hartley, R.D., Haverkamp, J. (1984) Pyrolysis mass spectrometry of the phenolic constituents of plant cell walls. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>35</u>, 14-20.

Hartley, R.D., Whatley, F.R., Harris, P.J. (1988) 4,4'-Dihydroxytruxillic acid as a component of cell walls of *Lolium multiflorum*. Phytochemistry, <u>27</u>, 349-351.

Higuchi, T. (1980) Lignin structure and morphological distribution in plant cell walls.

In : Lignin biodegradation : Microbiology, chemistry, and potential applications. Vol 1, T.Kent Kirk, T.Higuchi and H.Chang (Eds), CRC press Inc, Florida, pp 1-20.

Higuchi, T. (1981) Biosynthesis of lignins. In : Encyclopedia of plant physiology. Vol 13B, W.Tanner and F.A.Loewus (Eds), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 194-225.

Himmelsbach, D.S. (1989) Use of modern NMR spectroscopy in plant cell wall research.

In: Physico-chemical characterisation of plant residues for industrial and feed use. A.Chesson and E.R.Orskov (Eds). Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 3-12.

Himmelsbach,D.S., Barton,F.E. (1980) ¹³C NMR of grass lignins. Journal of Agricultural Chemistry, <u>28</u>, 1203-1208. Hinton, J.J.C. (1947) The distribution of vitamin B1 and nitrogen in the wheat grain. Proceeding of the Royal Society of London (series B), <u>134</u>, 418-429

Hughes, R., Street, H.E. (1974) Galactose as an inhibitor of the expansion of root cells. Annals of Botany, <u>38</u>, 555-564.

Irwin,W.J. (1982) Analytical pyrolysis, a comprehensive guide. Chromatographic science series, Vol 22, Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 1-578.

Ishii,S. (1982) Enzymic extraction and linkage analysis of pectic polysaccharides from onion. Phytochemistry, <u>21</u>, 778-780.

Jackson, M.G. (1977) The alkali treatment of straws. Animal Feed Science and Technology, <u>2</u>, 105-130.

Jarvis,M.C. (1984) Structure and properties of pectin gels in plant cell walls. Plant, cell and environment, <u>7</u>, 153-164.

Jarvis, M.C., Threlfall, D.R., Friend, J. (1977) Separation of macromolecular components of plant cell walls: Electrophoretic methods. Phytochemistry, <u>16</u>, 849-852.

Jarvis, M.C., Forsyth, W., Duncan, H.J. (1988) A survey of the pectic content of nonlignified monocot cell walls. Plant Physiology, <u>88</u>, 309-314.

Joseleau, J.P., Gancet, C. (1981) Selective degradations of the lignincarbohydrate complex from aspen wood. Svensk Papperstidning, <u>84</u>, 123-127. Jurd,L. (1957) The detection of aromatic acids in plant extracts by the ultraviolet absorbtion spectra of their ions. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 66, 284-288.

Kato,A., Azuma,J., Koshijima,T. (1987) Isolation and identification of a new feruloylated tetrasaccharide from bagasse lignin-carbohydrate complex containing phenolic acid. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, <u>51</u>, 1691-1693.

Kato,Y., Nevins,D.J. (1985) Isolation and identification of O-(5-O-Feruloyl-a-L-Arabinofuranosyl)-(1-3)-O- β -D-xylopyranosyl-(1-4)-D-Xylopyranose as a component of Zea shoot cell walls. Carbohydrate Research, 137, 139-150.

Kemp,W., (1987) Organic spectroscopy. Macmiilan, London.

Kieliszewski, M., Lamport, D.T.A. (1987) Purification and partial characterisation hydroxyproline glycoprotein of rich a in a graminaceous monocot Zea mays. Plant Physiology, 85, 823-827.

Lamport,D.T.A. (1965) The protein component of primary cell walls Advances in Botanical Research, <u>2</u>, 151-218.

Lamport,D.T.A., Miller,D.H. (1971) Hydroxyproline arabinosides in the plant kingdom. Plant Physiology, <u>48</u>, 454-456.

Lapierre,C., Rolando,C., Monties,B. (1983) Characterisation of poplar lignins acidolysis products: Capillary GC and liquid-liquid chromatography of monomeric compounds. Holzforschung, <u>37</u>, 189-198. Lapierre,C., Monties,B., Rolando,C. (1985) Thioacidolysis of lignin: Comparison with acidolysis. Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology, <u>5</u>, 277-292.

Lapierre,C., Rolando,C. (1988) Thioacidolysis of premethylated lignin samples from pine compression and poplar woods. Holzsforschung, <u>42</u>, 1-4.

Lapierre,C., Monties,B., Rolando,C. (1988) Thioacidolysis of diazomethane - methylated compression wood and wheat straw *in-situ* lignins. Holzforschung, <u>42</u>, 409-411.

Lapierre,C., Jouin,D., Monties,B. (1989) Lignin characterisation of wheat straw samples as determined by chemical degradation procedures. In: Physico-chemical characterisation of plant residues for indutrial and feed use. A.Chesson and E.R.Orskov (Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 118-130.

Leary,G.J., Loyd,Y.A., Morgan,K.R. (1988) A ¹³C CP/MAS NMR study of residual lignin in kraft pulps. Holzforschung, <u>42</u>, 199-202.

Lindberg, B., Lonngren, J., Svensson, S. (1975) Specific degradation of polysaccharides. Advances in Carbohydrate Chemistry and Biochemistry, <u>31</u>, 185-240.

Lomax,J.A., Conchie,J. (1982) Separation of methylated alditol acetates by glass capillary GC and their identification by computer. Journal of Chromatography, <u>236</u>, 385-394.

Lomax,J.A., Gordon,A.H., Chesson,A. (1983) Methylation of unfractionated, primary and secondary cell walls of plants and the location of alkali labile substituents. Carbohydrate Research, <u>122</u>, 11-22. Lomax, J.A., Gordon, A.H., Chesson, A. (1985) A multiple column approach to the methylation analysis of plant cell walls. Carbohydrate Research, <u>138</u>, 177-188.

Ludeman,H.D., Nimz,H.H. (1973) ¹³C NMR spectra of lignins. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, <u>51</u>, 1162-1169.

Maciel,G.E., O'Donnell,D.J., Ackerman,J.J.H., Hawkins,B.H., Bartuska.V.J. (1981) A ¹³C NMR study of four lignins in the solid and solution states. Makromolekulare Chemie. <u>182</u>, 2297-2304.

Mares, D.J., Stone, B.A. (1973) Studies on wheat endosperm I. Chemical composition and ultrastructure of the cell walls. Australian Journal of Biological Sciences, <u>26</u>, 793-812.

Marchessault, R.H., Setterini, W.J. (1964) Some comments on the crystallography of xylan hydrate. Polymer Letters, <u>2</u>, 1047-1051.

Markwalder,H.U., Neukom,H. (1976) Diferulic acid as a possible crosslink in hemicelluloses from wheatgerm. Phytochemistry, <u>15</u>, 836-837.

Marx-Figini,M. (1966) Comparison of the biosynthesis of cellulose *in vitro* and *in vivo* in cotton bolls. Nature, <u>210</u>, 754-755.

Marx-Figini,M., Schultz,G.V. (1966) Uber die kinetik und den mechanismus der biosynthese der cellulose in den hoheren pflanzen (nach versuchen an den samenhaaren der baumwolle). Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, <u>112</u>, 81-101. McDougall,G.J., Fry,S.C. (1988) Inhibition of auxin-stimulated growth of pea stem segments by a specific nonasaccharide of xyloglucan. Planta, <u>175</u>, 412-416.

McNeil,M., Albersheim,P., Taiz,L., James,R.L. (1975) The structure of plant cell walls VII Barley aleurone layers. Plant Physiology, <u>55</u>, 64-68.

McNeil, M., Darvill, A.G., Albersheim, P. (1980) Structure of plant cell walls X. Rhamnogalacturonan I, a structurally complex pectic polysaccharide in the walls of suspension-cultured sycamore cells. Plant Physiology, <u>66</u>, 1128-1134.

McNeil,M,. Darvill,A.G., Albersheim,P. (1982) Structure of plant cell walls XII. Identification of seven different linked glycosyl residues attached to O-4 of the 2,4 linked L-rhamnosyl residue of rhamnogalacturonan I. Plant Physiology, <u>70</u>, 1586-1591.

McNeil,M., Darvill,A.G., Fry,S.C., Albersheim,P. (1984) Structure and function of the primary cell walls of plants. Annual Revue of Biochemistry, <u>53</u>, 625-663.

Meier,H. (1965) Fractionation by precipitation with barium hydroxide. In: Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry. Vol 5, R.C.Whistler (Ed), Academic press, New York, pp 45-46.

Meuzelaar,H.L.C., Windig,W., Harper,A.M., Huff,S.M., McClennan,W.H., Richards,J.M. (1984) Pyrolysis of complex organic materials. Science, <u>226</u>, 268-274.

Monties, B. (1985) Recent advances on lignin heterogeneity. In: Annual proceedings of the phytochemical society of Europe. Vol 25, C.F.Van Sumere and P.J.Lea (Eds), Clarendon Press, Oxford, pp 161-181. Monties, B., Lapierre, C. (1981) Données récentes sur l'hétérogénéite de la lignine.

Physiol Vég, <u>19</u>, 327-348.

Moore,P.J., Staehelin,A.L. (1988) Immunogold localisation of the cell-wall matrix polysaccharides rhamnogalacturonan I and xyloglucan during cell expansion and cytokinesis in *Trifolium pratense* L; Implications for secretory pathways. Planta, <u>174</u>, 433-445.

Morrison, I.M. (1972) A semi-micro method for the determination of lignin and its use in predicting the digestibility of forage. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>23</u>, 455-463.

Morrison, I.M. (1973) Isolation and analysis of lignin-carbohydrate complexes from *Lolium multiflorum*. Phytochemistry, <u>12</u>, 2979-2984.

Morrison, I.M. (1974 A) Changes in hemicellulosic polysaccharides of ryegrass with increasing maturity. Carbohydrate Research, <u>36</u>, 45-51.

Morrison,I.M. (1974 B) Lignin-carbohydrate complexes from *Lolium* perenne. Phytochemistry, <u>13</u>, 1161-1165.

Morrison,I.M. (1974 C) Structural investigations on the lignincarbohydrate complexes of *Lolium perenne*. Biochemical Journal, <u>139</u>, 197-204.

Mueller-Harvey, I., Hartley, R.D., Harris, P.J., Curzon, E.H (1986) Linkage of *p*-coumaroyl and feruloyl groups to cell wall polysaccharides of barley straw.

Carbohydrate Research, <u>148</u>, 71-85.

Muhlethaler,K. (1967) Ultrastructure and formation of plant cell walls. Annual Revue of Plant Physiology, <u>18</u>, 1-24.

Murray,I. (1987) The NIR spectra of homologous series of organic compounds.

In: Near Infrared diffuse reflectance/transmission spectroscopy. J.Hollo, K.J.Kaffka and J.L.Gonczy (Eds), Academic Press, Budapest, pp 13-27.

Neilson, M.J., Richards, G.N. (1978) The fate of soluble lignin-carbohydrate complex produced in the bovine rumen. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, <u>29</u>, 513-519.

Nevins, D.J., Huber, D.J., Yamamoto, R., Loescher, W.H. (1977) ß-D-glucan of *Avena* coleoptile cell wall. Plant Physiology, <u>60</u>, 617-621.

Nimz,H.H. (1974) Beech lignin-proposal of a constitutional scheme. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, <u>13</u>, 313-321.

Nimz,H.H., Ludemann,H.D. (1976) Kohlenstoff-13-NMR-spektren von ligninen, 6.) Lignin und DHP-acetate. Holzforschung, <u>30</u>, 33-40.

Nimz,H.H., Robert,D., Faix,O., Nemr,M. (1981) Carbon-13 NMR spectra of lignins, 8. Structural differences between lignins of hardwoods, softwoods, grasses and compression wood. Holzforschung, <u>35</u>, 16-26.

Nordkvist, E. (1987) Composition and degradation of cell walls in red clover, lucerne and cereal straw. PhD thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala. Nordkvist, E., Graham, H., Aman, P. (1989) Soluble lignin complexes isolated from wheat straw (*Triticum arvense*) and red clover (*Trifolium pratense*) stems by an *in-vitro* method. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 48, 311-321.

Northcote, D.H. (1972) Chemistry of the plant cell wall. Annual Revue of Plant Physiology, <u>23</u>, 113-132.

Ohinishi,A., Kato,K. (1977) Thermal decomposition of tobacco cell wall polysaccharides. Beitraege zur Tabaskforschung International, <u>9</u>, 147-152.

Parrish,F.W., Perlin,A.S., Rees,E.T. (1960) Selective enzymolysis of poly β D-glucans and the structure of the polymers. Canadian Journal of Chemistry, <u>38</u>, 2094-2104.

Pearl,I.A. (1967) The chemistry of lignin. Arnold Ltd, London.

Pouwels,A.D., Tom,A., Eijkel,G.B., Boon,J.J. (1987) Characterisation of beech wood and its holocellulose and xylan fractions by pyrolysis-gas chromatography-mass spectometry. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, <u>11</u>, 417-436.

Preston, R.D. (1974) The physical biology of plant cell walls. Chapman & Hall, London.

Preston, R.D. (1979) Polysaccharide conformation and cell wall function. Annual Revue of Plant Physiology, <u>30</u>, 55-78.

Redgwell,R.J., Selvendran,R.R. (1986) Structural features of cell-wall polysaccharides of onion *Allium cepa*. Carbohydrate Research, <u>157</u>, 183-199. Reid,J.S.G., Wilkie,K.C.B. (1969) Total hemicelluloses from oat plants at different stages of growth. Phytochemistry, <u>8</u>, 2059-2065.

Richtenzain, H. (1949) Enzymatische versuche zur entstehung des lignins. Chemische Berichte, <u>82</u>, 447-453.

Rombouts,F.M., Thibault,J.F. (1986) Enzymic and chemical degradation and the fine structure of pectins from sugar-beet pulp. Carbohydrate Research, <u>154</u>, 189-203.

Ruel,K., Joseleau,J. (1984) Use of enzyme-gold complexes for the ultrastructural localisation of hemicelluloses in the plant cell wall. Histochemistry, <u>81</u>, 573-580.

Russell,J.D., Fraser,A.R., Gordon,A.H., Chesson,A. (1988) Rumen digestion of wheat and barley straw: A study of the mechanism in untreated and alkali pretreated straws using multiple reflectance infrared spectroscopy.

Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 45, 95-107.

Russell,J.D., Murray,I., Fraser,A.R. (1989): Near and mid-infra red studies of the cell wall structure of cereal straws an relation to its rumen digestibility.

In: Physico-chemical characterisation of plant residues for industrial and feed use. A.Chesson and E.R.Orskov (Eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 13-24.

Saiz-Jinminez,G., Boon,J.J., Hedges,J., Hessels,J.K.C., deLeeuw,J.W. (1987) Chemical characterisation of recent and buried wood by analytical pyrolysis; comparison of pyrolysis data with ¹³C NMR and wet chemical data.

Journal of Analalytical and Applied Pyrolysis, <u>11</u>, 437-450.

Salmonsson,A.C., Theander,O., Aman,P. (1978) Quantitative determination by GLC of phenolic acids as ethyl derivatives in cereal straws. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry, <u>26</u>, 830-835.

Sanders, J.K.M., Hunter, B.K. (1987) Modern NMR spectroscopy: a guide for chemists. Oxford University press, Oxford.

Sarkanen, S., Teller, D.C., Hall.J., McCarthy, J.L. (1981) Lignin 18: Associative effects among organosolv lignin components Macromolecules, <u>14</u>, 426-434.

Scalbert,A., Monties,B., Lallemand,J.Y., Guittet,E., Rolando,C. (1985) Ether linkage between phenolic acids and lignin fractions from wheat straw. Phytochemistry, <u>24</u>, 1359-1362.

Scalbert,A., Monties,B., Guittet,E., Lallemand,J.Y. (1986) Comparison of wheat straw lignin preparations I. Chemical and spectroscopic characterisation. Holzsforschung, <u>40</u>, 119-127.

Scalbert,A., Monties,B. (1986) Comparison of wheat straw lignin preparations II. Straw lignin solubilisation in alkali. Holzforschung, <u>40</u>, 249-254.

Scheijen,M.S., Boon,J.J., Hass,W., Heeman,V. (1989) Characterisation of tobacco lignin preparations by curie point-pyrolysis-mass spectrometry and curie point pyrolysis-high resolution gas chromatography-mass spectrometry.

Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, <u>15</u>, 97-120.

Schoemaker, H.E., Harvey, P.J., Bowen, R.M., Palmer, J.M. (1985 A) On the mechanism of enzymatic lignin breakdown. FEBS letters, <u>183</u>, 7-12. Schoemaker,H.E., Harvey,P.J., Bowen,R.M., Palmer,J.M. (1985 B) Single electron transfer processes and the reaction mechanism of enzymic degradation of lignin. FEBS letters, <u>183</u>, 13-16.

Selvendran, R.R. (1983) The chemistry of plant cell walls. In: Dietry Fibre. G.G.Birch and K.J.Parker (Eds), Applied science publishers, New York, pp 95-147.

Selvendran, R.R. (1985) Developments in the chemistry and biochemistry of pectic and hemicellulosic polymers. Journal of Cell Science Supplement, <u>2</u>, 51-88.

Setterini, W.J., Marchessault, R.H. (1965) Derivation of possible chain formations for poly β -1-4-anhydroglucose. Journal of Polymer Science Part C, <u>11</u>, 253-264.

Sharp,J.K., McNeil,M., Albersheim,P. (1984) The primary structures of one elicitor active and seven elicitor inactive hexa (β -Dglucopyranosyl)-D-glucitols isolated from the mycelial cell walls of *Phytophthora megasperma* f.sp. glycinea. Journal of Biological Chemistry, <u>259</u>, 11341-11345.

Shibuya,N., Iwasaki,T. (1978) Polysaccharides and glycoproteins in the rice endosperm cell wall. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, <u>42</u>, 2259-2266.

Shibuya,N., Misaki,A. (1978) Structure of hemicellulose isolated from rice endosperm cell wall; Mode of linkages and sequences in xyloglucan, β glucan and arabinoxylan.

Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, <u>42</u>, 2267-2274.

Shimada, M., Fukuzuka, T., Higuchi, T. (1971) Ester linkages of *p*-coumaric acid in bamboo lignin. TAPPI, 54, 72-78.

Smith,M.M., Hartley,R.D. (1983) Occurrance and nature of ferulic acid substitution of cell wall polysaccharides in Graminaceous plants. Carbohydrate Research, <u>118</u>, 65-80.

Stahl,E. (1969) Thin layer chromatography, a laboratory handbook. Allen and Unwin Ltd, London.

Stevens, D.J. (1973) The aleurone layer of wheat III. Isolation and scanning electron microscope examination of the layer and of its component parts.

Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 24, 307-317.

Stevenson, T.T., Darvill, A.G., Albersheim, P. (1988) 3-Deoxy-D-lyxo-2heptulosaric acid, a component of the plant cell wall polysaccharide rhamnogalacturonan II. Carbohydrate Research, 179, 269-288.

Stewart,C.M. (1973) Complexes of glucuronoxylan, uronic acid and lignin in eucalypt wood. Cellulose Chemistry and Technolology, <u>7</u>, 691-701.

Stejskal,E.O., Schaefer,J. (1975) Removal of artifacts from cross polarisation NMR experiments. Journal of Magnetic Resonance, <u>18</u>, 560-563.

Tenrud,I. (1987) Degradation of untreated and alkali treated straw polysaccharies in ruminants. PhD thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala. Thomas, J.R., McNeil, M., Darvill, A.G., Albersheim, P. (1987) Structure of plant cell walls XIX. Isolation and characterisation of wall polysaccharides from suspension cultured Douglas fir cells. Plant Physiology, <u>83</u>, 659-671.

Thomas, J.R., Darvill, A.G., Albersheim, P. (1989) Isolation and structural characterisation of the pectic polysaccharide rhamnogalacturonan II from walls of suspension cultured rice cells. Carbohydrate Research, <u>185</u>, 261-279.

Tien,M., Kirk,T.K. (1983) Lignin-degrading enxyme from the hymenocyte *Phanerochaete chryosporium* Burds. Science, <u>221</u>, 661-663.

Tong,C.B., Labavitch,J.M., Yang,S.F. (1986) The induction of ethylene production from pear cell culture by cell wall fragments. Plant Physiology, <u>81</u>, 929-930.

Towers,G.H.N., Abeysekera,B. (1984) Cell wall hydroxycinnamate esters as UV-A receptors in phototropic responses of higher plants - a new hypothesis. Phytochemistry, 23, 951-952.

Tran Thah Van,K., Toubart,P., Cousson,A., Darvill,A.G., Gollin,D.J., Chelf,P., Albersheim,P. (1985) Manipulation of the morphogenetic pathways of tobacco explants by oligosaccharins. Nature, <u>314</u>, 615-617.

Valent,B.S., Albersheim,P. (1974) The structure of plant cell walls V. On the binding of xyloglucan to cellulose fiber. Plant Physiology, <u>54</u>, 105-108. Vanderhart, D.L., Atalla,R.H. (1984) Studies of microstructure in native celluloses using solid-state ¹³C NMR. Macromolecules, 17, 1465-1472.

Wada,S., Ray,P.M. (1978) Matrix polysaccharides of oat coleoptile cell walls. Phytochemistry, <u>17</u>, 923-931.

Wilkie,K.C.B. (1979) The hemicelluloses of grasses and cereals. Advances in Carbohydrate Chemistry and Biochemistry, <u>36</u>, 215-264.

Wilson,C.M. (1959) Determination of sugars on paper chromatograms. Analytical Chemistry, <u>31</u>, 1199-1201.

Wilson,W.D., Barwick,J.M., Lomax,J.A., Jarvis,M.C., Duncan,H.J. (1988) Lignified and non-lignified cell walls from Kale. Plant Science, <u>57</u>, 83-90.

Windig, W., Muezelaar, H.L.C., Haws, B.A., Campbell, W.F., Asay, K.H. (1983) Biochemical differences observed in pyrolysis mass spectra of range grasses with different resistence to *Labops hesperilis* VHLER attack. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis, <u>5</u>, 183-198.

Wood,P.J., Siddiqui,I.R. (1971) Determination of methanol and its application to the measurement of pectin ester content and pectin methyl esterase activity. Analytical Biochemistry, <u>39</u>, 418-428.

Woodward, J.R., Fincher, G.B., Stone, B.A. (1983) Water soluble $(1-3),(1-4)-\beta$ -D-glucans from barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) endosperm II. Fine structure. Carbohydrate Polymers, <u>3</u>, 207-225. Woolard,G.R., Rathbone,E.B., Novellie,L. (1976) Structural studies on a glucuronoarabinoxylan from the husks of sorghum grain. Carbohydrate Research, <u>51</u>, 239-247.

Woolard,G.R., Rathbone,E.B., Novellie,L. (1977) Structural studies on three hemicellulose B fractions from the husk of sorghum grain. Carbohydrate Research, <u>59</u>, 547-552.

Yamaoka,T., Chiba,N. (1983) Changes in the coagulating ability of pectins during the growth of soybean hypocotyls. Plant Cell Physiology, <u>24</u>, 1281-1290.

York,W.S., Darvill,A.G., Albersheim,P. (1984) Inhibition of 2,4dichlorophenoxyacetic acid stimulated elongation of pea stem segments by a xyloglucan oligosaccharide. Plant Physiology, <u>75</u>, 295-297.

York, W.S., Darvill, A.G., McNeil, M., Albersheim, P (1985) Isolation and characterisation of plant cell walls and cell wall components. Methods in Enzymology, <u>118</u>, 3-40.

